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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sino-
Life Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company.

The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading,; and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or in this report misleading.

BHE X
Ffit 1) GEM

Xt i

GEMBIEM  TAPNMNEBEASRM—E
LEHE TS b HE A S MELLEH b B
XL ATIGARBEEREAR-F
EREMAITETHRRERZZFLATN
BERK LEEBERAFHEER
HEHBRERE -

B RGEMLE & \_]"*}E#,:Pl]\g__l\—],
AGEMEBEMNESHFTHREBENERE
2%#ﬁﬁﬁxmm%ﬁﬁﬁm’ﬂﬁ

EEZREAEGEMEENESERRRA
BHWIE -
BEEX S REFEBR L AL B A

AHFEZARHTBE  HHERE L
TEEMINT BRI EL - j%%%f
BTt A AR REZ B EME D AR M
Fii@%ﬁ%vWeﬁﬂﬁZEﬁ@
KESE ] E A -

AR & 6 B H 5 8RR B T IGEMGE 35
LEmAER(GEMEm AR A FI& - 8§ &
rERBEETE L EE AR AR ([ARF]])
HIEH - ARRIEFE ([EFE])FE B KK
&) ER AR RAGF A EZ EE A -

BEEFEEFEL —UEBELEHE BAEB
BEFAEFlE ABETBEENEESE
ETEYBERTH REREXD A
WHEEREMEER EUASHABES R
H AT A AR E ARG



Contents

H ok

Corporate Information ~alER 3
Chairman’s Statement FRWmE 6
Management Discussion and Analysis ERER R 10
Corporate Governance Report rEERRSE 32
Biographical Details of the Directors and EERAREEBZER 63
Senior Management
Directors’ Report ExgRE 67
Independent Auditor’s Report BB R E 91
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and meEmkHEMEPEREX 102
Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position iR e BRI R &R 104
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity HERREHR 106
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows HERERER 107
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R e BT R M R 110

Five Years Financial Summary AFERBERBRE 300




Corporate information of the Company as at the date of this

report is as follows:
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jianchun (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (Chief executive officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai

Dr. Yang Jingjing

Ms. Hu Zhaohui

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chu Kin Ming CPA, FCCA, ACG, ACMA
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai
Mr. Chu Kin Ming CPA, FCCA, ACG, ACMA

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Chairman)

Dr. Yang Jingjing

Ms. Hu Zhaohui

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Chairman)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai
Dr. Yang Jingjing

Corporate Information

7\ = 2R ML
NGRS
MTAERRARRAREBHORRELR :

EEE

HTES
HRELRE(ER)
BUIR B 55t (B AR D)
BIFHNTES
ek
BEEEL

A SR RE £ £

ATHE
K BA 5 HECPA, FCCA, ACG, ACMA
RERAR

BIRM L
AR B 55 AECPA, FCCA, ACG, ACMA

BEEE
IR 50
EREETE

B L (X/E)
EBREEE
5E 5 E LT

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR



Corporate Information
NGNS
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Yang Jingjing (Chairman)
Mr. Chai Chung Wai
Ms. Hu Zhaohui

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank SinoPac

First Commercial Bank

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Merchants Bank

REGISTERED OFFICE

The Grand Pavilion Commercial Centre
Oleander Way

802 West Bay Road

P.O. Box 32052

Grand Cayman KY1-1208

Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE IN HONG KONG

18/F, Ovest

77 Wing Lok Street
Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER

OFFICES

Principal share registrar and transfer office
Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

B (EB) WA E AR AR
BB TR AT REE BB

FEERRAT

KBIRTT

£ -BARIRT

Fr LBESRITERAR
BRE|RTT

=t it 3% 2 B2

The Grand Pavilion Commercial Centre
Oleander Way

802 West Bay Road

P.O. Box 32052

Grand Cayman KY1-1208

Cayman Islands

EREMRERE

BB

E®

X BT TT R
Ovest 1812

Rz 4338 = B 5T B2

FTERDBFERZE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D
P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court
Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands



Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
8296

WEBSITE

www.sinolifegroup.com

Corporate Information
NCIE=§ =
EBRMBFELSE

EEBFELCAERLDA

BB

ERBEI165R
BRRSBPLOI7E
% 153 4K 5%

8296

48 uk

www.sinolifegroup.com

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

5



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

In 2024, the global economic environment continued to be
turbulent. The world faced a slowing pace of growth
compounded by frequent geopolitical conflicts, which
heightened pressures on the surrounding environment.
Domestically, amid several structural headwinds, such as
insufficient domestic demand, a prolonged downturn in the real
estate sector, and escalating local government debt risks, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) has
accelerated the establishment of a new development landscape,
fostered the growth of new quality productive forces, and
steadily advanced high-quality economic development. A series
of incremental policy measures were promptly introduced,
effectively boosting social confidence and achieving the annual
gross domestics product (“GDP"”) growth target of 5%.

Within the core operations of Sino-Life Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”),
the funeral and related services segment has continued to
exhibit relatively stable growth. Recent industry research
projects that the funeral and cremation services market in
China will grow at a compound annual growth rate of over
3% from 2024 to 2029. To align with this trend, industry
players have been driving business innovation by introducing
digital memorial platforms and personalized service offerings,
cultivating new profit growth drivers. Despite of the steady
growth, the market remains highly competitive, with
approximately 4,605 funeral service institutions in operation
by 2023. The Group must focus on operational efficiency and
differentiated development in order to enhance its core
competitiveness.

In parallel, our emerging biotechnology segment has
continued to demonstrate robust innovation and significant
long-term potential. Over the past decade, sweeping
regulatory reforms and increased government funding have
shifted the focus from generics to novel drug development.
Today, initiatives such as “Healthy China 2030"” and the “14th
Five-Year Plan for Biotechnology Development” have spurred
substantial research and development investments in fields
including biomedicine, stem cell research, regenerative
medicine, and precision oncology, presenting broad long-term
growth prospects.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Chairman’s Statement

However, under the broader global uncertainties, the funding
environment for the biotechnology industry has become more
cautious, which may moderate the pace of growth in the
industry. The industry is now entering a healthy consolidation
phase that will distinguish sustainable enterprises from weaker
players. The Group’s business strategy focuses on leveraging
these partnerships to access cost-effective innovation and to
secure our position in a market that is critical to long-term
technological advancement.

Reflecting on our Group's performance in 2024, it is clear that
our Group operated in a challenging yet evolving environment.
In the PRC, our funeral, cremation, and cemetery services
were notably impacted by the shift in consumer behavior,
resulting in lower average selling price during the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Year"”). However, market demand
increased compared to the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Prior Year"), resulting in a 1.4% year-on-year increase in
revenue for this core segment during the Year compared with
the Prior Year. Despite of rebound of our revenue from funeral
services segment, intensifying market competition necessitates
continual cost control and service innovation by the Group.

In Taiwan, revenue from funeral service deeds remained
relatively stable, reflecting a consistent demand for contract-
based services. On the other hand, in Hong Kong, higher
revenue was recognized during the Year due to the successful
installation of an advanced biotechnical machinery of a higher
selling price as compared with that in the Prior Year.
Furthermore, in Vietnam, declining demand for burial plots led
the Group to moderate sales activities, thereby reallocating
our resources to markets with stronger prospects.

From a financial perspective, 2024 presented several
challenges. Although the expansion in our traditional funeral
services segment in China contributed to an increase in overall
shifting consumer preferences toward more
economical options led to a decline in selling prices and gross
profit margin, which had an outsized effect on profitability.
Overall, the loss attributable to the owners of the Company
for the Year was approximately RMB8,699,000, as compared
with that of approximately RMB7,173,000 for the Prior Year.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Looking ahead to 2025, the outlook is one of cautious
optimism. Despite of global uncertainties, the Chinese
government continues to focus on high-quality development,
with continued stimulus measures, fiscal support, and targeted
investments in high-technology sectors designed to bolster
sustainable domestic demand. Alongside evolving domestic
reforms, these initiatives are expected to sustain overall
momentum, with the economy likely to maintain a moderate
recovery trajectory.

Within the funeral and related services sector, the fundamental
growth drivers remain strong, with the aging population
sustaining demand for professional and innovative funeral
services. However, given the highly competitive market
environment, companies will need to place increased emphasis
on technological integration, such as Al-driven service
customization and digital memorial platforms, to differentiate
themselves in a competitive landscape. The industry is expected
to grow at a modest annual rate of 3% to 4% in 2025.

Although the funding environment remains more measured
than in previous years, government initiatives are set to
continue driving innovation in the biotechnology sector,
including biomedicine, regenerative medicine, and precision
oncology. Additionally, the integration of digital technologies —
such as artificial intelligence, big data analytics, and blockchain
— is expected to further streamline clinical development and
reduce operational costs, enhancing overall competitiveness.
The Group's investments in this sector, particularly through its
subsidiary Zhongke Zhenhui (Guangdong) Medical Technology
Company Limited* (R RIZHZ(ER)BERKBR A F), will
remain a cornerstone of its long-term strategy, ensuring that
the Group remains at the forefront of technological
advancements and innovation.

*  For identification purpose only
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2025, the Group will intensify efforts to improve
operational efficiency across our traditional funeral services
business, optimizing cost structures and streamlining service
delivery. Through technological empowerment, the Group
aims to enhance customer experience and drive cost
efficiencies, thereby maintaining its core advantages in an
increasingly competitive market. Simultaneously, in our
biotechnology business, we will continue to pursue strategic
investments and partnerships aimed at accelerating the
expansion and development of our biotechnology business.
Moreover, the Group will remain vigilant in monitoring
macroeconomic indicators — such as GDP growth, consumer
confidence, and changes in fiscal policy — to ensure that its
strategic plans are well aligned with the evolving economic
landscape.

In conclusion, as we look forward to 2025, our Group remains
steadfast in its commitment to operational excellence,
strategic innovation, and long-term value creation for our
shareholders. The challenges encountered in 2024 have not
only tested our resilience but have also clarified our strategic
focus. By leveraging technological integration, pursuing
strategic investments, and maintaining disciplined cost
management, we are well positioned to navigate the
uncetainties of the coming year while capitalizing on emerging
opportunities. We remain dedicated to our mission of creating
sustainable value and enhancing shareholder returns, and we
are confident that our diversified business model and strong
governance framework will drive our success in 2025 and
beyond.

| extend my sincere gratitude to our employees, business
partners, and shareholders for their unwavering support
throughout 2024. Your commitment has been instrumental in
our progress, and as we transition into 2025, we look forward
to building on this foundation with renewed vigor, strategic
focus, and a clear vision for long-term growth.

Xu Jianchun
Chairman
Sino-Life Group Limited

27 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

2024 remained a turbulent period globally, with the world
economy still under pressure from the slowdown. The
international landscape was complex and evolving, marked by
frequent geopolitical conflicts that increased external
environmental uncertainties. The People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"” or “China”) also faced challenges including
insufficient effective domestic demand, overcapacity in certain
industries, and weak social expectations.

China’s economy in 2024 grew at an overall rate of around
5.0%, a target that the government has managed to meet
despite facing several structural challenges such as weak
domestic consumption and a lingering property downturn. In
the final quarter, gross domestic product (“GDP") growth
accelerated to 5.4% year-on-year (Source: National Bureau of
Statistics of China (“National Bureau of Statistics”)), buoyed
by a series of stimulus measures aimed at mitigating weak
domestic consumption and a lingering property downturn. For
the full-year 2024, China, being the world's second-largest
economy grew 5.0%, data from the National Bureau of
Statistics showed, meeting the government's annual growth
target of around 5%. In comparison, revised figures for 2023
indicate that China’s economy was estimated at roughly
Renminbi (“"RMB”) 129.4 trillion with an annual growth rate
of about 5.2%.

On a quarterly basis, GDP grew 1.6% in October-December
2024, compared with a forecast 1.6% increase and a revised
1.3% gain in the previous quarter.

This modest slowdown from 2023’s headline numbers reflects
both a normalization after extraordinary pandemic-related
fluctuations and the impact of structural challenges —
including subdued consumer confidence and a decelerating
property market — that may continue to weigh on demand
across sectors. While stimulus measures have buoyed recent
quarterly figures, uncertainties remain about whether these
temporary boosts will translate into sustained higher spending
in 2025.

In the funeral and related services sector, the industry has
experienced a significant evolution over the past few years.
While 2020 witnessed an extraordinary surge in demand —
driven in part by the acute needs of that period — the market
is now transitioning into a phase of steady, if unspectacular,
growth. Recent research projects that the funeral and
cremation services market in China will grow at a compound
annual growth rate of over 3% from 2024 to 2029.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Consumer preferences have been shifting, as evidenced by an
increase in cremation rates from 55.7% in 2020 to 58.8% in
2021 according to data from the Ministry of Civil Affairs of
the PRC (the “Ministry of Civil Affairs”), a trend largely driven
by urban areas where land scarcity and modern attitudes
favour cremation over traditional burials. This shift has
prompted industry players to innovate with digital memorial
platforms and personalized service offerings. However, as the
industry moves from crisis-driven demand to a more routine
service environment, margins may tighten and competition is
expected to intensify, especially given that the number of
funeral service institutions — around 4,474 as of 2022 (Source:
the Ministry of Civil Affairs) and 4,605 as of 2023 (Source:
Statista.com) — indicates a mature yet competitive market.
However, the industry is expected to maintain steady, if
unspectacular, growth, reflecting broader industry
normalization rather than explosive expansion, and continued
government oversight and efforts to improve service standards
suggest that providers must balance cost pressures with
compliance, a factor that can influence profitability.

The emerging biotechnology sector in China continues to
showcase robust innovation and considerable potential. Over
the past decade, regulatory reforms and increased government
funding have transformed the landscape. Significant research
and development investments have spurred a shift from
generics to novel drug development, an evolution supported
by initiatives such as the “Healthy China 2030"” plan and the
"14th Five-Year Plan for Biotechnology Development" (Source:
Ministry of Science and Technology of the PRC), which
outlined strategic priorities and initiatives to promote
innovation and commercialization in areas such as biomedicine
and healthcare (including stem cell research, regenerative
medicine, and precision medicine). Although 2023 was
marked by strong merger and acquisitions activities and rapid
innovations, the funding environment in 2024 appears to be
more cautious. This shift is partly due to global uncertainties
and a broader slowdown in private-sector capital, which may
moderate the pace of growth in biotech compared to the
previous year. Despite these challenges, strategic partnerships
and licensing deals remain common, with global
pharmaceutical companies increasingly engaging with Chinese
biotech firms to access innovative therapies and cost-effective
development opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & am Moo T

Overall, the macroeconomic backdrop — characterized by a
steady 5% GDP growth target but tempered by underlying
challenges such as a cooling property market and subdued
consumption — creates a mixed picture for both the funeral
services and emerging biotech sectors. In funeral services,
demographic pressures and changing consumer preferences
should support moderate growth, yet the normalization from
previously high demand levels means providers will need to
focus on efficiency and differentiation to sustain profitability.
Meanwhile, in biotechnology, although significant strides in
innovation and regulatory improvements continue to bolster
long-term prospects, a cautious funding environment may
slow expansion relative to the boom observed in recent years.
While China’s 2024 macro-outlook remains broadly in line
with official targets, structural challenges and sector-specific
issues will likely lead to more tempered performance in both
the funeral and biotech industries compared with the
exceptional conditions seen in parts of 2023.

Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company"”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) will continue to concentrate on
operational efficiency and strategic partnerships, and monitor
the macroeconomic signals and consumer confidence to adapt
business strategies accordingly. The specialized and
comprehensive investment platform that was established by
the Group since 2021 with focus on investment in the
development direction of biotechnology, including but not
limited to, biomedicine, medical healthcare, life science
instruments etc. has already created synergy effect with the
Group’s businesses through numerous business investments.
As both business segments of the Company navigate an
evolving landscape in 2024, the Company will balance short-
term recovery measures with long-term investments in
innovation and efficiency, and in turn improve the returns of
the Company and the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) as a whole.
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During the years ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”) and
2023 (the "Prior Year”), the amount and percentage of the
revenue derived from respective geographical segments were
as follow:

Za il

REBEZEZZ-_NF((ARAEFEH)REZZ
—=F(@FFE)+=ZA=+—H81
FE - REBHEEME BOKRFSER
BoOLMT

2024 2023
—E-UE T =%
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARBFT Bk ARETT ERse
The PRC A 67,035 89.5 65,838 90.7
Taiwan = 2,188 2.9 2,014 2.8
The Hong Kong Special REAREMBEES
Administrative Region of BATERE(HA]
the PRC (“Hong Kong") 5,319 7.1 4,158 5.7
The Socialist Republic of MEAEERLM
Vietnam (“Vietnam") (rerml) 401 0.5 560 0.8
74,943 100.0 72,570 100.0
The PRC H

Business in the PRC continues to be the major source of
income of the operations of the Group during the Year. In the
PRC, the Group is principally engaged in provision of funeral,
cremation and cemetery services in funeral parlours and
funeral service centres under the Group’'s management in
Chongging.

Hindered by the weakening Chinese economy, the demand for
the traditional funeral, cremation and cemetery services in the
PRC shifted from high-quality services to more value-oriented
offerings due to the economic pressures. However, following
the surge experienced during the pandemic, the industry has
since stabilized, with demand increasing compared to the Prior
Year. As a result, revenue from funeral, cremation and
cemetery services recorded a year-on-year increase of
approximately 1.8% from approximately RMB65,838,000
during the Prior Year to approximately RMB67,035,000 during
the Year.
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Taiwan and Hong Kong

In Taiwan and Hong Kong, the Group is principally engaged in
the sales of funeral services deeds, which was accounted for
by the Group as contract liabilities, and provision of funeral
arrangement services to the deed holders and non-funeral
services deed holders, which are accounted for by the Group
as revenue. The Group also carries out sales of biotechnical
machineries and other electronics products in Hong Kong.

Both the Taiwan and Hong Kong businesses rebounded during
the Year, generating revenue of approximately RMB2,188,000
and RMB5,319,000, respectively. This represents an increase
from approximately RMB2,014,000 in Taiwan and
RMB4,158,000 in Hong Kong during the Prior Year.

The revenue growth in Taiwan was primarily driven by the
normalization of demand for the Group’s funeral services
following the pandemic's impact in 2022 and 2023.
Meanwhile, the increase in Hong Kong revenue was mainly
attributable to the successful installation of an advanced
biotechnical machine, which met revenue recognition criteria
during the Year. This contributed approximately
RMB4,500,000 in revenue from the Group's sales of
biotechnical machinery and other electronic products,
compared to approximately RMB3,069,000 in the Prior Year.
As of 31 December 2024, the Group recorded approximately
RMB2,793,000 in unearned revenue related to its Hong Kong
sales of biotechnical machineries and electronics products.

Vietnam

During the Year, the Group refrained from conducting any
sales activities in the Vietnam market due to a noticeable
decline in demand for burial plots, resulting in revenue
contribution of approximately RMB401,000 from this market.
In the Prior Year, the Vietnam’s operations contributed
approximately RMB560,000 to the Group's revenue. The
decision to halt sales activities in Vietnam reflects the Group's
responsiveness to changing market dynamics and the need to
reallocate resources effectively.
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Revenue U =
2024 2023
g 1} it Sy 3
Segment Segment Segment Segment
operating operating operating operating
Revenue profit profit margin Revenue profit  profit margin
PREE HEE HEEE HEEE
(5] it # it F % Wa bl LR
RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB'000 RMB'000 %
AREFRE ARBTR Bt ARETT ARET Afl
Funeral services RERB 70,443 2,450 3.5% 69,501 3873 5.6%
Biotechnical and other EMRER
businesses Bt X% 4,500 1,201 26.7% 3,069 819 26.7%
74,943 3,651 4.9% 72,570 4,692 6.5%
The Group generated its revenue from its: AEEKRSEESE

(i) funeral services, which manly involve provision of funeral
related service, including arrangement services and
related consultancy services, provision of funeral and
cremation services and sale of burial plots and
tombstones; and

(ii)  sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronic
products.

The Group's revenue increased during the Year was primarily
influenced by two key contradicting factors. Firstly, in the
Group's traditional funeral services segment within the China
market, consumer demand shifted toward more value-oriented
offerings due to economic pressures, resulted into a lower
average selling price; however, the industry has since
stabilized, with demand increasing compared to the Prior
Year, following the surge experienced during the pandemic.
Consequently, revenue from funeral, cremation, and cemetery
services experienced a year-over-year increase of approximately
1.4%, increasing from approximately RMB69,501,000 for the
Prior Year to approximately RMB70,443,000 for the Year.

Secondly, an advanced biotechnical machinery was
successfully installed and met the revenue recognition criteria
during the Year, contributing approximately RMB4,500,000 in
revenue from the Group’s sales of biotechnical machinery and
other electronic products. This represents an increase
compared to approximately RMB3,069,000 in the Prior Year.
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Cost of sales

For the Group’s funeral services, the cost of sales primarily
consists of costs directly attributable to the provision of its
services, which mainly include:

(i) direct labour and staff cost for the funeral services
provided by individuals during the funeral ceremony
held in a funeral parlour or a funeral service centre
managed by the Group;

(i) subcontracting charges for services provided by the
subcontractors in Taiwan;

(iii) commission expenses from the recognition of
commission paid to sales agents for funeral services
deeds at the point when the services of the funeral
services deeds are provided;

(iv) the management fee and operating lease charges for
hire of funeral parlours and funeral service centres; and

(v)  materials used for funeral ceremonies and cremation
services such as fresh flowers, fuel for the cremation
furnace and cost of the goods sold in the funeral parlour
and funeral service centres under the Group’s
management in the PRC.

On the other hand, the cost of sales of the Group's business
in sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronic
products businesses primarily consist of the costs of the
biotechnical machineries and other electronic products.

The Group's cost of sales for the Year was approximately
RMB42,660,000, representing a 9.1% increase compared to
RMB39,089,000 for the Prior Year. This increase in cost of
sales was primarily attributable to the increase in the revenue
during the Year.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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Gross profit

The Group's gross profit for the Year was approximately
RMB32,283,000, which remained relatively stable compared
to the Prior Year's gross profit of approximately
RMB33,481,000. The gross profit margin for the Year was
approximately 43.1%, a notable compression of 3.0
percentage points compared to 46.1% in the Prior Year. The
contraction in gross profit margin can be attributed to the
decrease in average selling price for the Group’s funeral and
cremation services. The economic pressures led to a shift in
consumer demand towards more value-oriented offerings in
the traditional funeral, cremation, and cemetery services
market and led to overall decrease in profitability of the
industry.

Other income and other net gains/(losses)

The Group recorded other income and other net gains/(losses)
of approximately RMB2,204,000 for the Year (the Prior Year:
RMB2,571,000) representing a decrease of approximately
14.3% during the Year. The reduction was mainly contributed
by the decrease of approximately RMB884,000 on written
back of provision for cost of services during the Year, partially
offset by the increase in the rental income from investment
properties of approximately RMB347,000 during the Year, as
well as the net exchange gain of approximately RMB224,000
whereas net exchange loss of approximately RMB146,000 was
recorded in the Prior Year.

Selling and administrative expenses

While gross profit remained stable but gross profit margins
compressed, the Group focused on enhancing its market
presence and optimizing costs. Selling expenses, which
accounted for approximately 4.3% of revenue (the Prior Year:
2.9%), for the Year increased by approximately 50.3% to
approximately RMB3,189,000 compared to that of
approximately RMB2,122,000 for the Prior Year. This increase
was driven by higher promotional spending to strengthen the
Group's presence and market development in the cemetery
segment. This strategic initiative aligns with prevailing
demographic trends of an aging population and growing
demand for cemetery services. Moreover, it positions the
Group to capture opportunities arising from more cautious
consumer sentiment amid weak economic conditions.
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On the other hand, administrative expenses, which accounted
for approximately 48.5% of revenue (the Prior Year: 56.6%),
decreased by approximately 11.5% to approximately
RMB36,336,000 for the Year (the Prior Year: RMB41,044,000).
The decrease in administrative expenses underscores the
Group's commitment to enhancing operational efficiencies
and optimizing costs across the organization, a crucial
initiative in the face of the challenging economic conditions
and shifting consumer preferences witnessed during the Year.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs primarily encompass interest
expenses on bank borrowings, lease liabilities under HKFRS
16, and convertible bonds. During the Year, finance costs
decreased to approximately RMB1,473,000 from
approximately RMB1,681,000 for the Prior Year. This
reduction was driven by a decrease in interest on lease
liabilities of approximately RMB285,000, partially offset by an
increase in interest on convertible bonds of approximately
RMB101,000. The convertible bonds were issued in the second
half of 2023, contributing to the additional interest expense
during the Year. The overall decrease in finance costs reflects
the Group's efforts to manage its financing costs effectively
amidst the challenging business environment.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was primarily incurred from the Group's
operations in the PRC, amounting to approximately
RMB2,948,000 for the Year (the Prior Year: RMB2,143,000).
This represented an increase of approximately RMB805,000
compared to the Prior Year. The increase in tax expenses was
mainly driven by an increase in PRC enterprise income tax of
approximately RMB995,000, which was a result of the
increase in taxable profit from the PRC operations during the
Year. Additionally, the increase in tax expenses was partially
offset by decrease in under-provision of PRC enterprise income
tax of approximately RMB182,000 for prior years. The higher
taxable profit in the PRC reflects the increased demand on the
Group's core funeral services segment due to the stabilization
of the industry demand, as discussed earlier.
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Loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the
Company

As the result of the cumulative effect from the
abovementioned factors, the loss attributable to the owners
of the Company for the Year was approximately
RMB&,699,000, as compared with that of approximately
RMB7,173,000 for the Prior Year. Loss per share for the Year
was approximately RMB9.48 cents (the Prior Year: RMB8.99
cents (restated).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31
December 2024 decreased to approximately RMB123,452,000, a
decrease of approximately 0.2% over that as at 31 December
2023 of approximately RMB123,718,000.

The Group maintains a stable financial position. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB109,256,000 (2023: RMB125,019,000). To
enhance the value of the Shareholders, the Group invests
surplus cash in quality equity securities, exchange trade funds
("ETF(s)”), debt instruments and derivative instruments listed
on well recognised stock exchanges to generate additional
returns for the Group and the Shareholders. For details of the
treasury investments and significant investments held by the
Group, please refer to the section headed “Treasury
investments and significant investments held” under
“LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE".

The Group financed its day-to-day operations by internally
generated cash flows during the Year. Primary uses of funds
during the Year was mainly the payment of operating
expenses.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had current and non-
current bank borrowings were approximately RMB1,271,000
and approximately RMB1,149,000 respectively (2023:
RMB1,275,000 and RMB2,484,000 respectively). All bank
borrowings were denominated in New Taiwan Dollars (“NTD"),
at prevailing market interest rate.
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The Company also issued the convertible bonds on 11 August
2023 in the principal amount of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$" or
“"HKD") 18,160,000 (the “Convertible Bonds"”) to Shenzhen
Nanyue Crown Block Bio Intelligent Equipment Investment
Co., Ltd. or its nominee(s). The Convertible Bonds were
denominated in HK$ which entitled the holder of the
Convertible Bonds to convert them in ordinary shares of the
Company at any time commencing from the date of issue of
the Convertible Bonds up the sixth anniversary of the date of
issue of the Convertible Bonds (the “Maturity Date”), at a
conversion price of HK$0.126 per Convertible Bond (subject to
anti-dilutive adjustments) (the “Conversion Price”). The
Convertible Bonds carry interests at 1% per annum and
payable in arrears on the Maturity Date.

The holder of the Convertible Bonds had the right at any time
during the conversion period to convert the whole or part of
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
registered in its name into conversion shares provided further
that any conversion shall be made in amounts of not less than
a whole multiple of HK$1,000,000 on each conversion save
that if at any time the aggregate outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds is less than HK$1,000,000, the
whole (but not part only) of the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds may be converted.

The holder of the Convertible Bonds may require the Company
to redeem all or part of the Convertible Bonds in the multiples
of HK$1,000,000 by given a notice of redemption at any time
before the Maturity Date only in event that any holder of the
Convertible Bonds had given a notice in respect of the
occurrence of an event of default at the redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of all or part of the
Convertible Bonds to be redeemed. During the Year, no
Convertible Bonds were converted by the holder of
Convertible Bonds, and the Company did not redeem any part
of the Convertible Bonds.
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As a result of the Share Consolidation (defined in the section
headed “Share Consolidation” below) becoming effective on
14 October 2024, the Conversion Price of the outstanding
Convertible Bonds, being initially at HK$0.126 per Existing
Share (defined in the section headed “Share Consolidation”
below) (subject to adjustment), was adjusted in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds to
HK$1.26 per Consolidated Share (defined in the section
headed “Share Consolidation” below). Accordingly, the
number of Consolidated Shares upon full conversion at the
adjusted conversion price of HK$1.26 per Consolidated Share
of the Convertible Bonds immediately after the Share
Consolidation becoming effective was 14,412,698
Consolidated Shares.

During the Year, the Group did not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes. It is the Group’s policy to
adopt a prudent financial management strategy and maintain
a suitable level of liquidity facilities to meet operation
requirements and acquisition opportunities.

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group is
confident that sufficient resources could be secured to meet
its commitments and working capital requirements. Looking
ahead, there are still uncertainties on the road of the society’s
return to normal. Further changes in economic conditions for
the Group arising thereof may have impact on the financial
results of the Group, the extent of which could not be
estimated as at the date of this report. The Group will keep
continuous attention on the situation and react actively if any
circumstances arose that may impact on the financial position
and operating results of the Group.
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Treasury investments and significant investments
held

As at 31 December 2024, the Group invested approximately
RMB7,716,000 (2023: RMB14,532,000) in certain equity
securities and ETFs listed outside Hong Kong for trading
purpose. These listed equity investments and ETFs are
denominated in RMB and were classified as financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). The
directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) considered that
the closing price of those listed equity securities and ETFs as at
31 December 2024 was the fair value of those investments. As
at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the Group's
investment portfolio was approximately RMB7,716,000 (2023:
RMB14,532,000).

The movements in the investment portfolio held by
the Group during the Year

MBERERMBEARE

RZBE-_WMEF+_A=+—H8B - A%H
BEHANRET,716,000 (B =4%:
AR #14,532,00070) RBE BRI ETE
EERENAETRABAFARRSIFMEE
%% ZELITRARERRSEE

SUARBAE THEARAFE
ﬁk% s([BAFEFABERDFEZ
HBEEE - ARAEZT(EEDRE %
ELrTTRAZBHFRRSGHMEBEESR =
E_MFE+ A=+ —HHUTE A%
ERENRFE - R_ZE_WMF+_=A
—t+—HB AEENKREHENQAFE
HEANREET 716,000 (ZE-=F: A
R #14,532,0007T) °

FEBEREIFERFRAZRELAEE
7

Number of
securities % of the % of Fair value
asat Group's Group's change
31 December total investment  1January Disposal/ in profit 31 December
2024 assets  portfolio 2024 Addition  redemption or loss 2024
RZZB-ME
+2h 5% —ECmE
=+-BY  hAEE  BEEE -BoOf bz +=A
E5YE AgEEML  2EMM  -B-H FE HE/WE A¥EEH =t+-B
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETRE ARETR ARETR ARETR
Financial assets measured at FVTPL BRATEFNERIEL
fkEE
~ Equity securites listed outside Hong Kong - REBEN LT 2 RAES 3 3.0% 97.4% 12,448 - (8,143) 3,214 7,519
~ETFs listed outside Hong Kong -REBBHNETZ
RHMERES 1 0.1% 2.6% 2,084 2250  (224,390) (1 197

- Debt instruments listed outside Hong Kong - EARMNEMZERIA - - - - 560,806 (560,806) - -
- Derivative instruments listed outside Hong Kong — FA&RM EM 2T AT A - = - - 111,470 (111,651) 181 -
Total ag 4 3% 1000% 14532 89479  (904,990) 3378 7,716
The aggregate value of the investment portfolio decreased by RAFE WEMLBERBER L HARE

approximately RMB6,816,000 during the Year.
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Additions to investment portfolio during the Year totalled
approximately RMB894,796,000, including investments in 6
ETFs, 3 debt instruments and 9 derivative instruments listed
outside Hong Kong. Whereas disposals in investment portfolio
during the Year totalled approximately RMB904,990,000,
including divestments of 5 equity securities, 8 ETFs, 3 debt
instruments and 9 derivative instruments listed outside Hong
Kong. Other movements of the investment portfolio during
the Year included net fair value gains on financial assets
measured at FVTPL of approximately RMB3,378,000.

With the aim of broadening the Group’s source of income and
maximizing the return of the invested capital of the Group,
and in turn bringing value to the Shareholders, the Group
invested in various equity securities, ETFs, debt instruments
and/or derivative instruments with different focuses on
industries, sectors, regions, and asset types, in order to
achieve investment objectives of reducing investment
concentration risk, utilising the valuable idle financial
resources of the Group and enhancing returns for its
Shareholders. The Group has partnered with an investment
company, which has solid principally engaged in venture
capital and investment consultation which focuses on
investment in emerging industries, and has a professional
investment team with extensive investment experience.

During the Year, while the Group strived to seek for
investment opportunities that can benefit the Group’s long
term business strategy, the Group also exploited every
opportunity to capture any short-term potential to fully utilise
the valuable idle financial resources of the Group through
investing in various kind of securities investment for capital
appreciation purpose.

Equity securities or ETFs held by the Group at 31 December
2024 comprised a total of 4 listed equity securities or ETFs
with an aggregate fair value of approximately RMB7,716,000
(accounting for 3.1% of the Group's total assets) covering
various industry sectors including optical optoelectronics,
industrial products and consumables and index fund.
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The Group’s investment objective is to increase the value of its
treasury management business so as to enhance returns for its
Shareholders. While the Group continues to seek for
investment opportunities that can benefit the Group’s long
term business strategy and strengthen the competitive edges
of the Group, through a prudent investment strategy of
maintaining a balanced portfolio that an appropriate mix of
investment instruments and level of risks in its portfolio, the
Group also strives for maximising the return of the idle capital
of the Group by taking appropriate level of risk exposure but
without impairing the liquidity of the Group. This is achieved
by utilising various kind of securities instruments, including
but not limited to equity securities, ETFs, debt instruments, for
potential capital appreciation purpose. Together with the
investment expertise that the Group partners with, the
Group's investment team reviews the Group’s portfolio from
time to time to ensure no excessive risk is taken. The Group
seeks not only to enhance its source of revenue in order to
mitigate the risks of losing income from any one particular
source, but also to achieve consistent risk adjusted returns in
its investment portfolio. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s
investment portfolio only constituted 3.1% of the Group's
total assets, and the largest exposure of a single securities was
only 3.0% of the Group’s total assets.

The future prospects of the Group’s equity securities and ETFs
will be subject to various factors, including but not limited to
political, economic, technology, financial and risk factors that
are specific to individual industry sectors of the investments
and will therefore vary from one investment to another
depending on the overall capital and investment markets
conditions, macroeconomic conditions as well as the prospects
of the relevant industry. However, the Group will benefit from
a portfolio constructed of different kinds of investments
aiming to, on average, yield higher returns and lower the risk
associated with any individual investment.

Treasury policy

The Group continues to adopt a conservative treasury policy in
liquidity and financial management. The Group conducted its
continuing operational business transactions mainly in RMB
and HK$. Surplus cash is generally placed in bank deposits,
high-quality debt securities and equity securities, and ETFs
mostly denominated in NTD, HK$, United States dollar (“USD")
or RMB. During the Year, the Group did not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.
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Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio representing the
ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the Group was
approximately 58.7% (2023: 60.1%).

SHARE CONSOLIDATION

On 16 September 2024, the Company put forward the share
consolidation. Upon the passing of the ordinary resolution by
the Shareholders on 9 October 2024, every ten issued and
unissued shares of the Company of par value of HK$0.1 each
(the "Existing Share(s)”) were consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$1.0 each (the
“Consolidated Share(s)”). Further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 8 August 2024, 30
August 2024 and 9 October 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 16 September 2024.

SHARE PLACEMENT

On 10 May 2024, the Company announced that it proposed
to place up to a maximum of 60,000,000 new Existing Shares
("Placing Shares”) at the price of HK$0.1 (the “Placing Price”)
per Placing Share (the “Placing”) to raise up to approximately
HK$6,000,000 (before deduction of commission and other
expenses of the Placing), representing approximately 6.35%
of the total number of Existing Shares in issue as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares. The Placing was
placed to not less than six independent placees at the Placing
Price of HK$0.1 per Placing Share on 14 June 2024.

The net proceeds (after deducing professional fees and other
expenses in connection with the Placing from the gross
proceeds) raised from the Placing amounted to approximately
HK$5,700,000 were intended to replenish the general working
capital so as to ensure sufficient liquidity for the Group's
operation in Hong Kong.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 10 May 2024, 31 May 2024 and 14 June
2024.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the Year, the Group incurred approximately RMB753,000
(the Prior Year: RMB443,000) of capital expenditure on
property, plant and equipment and approximately
RMB1,362,000 (the Prior Year: RMB1,155,000) on right-of-use
assets. There were approximately RMB24,000 (the Prior Year:
RMB3,000) of property, plant and equipment that were

disposed during the Year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, capital expenditure
contracted for but not provided for in these consolidated

o il

financial statements of the Company are as follows:

BEXmMX

RAEAFE AKENYE BERSHBE
HBEARFEZHARET53,000CBEFEE :
AR #443,0000) FRABREEELAE
KL ARM1,362,000 T CBEEE :
AR¥1,155,00070) c AFEFHENYE
BB KR4 B AR 24,0000 (6 EF
E: AR¥3,0007T) °

BXARERSAEGE
RZEBE_WNFR_ZTE_=ZF+=A4

=t —B EBFHNERREARAZFL
EUMBRERBBEIEAAWT

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T
Capital expenditure contracted but EENERIEREZ
not provided for: BARX:

— Investment in an associate —RE—MBE QA 2,460 2,460

— Financial assets measured — B AFEFABRTE
at FVTPL ZHBEE 2,000 -
— Intangible assets —BREAE 225 225
4,685 2,685

In March 2025, the Group discovered that certain subsidiaries
of the Company in the PRC were involved in a litigation, which
is publicly recorded. As of the date of this report, the Group
has not received any documents regarding this litigation and
is therefore unable to assess its potential impact. In the
opinion of the Directors, the potential financial effect that will
be brought by the litigation cannot be reliably measured. The
Group will continue to monitor the situation and provide

further updates as needed.

Except for the above, the Group does not have other
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and

2024.

Save as disclosed above and in note 38 and 40 to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
material capital commitments, material contracts, contingent

liabilities or significant investment plans.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of risks. Further
details of the Group's inherent risk exposures are set out at
note 35 to these consolidated financial statements.

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group's operations are geographically based in the PRC,
Taiwan, Hong Kong and Vietnam. These consolidated financial
statements of the Group are presented in RMB, except for
certain incomes and expenses which are denominated in USD,
NTD, HK$ and Vietnamese Dong (“VTD"). It is possible that
the value of RMB may fluctuate against that of USD, NTD,
HK$ and VTD. The Group's operating results and financial
condition may be affected by changes in the exchange rates
of RMB against USD, NTD, HK$ and VTD in which the Group's
revenue and expenses are denominated.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Directors
monitor the Group's foreign currency exposures and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposures should
the need arises.

Credit risk exposure

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits paid, and cash and
cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposure to this credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets and other items under expected credit loss (“ECL")
model. Besides, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from refundable rental deposits is considered to be low,
taking into account (i) the landlords’ credit rating and (ii) the
remaining lease term and the period covered by the rental
deposits.
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The Group has established a credit risk management policy
under which individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. In respect of trade receivables from funeral
services, the Group generally offer credit period of 45 days
(2023: 45 days) to customers, whereas no credit period is
granted to customers for other services rendered by the
Group. Normally, the Group does not hold any collateral over
trade receivables. The Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk in industries or countries in which the customers
operate. The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. The Group segments its trade receivables
based on geographic regions, due to different loss patterns
experienced in the different regions. Expected loss rates are
based on actual loss experience over the past 12 months.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the Group's
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF INVESTMENTS

During the Year, the Group's did not have any significant
acquisitions and disposal of investments.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment pledged as security for the Group's bank
borrowings was approximately RMB26,192,000 (2023:
RMB24,377,000).
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DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the Year (the Prior Year: nil). There is no
arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividend.

THE NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF
EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 173 employees
(2023: 202 employees). The Group determines staff
remuneration in accordance with prevailing market salary
scales, individual qualifications and performance.
Remuneration packages including performance bonuses and
entitlements to share options are reviewed on regular basis.

During the Year, no share option was granted, exercised and
lapsed. As at 31 December 2024, 1,853,200 share options
were outstanding. Further details of the share option scheme
of the Company currently in effect are set out in the sub-
section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” in this annual report.

PROSPECTS

In 2025, China’s economic landscape is expected to enter a
phase of moderated yet steady growth, with GDP expected to
expand at around 5% target in 2025 (Source: “China's
economy meets official growth target, but many feel worse
off” dated January 22, 2025, Reuters). This deceleration
reflects structural challenges such as a persistent property
downturn, subdued domestic consumption, and shifts away
from an export-led model. Nonetheless, as the Chinese
government remains committed to high-quality and balanced
development, ongoing stimulus measures and policy support
are expected to sustain overall growth momentum, fostering a
cautiously optimistic macroeconomic environment.
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In the funeral and related services sector, the increasing aging
population in China continues to drive steady demand for
professionalized and innovative funeral services. However, in
an intensifying competitive environment, service providers
must enhance their core competitiveness and achieve
differentiated development through technological innovations,
such as Al-driven service customization and digital memorial
platforms, while improving cost efficiencies. The medium-term
growth outlook for this sector is expected to be modest, with
an annual expansion rate around 3% to 4%.

Meanwhile, China’s emerging biotechnology sector continues
to build on its rapid transformation over the past decade.
Regulatory reforms and initiatives like “Healthy China 2030"
have positioned Chinese biotech companies to become major
contributors to the global biotechnology industry, although
the capital environment is likely to be more cautious compared
with the exuberance of previous years, sustained government
support and ongoing improvements in clinical trial efficiency
are expected to drive continued progress. The application of
digital technologies such as Al, big data and blockchain has
efficiently integrated and analysed massive amounts of clinical
and bioinformatics data and further reduced the costs of
medical services, thereby contributing to the sustainable
development of the biotechnology industry. However,
geopolitical tensions and tightening investment activities may
temper the pace of expansion, making growth in research and
development more measured than in the boom years of 2023.

Biotechnology remains the Group’s long-term strategic focus.
Having established a presence in 2019, the life science
instrument sales business has made substantial progress. The
Group has positioned its subsidiary Zhongke Zhenhui
(Guangdong) Medical Technology Company Limited* (7 &l 2
Z(ER)EER AR AR as a specialized, comprehensive
investment platform focusing on the biotechnology industry
and other emerging sectors with growth prospects such as
biomedicine, healthcare, life science instruments and any
synergistic industries.

*  For identification purpose only.
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Overall, the outlook for 2025 points to a more balanced
economic scenario in China. While the broader economy may
grow at a slightly slower rate, industries such as funeral
services and biotechnology are poised to benefit from
enduring demographic trends and innovation dividends.
Companies in these sectors will need to focus on operational
efficiency, technological innovation, and strategic partnerships
to navigate an environment where market opportunities are
increasingly determined by the ability to adapt to both
domestic policy shifts and global economic uncertainties.

In response to the evolving economic landscape, our Group is
strategically positioning itself to leverage opportunities in the
biotechnology sector while maintaining its traditional funeral
services business. By focusing on diversified development and
high-quality economic growth, the Group aims to navigate
geopolitical risks and market complexities effectively. The
commitment to innovation-driven development, support for
emerging industries, and pursuit of strategic investments
underscore the Group's resilience and adaptability in the face
of ongoing challenges and uncertainties. Through these
strategic initiatives, the Group aims to enhance its operational
results, drive sustainable growth, and create long-term value
for its Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance practices of Sino-Life Group Limited
(the "Company”) are based on the principles and the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
"Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “GEM Listing
Rules”). The principles adopted by the Company emphasis a
quality board, transparency and accountability to shareholders.
In the opinion of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of the Company, the Company has complied
with the Code for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
"Year") except for deviations of the code provisions C.1.2 and
F.2.2 of the Code regarding the independent non-executive
directors should attending the annual general meetings of the
Company, and the code provision of C.5.1 regarding the
board should meet regularly and board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth
of its business and to review its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure they comply with the
statutory requirements and the Code and align with the latest
developments.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH PROVISIONS OF
THE GEM LISTING RULES

Dr. Yang Jingjing, an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman of nomination committee of the Company, was
unable to attend the annual general meeting held on 21 June
2024 (the "2024 AGM") due to other business engagements,
and failing to meet the requirements the code provisions C.1.2
and F.2.2 of the Code regarding the independent non-
executive directors should attending the annual general
meetings of the Company. Dr. Yang Jingjing had appointed
another member of the committee as his delegate to attend
and to answer questions at the 2024 AGM.
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During the Year, the Board only held three regular board
meetings, and failing to meet the requirements of the code
provision of C.5.1 regarding the board should meet regularly
and board meetings should be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Yet, the Board has
maintained informal communications to update the business
regularly during the Year and the Board will review its
corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the Code and align with the latest
developments.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

At the 2024 AGM held on 21 June 2024, a special resolution
was passed to amend the existing second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company adopted on 31 May 2023, and to adopt the third
amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “New M&A"). The New M&A
consolidated all the amendments to bring the New M&A in
line with the latest regulatory requirements in relation to the
expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers
and relevant amendments made to the GEM Listing Rules
which took effect from 31 December 2023, and the applicable
laws of the Cayman Islands.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made
of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with such code of conduct throughout the
Year.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Group are also subject
to compliance with the same code. No incident of non-
compliance was noted by the Company for the Year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any
treasury shares.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A) Board Composition
For the Year and until the date of this report, the Board
comprises members as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jianchun (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (Chief executive officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai

Dr. Yang Jingjing

Ms. Hu Zhaohui

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having sound industry knowledge, extensive
corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise
relevant to the business of the Group. Pursuant to the Code,
the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”, and further elaborate below). The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. While all Board’s appointments will continue to be
made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company's
business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, there has no change in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules subsequent to the
date of annual report for the Year.

The biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
among the members of the Board, if any, are set out in the
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” on pages from 63 to 66 of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)
between the members of the Board. Every Director has
sufficient time and attention to deal with the affairs of the
Group.
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Role and Function

The Board is responsible for formulating the strategic
business development, reviewing and monitoring the
business performance of the Group, with the goal of
maximising long-term value of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder(s)”), while balancing
broader stakeholder interests. The Directors, collectively
and individually, are aware of their responsibilities to the
Shareholders, for the manner in which the affairs of the
Group are managed and operated.

The Board has the following main duties:
° determine all the corporate matters;

o be responsible for the management, direction and
supervision of the businesses of the Group; and

o be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on
Group's financial reporting and compliance.

As and when necessary, the Directors can access to the
advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), and in the
appropriate circumstances, seeking of independent
professional advice at the Group's expense to ensure
that the Board's procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

The Board gives clear directions as to the powers
delegated to the management for the day-to-day
management and administration functions of the Group,
in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
management should report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group.
The Board fully supports the senior management to
discharge its duties and responsibilities in all circumstances.
The Board will review those arrangements on a periodic
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.
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The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgment to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and
serving on various Board committees, all independent
non-executive Directors will make various contributions
to the Company.

Mechanisms to ensure Independent Views
from Directors

The Board has implemented different ways to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.
The implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanism was reviewed on an annual basis. The Board
considers that such mechanism has been implemented
properly and effectively.

The mechanism is disclosed below:

(i)  Composition
The Board ensures the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one-third of its members being independent
non-executive Directors with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management
expertise. Currently, over 50% of the Board
members are independent non-executive Directors,
which exceeds the requirement of the GEM Listing
Rules. Further, independent non-executive
Directors will be appointed to Board committees
as required under the GEM Listing Rules and as far
as practicable to ensure independent views are
available.

(i) Independence Assessment

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) strictly adheres to the
board nomination policy of the Company (the
“Board Nomination Policy” and further elaborate
below) with regard to the nomination and
appointment of independent non-executive
Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that they can continually
exercise independent judgement.
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Directors’ Time and Directorship Commitments

The Directors, independent non-executive Directors
in particular, have demonstrated a strong
commitment to the Board affairs and they are well
aware that they are expected to have a sufficient
time commitment to the Board. Directors have
given certain confirmations and made disclosures
about their other commitments.

Directors disclose to the Company twice a year the
number, identity and nature of offices held in Hong
Kong or overseas listed public companies and
organizations and other significant commitments,
together with an indication of the time involved.

Currently, none of the Directors, individually, held
directorships in more than two public companies
(including the Company) as at 31 December 2024.
The executive Directors do not hold directorship in
other public companies, however, they are
encouraged to participate in professional, public
and community organizations.

Board Decision Making

The Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors), upon reasonable request, may
seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense, to assist the performance of
their duties.

To safeguard the interests of the Group, all
Directors are required to declare their direct/
indirect interests, if any, in any business proposals
to be considered at the meetings and, where
appropriate, they are required to abstain from
voting on any Board resolution concerned. If a
substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter would be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written
resolution.
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Board Evaluation

The Board assesses and reviews the time
contributed by every independent non-executive
Director and their attendance to meetings of the
Board and the Board committees so as to ensure
that every independent non-executive Director has
devoted sufficient time to the Board to discharge
his/her responsibilities as a Director.

Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and
Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings,
the independent non-executive Directors are
encouraged to express freely their independent
views and inputs in an open and candid manner.
The chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) also
encourages questions and challenges from
Directors, in particular independent non-executive
Directors and their comments and concerns are
closely followed up by the management. In
addition to Board meetings, the Chairman
schedules a meeting annually with independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors to discuss the affairs of the Group.

The implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanisms have been reviewed by the
Board on an annual basis and the Board believes
these measures would allow Directors to
contribute effectively and independent views and
input are available to the Board and Board
committees.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board normally should schedule four regular meetings a
year at quarterly intervals and meets as and when required to
discuss the overall business, development strategy, operations
and financial reporting of the Company. For the Year, the
Board held 3 meetings within which 3 were regular meetings.
In addition to regular Board meetings, the chairman of the
Board had met with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other executive Directors during the
Year.

The attendance records of individual Directors at these Board
meetings are set out in the table on page 40 of this annual
report. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”). All minutes of the meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by
the Directors at any time. The meetings are structured to allow
open discussion. All Directors participate in discussing the
strategy, operational and financial performance and internal
control of the Group.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman to prepare the
agenda of the meeting and each Director may request to
include any matters in the agenda. At least 14 days' notice is
given to the Directors for the regular meetings by the
Company. All substantive agenda items have comprehensive
briefing papers, which are distributed by the Company
Secretary to the Directors within reasonable time before the
Board meetings so as to ensure that the Directors may receive
accurate, timely and clear information to make informed
decisions regarding the matters discussed in the meetings.
Directors who are considered to have conflict of interests or
material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed will not be counted in the quorum of meeting and
will abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who regularly updates the Board on
governance and regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is
also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board
meetings are observed and providing the Board opinions on
matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures of
the Board meetings.
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PEERRE

The Board is regularly provided with brief reports containing
balanced and comprehensive evaluation on the Group's
performance, status and prospects to keep it abreast of the
Group's affairs and to facilitate the Directors’ performance of
their obligations under the relevant requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules.

EXZeTHIRXEBYAEEXE B
AR AR ETHHE &2 TGS
WE NEURAKENER UREES
REBEGEMEM AR AN BREREBITERS

2024 AGM EGM
Board held on held on
meetings 21 June 2024 9 October 2024
R-ZF-ME
~A=+-—H
BEfTM WRZ-ZE-@OE
—E-lE +tAABETH
Name of Directors EEHA EEZETEE BRFEFXE BREHIXE
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Xu Jianchun (Chairman) TRERE(FE) 3/3 171 171
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai N
(Chief executive officer) (TTE# %) 1/3 11 0/1
Independent non-executive BIAPITES
Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai BRELE 3/3 1/1 171
Dr. Yang lingjing BEEEL 3/3 0/1 0/1
Ms. Hu Zhaohui A & £ 3/3 1/1 0/1

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of
Chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEO(s)") of the
Company should be segregated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and CEOs should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

The positions of Chairman and CEOs of the Company for the
Year are held separately by Mr. Xu Jianchun as Chairman, and
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai as CEO. The Chairman is responsible for the
Group's strategic planning and the management of the
operations of the Board, while the CEO take the lead in the
Group’s operations and business development. There is a clear
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO of
the Company which provides a balance of power and
authority.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board complied at all times with the requirement of the
GEM Listing Rules during the Year relating to the appointment
of at least 3 independent non-executive Directors presenting
at least one-third of the Board with at least one of them has
appropriate professional qualifications of accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has
received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
for the Year.

TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all
Directors should participate in a programme of continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the
Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, all
Directors have confirmed that they have participated in
continuous professional development by attending expert
briefings/seminars/conferences or reading relevant materials
on the topics covering the following:

(a) the roles, functions and responsibilities of the board, its
committees and its directors, and board effectiveness;

(b) the Company’s obligations and directors’ duties under
Hong Kong law and the GEM Listing Rules, and key legal
and regulatory developments (including GEM Listing
Rule updates) relevant to the discharge of such
obligations and duties;

(c) corporate governance and environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") matters (including developments on
sustainability or climate-related risks and opportunities
relevant to the issuer and its business);
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(d)  risk management and internal controls; and

(e) updates on industry-specific developments, business
trends and strategies relevant to the Company.

In order to ensure every newly appointed Director, if any, have
a proper understanding on the operations and business of the
Group and fully aware of his/her responsibilities under the
relevant applicable legal and regulatory requirements, every
newly appointed Director before his/her appointment will be
given relevant guideline materials regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest and business of the Group.

All Directors have been updated on the latest developments
regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

d) REkERERAPZES
() HEARFRABMMTERFEER X%
BB RRENRMEM -
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Attending expert

briefings/
seminars/ Reading
conferences materials
HESRERE
Name of Directors EEHSE watE =i HEER
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xu Jianchun (Chairman) HREELRE(FE) v/ 4
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (CEO) BIARB R E(TTHAEE) - v/
Independent non-executive Directors BIIFEHITES
Mr. Chai Chung Wai = EEEE 4 v/
Dr. Yang Jingjing BESEELT - v
Ms. Hu Zhaohui HHEAE 22+ v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has also established the following committees with
defined terms of reference:

Audit Committee

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee

Each Board committee makes decisions on matters within its
terms of reference and applicable limits of authority. The
terms of reference as well as the structure and membership of
each committee will be reviewed from time to time.

A)

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules which consists of three independent non-executive
Directors. The terms of reference setting out the Audit
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are
available on both the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

Composition and Meeting Record of the Audit
Committee

For the Year, 3 meetings were held. The following table
shows the attendance of individual Directors at the
meetings held during the Year:

Number of
Meetings

Name of Committee Member Attended/Held

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Chairman) 3/3
Dr. Yang Jingjing 3/3
Ms. Hu Zhaohui 3/3
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Role and Function
The major responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include, among others, the followings:

making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor of the Company (the “External
Auditor”), and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the External Auditor, and
any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

i. reviewing and monitoring the External Auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
accounting standard;

iii. reviewing the policy on engaging the External
Auditor in the provision of non-audit services;

iv.  monitoring the integrity of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, annual reports and account,
and half-yearly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

V. liaising with the Board and the senior management
and to meet with the External Auditor;

vi.  overviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems; and

vii.  reviewing the financial and accounting policies
and practices of the Group.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
half-yearly report and annual report before submission
to the Board. The Audit Committee focused not only on
the impact of the changes in accounting policies and
practices but also on the compliance with accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and the legal
requirements in the review of the Group's half-yearly
report and annual report. The Audit Committee has also
reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, considered the re-election of
External Auditor, met with the External Auditor twice
during the Year to discuss about the audit plan and the
audit result, and discussed and reviewed the major and
connected transactions (if any) of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) according to the
relevant provision of the GEM Listing Rules with written
terms of reference which consists of three independent
non-executive Directors. The terms of reference setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority, duties and
responsibilities are available on both the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. The
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management.

Composition and Meeting Record of the
Remuneration Committee
For the Year, 1 meeting was held. The following table
shows the attendance of individual Directors at the
meeting held during the Year:

Number of
Meeting

Name of Committee Member Attended/Held

Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Chairman) 171
Mr. Chai Chung Wai 11
Dr. Yang Jingjing 1/1

Role and Function
The major responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include, among others, the followings:

i. making recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy;

ii. assessing the performance and determining the
specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management;

iii. reviewing and approving performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time;
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iv.  reviewing and approving matters related to share
option schemes of the Company;

V. reviewing and approving the compensation
payable to executive Directors and senior
management in connection with any loss or
termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in
accordance with relevant contractual terms and
that such compensation is otherwise fair and not
excessive for the Company; and

vi.  reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has: (i)
reviewed and determined the policy for the remuneration
of executive Directors and senior managements of the
Company; (ii) assessed performance of executive Directors
and senior managements of the Company. No Director
was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board,
with the Board retaining the final authority to approve
the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the Year are
set out in note 8 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Remuneration of Senior Management by Band
Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 the Code, details of the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the Year were as follows:
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee
with written terms of reference in accordance with
requirements of the Stock Exchange which consists of
three independent non-executive Directors. The terms of
reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both
the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company'’s website.

Composition and Meeting Record of the
Nomination Committee

For the Year, 1 meeting was held. The following table
shows the attendance of individual Directors at the
meetings held during the Year:

Number of
Meeting

Name of Committee Member Attended/Held

Dr. Yang Jingjing (Chairman) 11
Ms. Hu Zhaohui 171
Mr. Chai Chung Wai 11

Role and Function
The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include, among others, the followings:

i. reviewing the structure, size, composition and
diversify for consistency (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to
complement the issuer’s corporate strategy;

ii. identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

iii. assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors;
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iv.  making recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman

and the CEQ;

V. making recommendations to the Board on the
policy concerning the diversity of Board members;
and

vi. reviewing and giving full consideration to the

Board Diversity Policy adopted from time to time.

The summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is as follows:

- Reviewed the existing Board's structure, size,
composition and diversity;

- Reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

- Reviewed the nomination policy of the Board
("Board Nomination Policy” and further elaborate
below);

- Reviewed and assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and

- Made recommendations on the retiring Directors
at the 2024 AGM of the Company.

Board Nomination Policy

The Company adopted the Board Nomination Policy, which
establishes written guidelines to the Nomination Committee
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships with
reference to the formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately
responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the
Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure
that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant
background, experience and knowledge in business, finance
and management skills critical to the Group’s business to
enable the Board to make sound and well considered
decisions. Collectively, they have competencies in areas which
are relevant and valuable to the Group.

Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy
on the Board has been created or is expected on a regular
basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for
identifying candidates, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional search firms. All
candidates, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee
based upon the Director’s qualifications. While candidates will
be evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume,
personal interview and performance of background checks.
The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish
the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based
on the composition, skill sets, age, gender and experiences of
the collective Board rather than on the individual candidate
for the purpose of diversity perspectives appropriate to the
requirement of the Company’s businesses.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will take into account a variety of
factors including without limitation to whether a candidate
has the qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity
that add to and complement the range of skills, experience
and background of existing Directors by considering the
highest personal and professional ethics and integrity of the
candidates, proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound business
judgment, skills that are complementary to those of the
existing Board, the ability to assist and support management
and make significant contributions to the Company’s success
and such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests
of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Company shall review and reassess the Board Nomination
Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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Board Diversity Policy

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis
by the Nomination Committee to ensure that the Board has
the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and
collectively possesses the necessary core competence for
informed decision-making and effective functioning. The
Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy and recognises
the benefits of having diversity in the composition of the
Board.

Measurable Objectives

The Company noted that people from different background
and with different professional and life experience are likely to
approach problems in different ways and accordingly,
members of the Board with diverse background will bring
different concerns and questions to the table, and allow the
Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions
when deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies
for the Group. In determining the Board’s composition and
selection of candidates to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider factors including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, industry knowledge and length
of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against the selection criteria,
having regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, the
business model and specific needs of the Group. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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Composition of the Diversified Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
Directors. The following table further illustrate the
composition and diversity of the Board in terms of age, length
of service with the Group, educational background and
professional experience as of the date of this annual report:

TREAMS

BEZnitREcEETE AN

RAFHREY EESHAUEFTHEK -
TRE-—FFHARAFERBEY EFE
Bk RAKBZRBFH BEER
NREXZRITEZAKREKEZTILIZE :

Age Group Length of Service Educational Background Professional Experience
FRE B#EH SEER ERER

lessthan  more than Accounting
Name of Directors 35t0 50 over 50 5 years 5 years Science  Accountancy  Others Science  and Finance  Management
£33 BHRESOR  S0RMLE  SESIUT  SENE HE git i HE  EHREM  EE
Mr. Xu Jianchun / / / / /
FRERLE
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai / / / /
BRE L
Mr. Chai Chung Wa / / / / /
iy
Dr. Yang Jingjing v/ v/ / /
REERL
Ms. Hu Zhaohui / v/ / / /
HABLL

The Nomination Committee believes that the current
composition of the Board demonstrates a thorough
consideration of the measurable objectives for achieving board
diversity.

Currently, Board members have 4 male and 1 female and
meets the numerical targets for achieving gender diversity on
the Board. The Nomination Committee will continue to
monitor and actively consider different aspects of diversity in
the boardroom, and recommend further actions or plan to the
Board when necessary. For details of gender diversity at the
workforce level, please refer to the Group’s published
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024".
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Chai Chung Wai, Dr. Yang Jingjing and Ms. Hui
Zhaohui, the independent non-executive Directors, have been
appointed for a specific term of three years.

According to the requirements of article 16.18 of the Articles
of Association, at every annual general meeting of the
Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to, but not less than, one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election
thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which
any Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a
like number of persons to be Directors.

During the Year, Mr. Xu Jianchun and Ms. Hu Zhaohui were
retired and re-elected as executive Director and as
independent non-executive Director in the 2024 AGM.

Mr. Chai Chung Wai is an independent non-executive Director
serving the Company since 2009. Taking into consideration of
the independent scope of work and valuable contributions Mr.
Chai Chung Wai given to the Company in the past years, the
Board considers Mr. Chai Chung Wai is able to provide
independent, balanced and objective views to the Company’s
affairs and continue to independently fulfill his role as an
independent non-executive Director despite the fact that he
has served the Company for more than nine years. Mr. Chai
Chung Wai has also confirmed in writing to the Company that
he satisfied all the criteria for independence as set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and is independent in
accordance with the guideline. Mr. Chai Chung Wai was
retired and re-elected as independent non-executive Director
in the 2024 AGM in accordance with code provision B.2.3 of
the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

All members of the Board are responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in code provision
A.2.1 of the Code, which include reviewing the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed and performed the
above corporate governance functions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as the External
Auditor of the Company. The External Auditor is primarily
responsible for providing audit services in connection with the
annual consolidated financial statements.

During the Year, the total remuneration in respect of services
provided by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited amounted to
approximately RMB1,062,000, which solely incurred for
statutory audit purpose.

TRERRSE

L EBABAE

FrEEEgXBAERTTAUFEA2 K
FABRXFRENTCEERBE  Ha
BRERTAARNECEEABERLED -
ESRAAEEENSIIMGEEERRE
LK@ETEE?%&&W”%EEHEE’JBZ
BREH ARARBEHEEEARTA
&ﬂiﬁ%g/ui&iqﬂﬁﬂ’ﬁ?&sxm_ﬂ o

>T¢+

EEgEemRkET LAD

>H¥k59

IS
1

/éﬁ&ﬁ °

o

N

2B BN &

BELZE(BR)EAMEBHMARAA
ERZERKNRR ZINEZEED - SMES
CEMEIZEARAARFERAMT
BR2BFR -

REEAN RBEBEEER) STMER
FrERARIREZIRG 2B < 2%
KA ANRBE1,062,0007T EEREES
TR -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

53



54

Corporate Governance Report

CEEARWE

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for the period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year,
the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgements and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and on a
going concern basis. The Directors acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Having made appropriate enquiries,
the Board is not aware any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. It is the
External Auditor’s responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial
statements and to report their opinion solely to the
Shareholders, as a body, and for no other purpose. They do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s
report. The statement of the External Auditor about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 91 to 101 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (“Mr. Chu”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 11 June 2019. Mr. Chu has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the Year.
Biographical detail of Mr. Chu is set out in the section headed
"“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Company has established the framework of risk
management and internal control below with a view to
adopting the Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules:

(a)

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification — Identifies risks that may potentially
affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment — (i) Assesses the risks identified by
using the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and (ii) considers the impacts and
consequences on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response — (i) Prioritises the risks by comparing the
results of the risk assessment; and (ii) determines the
risk management strategies and internal control
processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting — (i) Performs ongoing
and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that
appropriate internal control processes are in place; (ii)
revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and (iii) reports the results of risk monitoring
to the management and the Board regularly.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

XERWmE

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to: (i) safeguard
assets against misappropriation and disposition; (ii)
ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations; (iii) ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for provision of reliable financial
information used within the business or for publication;
and (iv) provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement, loss or fraud.

An acknowledgement by the Board that it is responsible
for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. It should also explain
that such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining
the sound risk management and internal control systems
of the Company on an ongoing basis, as well as
reviewing and evaluating their design and effectiveness
at least annually. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group, endeavours to identify
respective risks of major business segments, analyse
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses.

The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve
material internal control defects

The Company has engaged an external internal control
adviser (the “Adviser”) with a view to facilitate
maintenance of the internal audit function carried out
by the Company. The Company has reviewed the
prevailing internal audit charter to ascertain the scope,
duties, responsibilities and reporting protocol of the
internal audit function.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

(b)

(c)

(d)

BBREERABEERGHNETER
4

AEBCHIEEZEREF B HOK
FEETSRBAREE : ()R
BT A BED - R B RARG  (ii)FE
FEBAREBREXAREMAEHR
ASEVHEN G EBRBIZE
RE: R(vVETBEERERRM - 18
REUFTREHEERSE -

EFEHRARERREERAH
EREZGERIRTEKN - B INE 2
BRZERMTIRE HE M E K EE
EHEHAFE MR HE
FEHREXRBAEGRIEHEEM
B RIE

EXeRERBREYRERARA
ZREEAREENMABEZERLG
I = D5 F @S KT b E R kK
M- EFGEEASEHERB AR
BB OB ETEZEBOHEZB
B D AT S 2 B AR 2 ®
ENEERSBTRERROER -
RRTB 2B RRER RN EDE R
EEEEMPERREREHBZ
ZER BEERHRENRRLE
BIEHAEMIEBH ZRE -

ARG EEREEERABEERE
BN a2 R BRI E A B 1R
L HE R

ARRE RSP A B S R ([ BE
1) - LA 169 Bh 4 55 K R Rl ETT RO
BEZBE ARFAEFEHRTA
MBRER - AMEE QA E 2B
MWEE BE BEERREHBH-



(e)

Corporate Governance Report

The Adviser has assisted the Company in conducting an
annual risk assessment to identify significant risks by
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and
compliance risks of its major business segments. A
three-year internal audit plan was determined based
upon the results of risk assessment under the risk-based
audit approach. The Adviser has also assisted the Board
and the Audit Committee in performing an independent
annual review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems for the
Year. Such review is conducted annually according to
the three-year internal audit plan approved by the Audit
Committee. Findings and areas for improvement of the
review were reported by the management to the Board
and the Audit Committee. The Board and the Audit
Committee are of the view that there were no material
internal control defects noted for the Year. All
recommendations from the Adviser would be properly
followed up by the Group to ensure that they would be
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The
Board therefore considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate
for the Year.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure
potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained
until consistent and timely disclosure are made in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy
regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information, which includes: (i) designated reporting
channels from different operations informing any
potential inside information to designated departments;
(ii) designated persons and departments to determine
further escalation and disclosure as required; and (iii)
designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons
and respond to external enquiries.

(e)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company (the
"EGM(s)”) shall also be convened on the requisition of any
two or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings.

EGM may also be convened on the written requisition of any
one or more member(s) of the Company which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding alone or together,
as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per
share basis, in the share capital of the Company.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or
the Company Secretary at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Directors fail to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them may do so in the same manner,
provided that such meeting shall be held within three months
from the date of deposit of such requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to nominate a person
for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 16.4 of the Articles of Association, no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the meeting appointed for such election and ending
no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting,
there has been given to the Company Secretary notice in
writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to be
proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his intention to propose such
person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

The details of the Company’s procedures for Shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director are set out in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director” which is available on the Company’s website at
www.sinolifegroup.com.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong or the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office.

Shareholders or investors can raise questions or provide
comments and suggestions to the Company through the
following means:

By post: 18/F, Ovest
77 Wing Lok Street
Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

By email: ir@sinolifegroup.com
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make
proposals or move resolutions at the general meetings under
the memorandum of the Company and the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands. However,
Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating
to the operations and management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meetings.

The proposals shall be sent to the Company Secretary at the
contact details as set out in the paragraph headed
“Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to the Board”
above by a written requisition.

Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an EGM by following the procedures set out in the
paragraphs headed “Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting” above.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the
business of the Group.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company proposed to amend the
existing second amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company adopted on 31 May
2023, and to adopt the New M&A and such amendments
were set out in the circular of the Company dated 27 March
2024. The New M&A consolidated all the amendments to
bring the New M&A in line with the latest regulatory
requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing
regime and the electronic dissemination of corporate
communications by listed issuers and relevant amendments
made to the GEM Listing Rules which took effect from 31
December 2023, and the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands.
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New M&A was approved by the Shareholders at the 2024
AGM held on 21 June 2024 by way of special resolution. The
New M&A is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 17.47(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll
except where the Chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a
resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

To ensure effective communication between the Board and
the Shareholders, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’
communication policy (the “Communication Policy”). Under
the Communication Policy, the Company’s information shall
be communicated to the Shareholders mainly through general
meetings, including annual general meetings, the Group's
financial reports (half-yearly report and annual report), its
corporate communications and other corporate publications
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website
and meetings with investors and analysts.

The implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy have been reviewed by the Board on an
annual basis and the Board believes the Communication Policy
would allow Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a policy on payment of dividends (the
“Dividend Policy”) in March 2019, which establishes an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Company will declare
and/or recommend the payment of dividends to the
Shareholders after considering the Company’s ability to pay
dividends, which will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to:

(i) the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(i)  the Group's expected working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion
plans;

(iii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iv)  the Group's liquidity position;

(v)  the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vi)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.
Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay dividends,
the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the
operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus,
general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other
factors of and affecting the Group.

The Board may also consider declaring interim dividends from
time to time. The Company shall review and reassess the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required.
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Biographical Detalls of the Directors and Senior Management

ESkABREEECERE

As the date of this annual report, the biographical information
of the Group’s Directors and senior management are as
follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Jianchun (3¥#%), aged 46, was appointed as the
executive director and the chairman of the board of directors
of the Company on 22 December 2017. Mr. Xu holds a
doctorate degree in economics from Renmin University of
China. Mr. Xu has many years of investment experience in the
biotechnology sector. He has extensive experience in the
biotechnology investment and operation field.

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (2I7RBf), aged 67, was appointed as the
executive director of the Company on 24 February 2005. Mr.
Liu is responsible for the overall corporate strategies, planning,
overall operational management and business development of
the Group. Mr. Liu is a director of all subsidiaries of the Group
(including Bau Shan Life Science Technology Co., Ltd (& [l 4
BB B R A A)) (“Bau Shan”). Mr. Liu founded Bau
Shan and became its controlling shareholder in 1998, and has
since then been continuously expanding its management
team. Mr. Liu is also the team head of the funeral services
deed team. Since the Group’s establishment, Mr. Liu has
played an active role in training its team. Mr. Liu obtained
certificates in Non-Profit Making Organisation Management
and Mortuary Science and Funeral Service Management from
Nanhua University (F§ 2 K2 ) in 2000 and 2001 respectively.
Having over 10 years of managerial, corporate and business
experience, Mr. Liu began his career in funeral business since
1998. Mr. Liu has been a member of Japan Environmental
Zhai Yuan Association ( B &K ig 3% % %5 # 2 ), the National
Funeral Director Association of the United States and the FIAT-
IFTA of Holland, and a council member of Society of Chinese
Funeral Education (R 2 R B & 2% 2 5 £ € ) and Chinese
Society of Life and Death Studies (FR ZE A L& & ). Mr. Liu
had also been a lecturer holding seminars on the skills of
being a ceremonial master and cosmetology at the Continuing
Education Centre, Ling Tung College (%R & i1 27 & B
HEEZ B O ) in Taiwan. Mr. Liu is currently an honorary
member of the China Funeral Association (F B & ZE H ) in
the PRC.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Jlin

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (BB &), aged 58, was appointed as
the independent non-executive director of the Company on
16 February 2009. Mr. Chai obtained his master degree of
Accounting from Jinan University on 6 January 2004 and of
business administration from the University of Manchester in
December 2006. Mr. Chai is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. Mr. Chai has extensive experience of over 20 years
in the accounting and financial field. Mr. Chai has been the
company secretary of Ping Shan Tea Group Limited.

He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Shifang Holding Limited, a company listed on Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1831), and was also an
independent non-executive director of Allegro Culture Limited
(formerly known as Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings
Limited, a company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0550)) during the period from 24 September
2023 to 30 August 2024. He was an independent non-
executive director of Sino Energy International Holdings Group
Limited (a company formerly listed in Hong Kong, stock code:
1096 and cancelled listing on 15 December 2022) from
February 2019 to August 2022 and Asia Coal Limited (a
company formerly listed in Hong Kong, stock code: 0835 and
cancelled listing on 18 June 2019) from September 2018 to
June 2019.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr.
Chai of his independence pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of GEM
Listing Rules and is of the view that Mr. Chai remains
independent.
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Biographical Detalls of the Directors and Senior Management
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Dr. YANG lJingjing (#8& &), aged 42, was appointed as the
independent non-executive director of the Company on 4
March 2022. He obtained a master’s degree in finance from
University of Technology Sydney in Australia and a doctorate
degree in finance from Massey University in New Zealand. He
worked as a visiting researcher at City University of Hong
Kong. He is a professor, doctoral tutor, and deputy dean of
the School of Finance, Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies, and has been selected as a high-level financial
specialist in Guangzhou. Currently, he is mainly engaged in
teaching and scientific research in corporate finance and
corporate governance.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Dr.
Yang of his independence pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of GEM
Listing Rules and is of the view that Dr. Yang remains
independent.

Ms. Hu Zhaohui (&8 8A0E), aged 57, was appointed as the
independent non-executive director of the Company on 7 June
2023. She graduated from Yangtze University (formerly known
as Jianghan Petroleum Institute CT/& A M EZ0T)) in the PRC
in 1986 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering in
1990 with a major in geophysics, and graduated from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology in the PRC in
1998 and obtained a master’s degree in engineering in 2002
with a major in mechanical engineering. She also graduated
from Wuhan University in the PRC in 2000 and obtained a
master’s degree in finance in 2003. She was an engineer of
Jianghan Machinery Research Institute of China National
Petroleum Corporation. She served as a teacher, deputy
director of the Department of Finance and an associate
professor of Guangdong University of Finance. She also served
as the deputy director of the postgraduate division of
Guangdong University of Finance. She also served as the
director of the Teaching Quality Monitoring and Evaluation
Centre of Guangdong University of Finance.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Ms.
Hu of her independence pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of GEM
Listing Rules and is of the view that Ms. Hu remains
independent.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (& f#BH), aged 44, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 June 2019. He is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, The Chartered Governance
Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.
Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and he has extensive
experiences in the field of accounting and financial

management.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries as the “Group”) is here to present the annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to
these consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in nature of Group's principal activities
during the Year. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the group’s business, can be
found in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages 10 to 31 of this annual report. This
discussion forms part of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are various risks and uncertainties including business
risks, operational risks, and financial risks that may have
different levels of impact on the Group's financial
performance, operations, business as well as future prospects.

As the death care industry in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC” or “China”), Taiwan and the Socialist Republic of
Vietnam (“Vietnam") is originated from a long cultural history,
it features a geographically distinctive and traditional
operation model. The conventions of such industry are now
facing challenging innovation and the maturity of relevant
regulations remains to be seen while the world keeps
progressing and updating. The Group is adhered to the
modernization reform of the death care business across
different geographical locations that the Group has operations
in so as to reduce the risk arising from outdated regulations
for the industry.

The death care industry, subject to the strict requirement of
relevant regulations imposed by the government, is a highly
regulated industry. There are strict restrictions on licenses and
land supply which pose risks and uncertainties on the Group's
business expansion. Requirements and restrictions still exist in
the PRC on fund flow under capital accounts, which may
affect the Group’s flexibility to make use of global funds to
implement business expansion and our ability to distribute
dividends to foreign investors.
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The Group is also exposed to certain financial risk, including
market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk, equity
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of financial risks
are set out in note 35 to these consolidated financial
statements and the section headed “Principal Risks” under the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” to this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. In
accordance with Rule 17.103 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “GEM Listing
Rules”), the Company will publish an environmental, social
and governance report (“Environmental, Social and
Governance Report 2024") separately at the same time as the
publication of this annual report on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website in compliance with the
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix C2
to the GEM Listing Rules which was effective during the Year.

In compliance with the Rule 17.103 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024 will
not be provided in printed form. For Shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) who wish to receive a printed
version of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2024, please send your request in writing to the principal
place of business of 18/F, Ovest, No. 77 Wing Lok Street,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-Compliance
with Provisions of the GEM Listing Rules” in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report, as far as the Board is
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group. During the Year,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.
During the Year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/
or other stakeholders. For details, please refer to the Group’s
published “Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2024".

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the Year is set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 102 and 103 and the state of affairs of the Group at
that date are set out in the consolidated statement of financial
position on pages 104 and 105. The Board does not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the Year (2023: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable
to the Group's five largest customers represented to
approximately 6.5% of the Group's total turnover and sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to 6.0%.

For the Year, the aggregate amount of purchases (not
including the purchases of items which are of a capital nature)
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
59.3% of the purchases for the Year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 18.3%.

At no time during the Year, none of the Directors of the
Company or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’'s issued share capital) had any
material beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Details of segment reporting for the Year are set out in note 4
to these consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to these
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to these consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2024, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$1,000,000,000, divided into 1,000,000,000
shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) HK$1.0 each, of which
94,500,000 Shares were issued and fully paid up or credited
as fully paid up in the amount of HK$94,500,000. Details of
movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in note
32 to these consolidated financial statements.

On 16 September 2024, the Company put forward the share
consolidation. Upon the passing of the ordinary resolution by
the Shareholders on 9 October 2024, every ten issued and
unissued shares of the Company of par value of HK$0.1 each
(the "Existing Share(s)”) were consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$1.0 each (the
“Consolidated Share(s)”). Further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 8 August 2024, 30
August 2024 and 9 October 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 16 September 2024.

On 10 May 2024, the Company announced that it proposed
to place up to a maximum of 60,000,000 new Existing Shares
("Placing Shares”) at the price of HK$0.1 per Placing Share
(the "Placing”) to raise up to HK$6,000,000 (before deduction
of commission and other expenses of the Placing) or
approximately HK$5,700,000 (after deduction of commission
and other expenses of the Placing and representing a net issue
price of approximately HK$0.095 per Placing Share),
representing approximately 6.35% of the total number of
Existing Shares in issue as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the Placing Shares. The Placing was placed to not less than
six independent placees at the Placing Price of HK$0.1 per
Placing Share on 14 June 2024.
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For details, please refer to the section headed “Share
consolidation” and “Share placement” under “Liquidity,
Financial Resources and Capital Structure” in the

“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company does not hold any
treasury shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 33 to these
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 106, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any
distributable reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations of approximately RMB52,000 (2023:
RMB148,000) was made by the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jianchun
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai

Dr. Yang Jingjing

Ms. Hu Zhaohui
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According to the requirements of article 16.2 of the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”),
the Board shall have power from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to the requirements of article 16.18 of the Articles
of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Mr. Liu Tien-
Tsai and Dr. Yang Jingjing will retire by rotation in accordance
with article 16.18 of the Article of Association, and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election in the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM").

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

As at the date of this report, biographical details of the
Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on
pages from 63 to 66 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

Mr. Xu Jianchun (“Mr. Xu"”), an executive Director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 22 December 2017, which
continues thereafter until terminated by either party giving
not less than two months’ notice in writing to the other party.

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai, an executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 9 September 2009, which continues
thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice in writing to the other party.
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Mr. Chai Chung Wai, an independent non-executive Director,
has renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 9 September 2024,
which can be terminated by either party giving not less than
one month’s notice in writing to the other party.

Dr. Yang Jingjing, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years from 4 March 2022, which can be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s
notice in writing to the other party.

Ms. Hu Zhaohui, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years from 7 June 2023, which can be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s
notice in writing to the other party.

None of the Directors, including those to be re-elected at the
forthcoming AGM, has a service agreement which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without the
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market practices. The Company has adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (fulltime and part-time), Directors,
advisors, consultants, service providers, agents, customers,
partners or joint-venture partners of the of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group. For details
of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the sub-section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” below.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
EMPLOYEES WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five employees
with highest emoluments for the Year are set out in note 8
and note 9 to these consolidated financial statements
respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' EERIETHAEREAT
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN S EMHEBEEZE Z2k% - HE KR
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND M REHEZBZIERRRA

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
held by the Directors or chief executives of the Company in
the shares (the “Shares”), underlying shares (the “Underlying
Shares”) and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short
positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

RZZE-_WF+—A=+—H EFH
KRB EEBTHRAERARBHEME
B EBRBEEEEMNESTIZE(EFHF R
HEEG) ([BHFRBEIEH])EXVEBET
AE)Z2BRHUKRGB]) - HEKRG(THEE
B hEEEFHAEREESLEE
MBI SEXVEBE TR ESH EBAME KR A
MRz Ez kAR (BREREES R
HEKHNEBREXBEEREFERERE
BHEZIMERIAR)  KARIEZS
K B E 5B 58 352 & 5 A 5% I Bl BT ¥ 2 &
Rz ERRAR  HARKEGEMET B
Bl 546162 F567 K2R EMERAD
AIRBR R KRBT

Number of
Underlying
Shares held
pursuant to the
Convertible
Number of Shares held Bonds
RIBETRIR B 5
Fr 5488
FkHEE v g =]
Approximate
percentage of the
Personal Corporate Corporate total number of
Name of Director Interest Interest Interest Total Shares in issue
HEBRTRHEY
Exna B A#R CEER bEED st H#OE D
Mr. Xu - 22,047,500 14,412,698 36,460,198 38.58%
A (Note 1) (Note 2)
(BEsE1) (BfzE2)

74 Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes:

Mr. Xu is interested in 22,047,500 Shares through his controlling
interests in Hong Kong Gaogqi Biological Technology Company
Limited ("HK Gaoqi”). Mr. Xu is interested in HK Gaogi through
his 25.55% direct beneficial interests and 9.78% through Houp
Bio-Technology Limited (“HBT Limited"”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. HBT Limited has two classes of
shares, namely class A and class B, in which shareholders of class
A and class B have 30 votes and 1 vote per share in the
shareholders’” meeting respectively. Mr. Xu holds 94.07% class A
interests and Ms. Qiu Qi (Ef ), the spouse of Mr. Xu, holds
5.93% class A interests and 10.74% class B interests in HBT
Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu is taken to be interested in
all the shares held by Ms. Qiu Qi, so Mr. Xu collectively holds
86.78% of the total voting rights of HBT Limited, and in turn is
interested in 9.78% of HK Gaoqi. Accordingly, Mr. Xu is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by HK Gaoqi by virtue of
SFO.

14,412,698 Conversion Shares (as defined in the section
headed “Directors’ Interests in Contracts” under the “Directors’
Report”) have been allotted and issued by the Company to
Shenzhen Nanyue Crown Block Bio Intelligent Equipment
Investment Co., Ltd.* CRYIMEMRELEM B ERHBIRESR

A A]) (“Nanyue CB") of the Convertible Bonds (as defined in
the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Contracts” under
the “Directors’ Report”) of HK$18,160,000 upon exercise of
the Convertible Rights (as defined in the section headed
"Directors’ Interests in Contracts” under the “Directors’
Report”) attaching to the Convertible Bonds at HK$0.126 per
Conversion Share on 11 August 2023. Mr. Xu is interested in
14,412,698 Conversion Shares through his controlling interests
in Nanyue CB. Mr. Xu is interested in Nanyue CB through his
71.25% direct beneficial interests. Accordingly, Mr. Xu is
deemed to be interested in all the Conversion Shares held by
Nanyue CB by virtue of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short position which
they are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which will be required to be entered into the
register kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the minimum standards of dealing by directors of the
Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024,
other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company
whose interests or short positions are disclosed under the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company or its Associated Corporations”
above, the following persons and corporations have interests
or short position in the Shares or Underlying Shares which has
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and
who were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in
5% or more of the Shares is listed as follows:

Aggregate long positions in the Shares

i RERKRGZ

B
Rixa

F R
i

REEMAE RN_E-_WME+_A=+—
A BRERIBEEREETHRAERAR
Ak B EE ZRGD - EERKRG RE
BEZEZRAR I BBENESHAAQF
FETBRABMESI AR I RERH
PR AEERO TP HEETABERS K
BB EXVERE 2R E3D I 2 IEXEAEM
RARWELRIEES M EEH 336
REFEEFENEDMATESE 2 ERIOAR
BrEHEZSHERBROFHEES%K
EEEEHOATRARRINAT :

RRDzFRBE

Number of
Number of  Underlying Approximate
Underlying  Shares held percentage
Shares held  pursuant to of the issued
pursuant the share capital
Name of Number of  to the share  Convertible of the
Shareholders  Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held options Bonds Total Company
R
REBRE TREES I EVAL
Ff £ 41 R Fi 45 41 BR EETRE
e S/ #utE Fir 5 B 63 8 B k% E k& E @ #Joeaslt
HK Gaogi Beneficial Owner (Note 1) 22,047,500 - - 22,047,500 23.33%
EERR EnEAAMEL)
Ms. QIU Qi Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2) 22,047,500 - - 22,047,500 23.33%
i} g REBEEER(WE2)
Mr. OU Yafei Beneficial Owner (Note 3) 14,786,400 741,600 - 15,528,000 16.43%
BEEEE  BRERANE3)
Nanyue CB Beneficial Owner (Note 4) - - 14,412,698 14,412,698 15.25%
MHAE j-§o3/ 2 INCIETY
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Notes:

Save

disclosed in
Short Positions in the Shares,

Mr. Xu is the director of HK Gaoqi, which holds 24.91%
Shares, and the director of HBT Limited, which holds 9.78% of
equity interests in HK Gaogi. Mr. Xu is interested in HK Gaoqi
through his 25.55% direct beneficial interests and 9.78%
through HBT Limited. HBT Limited has two classes of shares,
namely class A and class B, in which shareholders of class A
and class B have 30 votes and 1 vote per share in the
shareholders’ meeting respectively, and Mr. Xu holds 94.07%
class A interests in HBT Limited and Ms. Qiu Qi, the spouse of
Mr. Xu, holds 5.93% class A interests and 10.74% class B
interests in HBT Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu is taken
to be interested in all the shares held by Ms. Qiu Qi, so Mr. Xu
collectively holds 86.78% of the total voting rights of HBT
Limited, and in turn is interested in 9.78% of HK Gaoqi.

By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Qiu Qi, the spouse of Mr. Xu, is taken
to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Xu.

Mr. Ou Yafei is the beneficial owner of 14,786,400 Shares and
Mr. Ou holds 741,600 share options of the Company which is
deemed to be interested in the Share by virtue of SFO.

14,412,698 Conversion Shares have been allotted and issued by
the Company to Nanyue CB of the Convertible Bonds of
HK$18,160,000 upon exercise of the Conversion Rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds at HK$1.26 per Conversion
Share on 11 August 2023. Mr. Xu is interested in 14,412,698
Conversion Shares through his controlling interests in Nanyue
CB. Mr. Xu is interested in Nanyue CB through his 71.25% direct
beneficial interests. Accordingly, Mr. Xu is deemed to be
interested in all the Conversion Shares held by Nanyue CB by
virtue of SFO.

as disclosed above and the Directors’ interests as
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Underlying Shares and

Debentures of the Company or its Associated Corporations”,
no person had interests or short positions in the Shares or
Underlying Shares which are required to be recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

As disclosed in the announcement (the “Announcement”)
dated 26 April 2023 and the circular (the “Circular”) dated 23
June 2023 of the Company with respect to the major and
connected transactions in relation to (i) acquisition of 20.25%
equity interest in Zhongke Zhenhui involving issue of
convertible bonds under specific mandate; (ii) acquisition of
approximately 21.43% equity interest in Guangdong
Zhenyuan involving issue of consideration shares under
specific mandate, the Company has entered into the SPA | and
the SPA Il on 26 April 2023. Capitalised terms used in this
section shall bear the same meanings as those defined in the
Announcement and the Circular unless the context requires
otherwise.

On 26 April 2023, the Company and Zhongke Xunda, a
company established in the PRC, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the SPA | with
Nanyue CB, a company established in the PRC. Pursuant to the
SPA I, Zhongke Xunda (as purchasers) agreed to acquire from
Nanyue CB (as vendor) the RMB16,200,000 paid-up capital of
Zhongke Zhenhui, a company established in the PRC
contributed by Nanyue CB, which is equivalent to 20.25% of
the equity interest in Zhongke Zhenhui at a consideration of
RMB15,930,000 (equivalent to HK$18,160,000), which shall
be satisfied by way of issue of the Convertible Bonds in the
principal amount of HK$18,160,000 to Nanyue CB or its
nominee(s) under the Specific Mandate | granted to the Board
at the EGM held on 12 July 2023 for the allotment and issue
of 18,700,000 Conversion Shares (adjusted for Share
Consolidation) to the holders of the Convertible Bonds upon
exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible
Bonds at the Conversion Price.

As at the date of the SPA I, Nanyue CB is controlled as to
approximately 71.25% by Mr. Xu (together with his
associates), the chairman and an executive Director of the
Company. For more details, please refer to the Announcement
and the Circular.
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Save as disclosed above and the transactions disclosed in note
36 to these consolidated financial statements, no transaction,
arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or parent company was a party
and in which a Director or his connected entity had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the details as disclosed under the heading
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or its Associated Corporations” above, at no time
during the Year was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives
of the Company or their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

Directors’ Report
ESEHmE

BREXHBBEELRZERE W BERRM
HFABRENRHIN RAFERK
AEEANEAER HEEEREBS
Eﬁfﬁé%$%¥ﬁ%ﬁﬁ§%iﬁéﬂﬂﬂ
X5 RYPERE K (KD A E MK E
RAEFARMBRRKFRBRETHNT)
FERAEEREAEAES

.m

EERBRONBESIHERN

BEXEEREETHABRARAR
HAAMEE KD  AERGREES
ZHEBARAR] B EBERREBEN R

RERTMAER AR RERAFK
HEEMKMEAGRERNME R AR EET
Mz MEARBAZEFTHRERTHR
ABHEZEMBEA(EERGEM LM
ZEEXT‘? BARBSREEMBBREEGE
EREFRBMEGRAZBESFHEN K
%%E%]\ZKQT?/QEHE@EU\@@Z
iR EEEME S <R

EEEH

AEE RADABEREEAEARD
SEBHABBTLREEER RITH
4

B84 -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

79



80

Directors’ Report

—_

EFERE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29 July 2024, the Company and Zhongke Xunda
Biotechnology (Shenzhen) Company Limited* (4° &l &l 4 ¥
BRI B BR 2 7)) (“Zhongke Xunda”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
transfer agreement with Nanyue AM (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the
Company and Zhongke Xunda conditionally agreed to acquire
from Nanyue AM the paid-up capital of Guangdong Yinwei
Decoding Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (&3 F 4 # i5 &£ ¥ &
B BR A F) (“Guangdong Yinwei”), a company established in
the PRC on 13 May 2015 with limited liability, contributed by
Nanyue AM, which is equivalent to approximately 19.46% of
the equity interest in Guangdong Yinwei at a maximum
consideration of RMB10,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,664,000), which shall be satisfied by way of issue of
two convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 and HK$5,664,000 to Nanyue AM or its
nominee(s) (the “New Convertible Bonds"”) under a specific
mandate (the “Specific Mandate”) to be granted by the
Independent Shareholders (being the shareholder(s) of the
Company other than those who are required under the GEM
Listing Rules to abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to be
proposed at the extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to
approve the Equity Transfer Agreement, the New Convertible
Bonds and the transactions contemplated thereunder, and the
proposed grant of the Specific Mandate) to the Board at the
EGM for the allotment and issue of 116,640,000 New
Conversion Shares (being the Existing Share(s) to be allotted
and issued by the Company to the holders of the New
Convertible Bonds upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the New Convertible Bonds at the price of
HK$0.10 per New Conversion Share, subject to adjustments as
set out and in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the New Convertible Bonds) (the “Acquisition”). Upon
completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement, Guangdong
Yinwei will be held as to approximately 19.46% by Zhongke
Xunda.

The EGM was then held on 9 October 2024, and the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the New Convertible Bonds and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, and the proposed
grant of the Specific Mandate were approved by the
Independent Shareholders by way of ordinary resolutions.

*  For identification purpose only.
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However, on 31 December 2024, being the long stop date of
the Equity Transfer Agreement, completion of the Acquisition
did not take place as the conditions precedent to the Equity
Transfer Agreement were not fulfilled, and the Equity Transfer
Agreement has thereby lapsed. The parties to the Equity
Transfer Agreement do not have any further liabilities and
obligations under the Equity Transfer Agreement. The
Directors consider that the lapse of the Equity Transfer
Agreement will have no material adverse impact on the
Group’s business, operations, and financial position.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 29 July 2024, 9 October 2024 and 6 January
2025; and the circular of the Company dated 16 September
2024.

Details of related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business of the Group during the Year are set out in
note 36 to these consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, all other related party transactions
and balances did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’'s listed securities
during the Year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company does not hold any
treasury shares.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As disclosed in the announcement (the “JV Announcement”)
dated 13 September 2021 and the circular (the “JV Circular”)
dated 29 October 2021 of the Company with respect to (i) the
major and connected transaction in relation to the capital
increase in Zhongke Zhenhui; and (ii) the major transaction in
relation to the formation of the JV Company, the Company
has entered into the Capital Increase Agreement and the JV
Agreement on 13 September 2021. Capitalised terms used in
this section shall bear the same meanings as those defined in
the JV Announcement and the JV Circular unless the context
requires otherwise.

The Capital Increase and the Formation of the JV Company
had been approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting on 22 November 2021. The Group through (i)
the JV Company will engage in equity and/or securities
investment business; and (ii) Zhongke Zhenhui engaged in
technical development and consultation services, investment
activities and business management consultation. The
businesses of Nanyue AM are mainly engaged in asset
management, investment management, equity investment and
investment consulting services through its private equity
funds. Mr. Xu is a director of Nanyue AM and, together with
his associates, ultimately owned as to approximately 71.25%
equity interests of Nanyue AM, therefore, Mr. Xu may be
regarded as being interested in the competing business with
the business of the Group.

As the Company’s management and administrative structure
are independent to that of Nanyue AM, and coupled with the
diligence of the independent non-executive Directors and the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”),
the Group is capable of carrying its businesses independently
on an arm'’s length basis.

For more details, please refer to the JV Announcement, the JV

Circular and the announcement dated 22 November 2021 of
the Company.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

EENREEBCER

HUOAARBHA-_TE-_—FHLA+=
= /NS (I /N == DI =B Hl - Rl
——FtA=-thBEZzBR(EEBHK])
NABBORPRZEZRE > T B NEEE
RS RNBEEERNRIZEERS ' &K
NRABERZE-_—FNA+=BHELE
EmzEhkadmhE BRXEIEFMEIN
AEFARAERAEEAERAEEBEA
AFTEREHREE -

BERKIAERAER T —F
T-AZT-HBETHRRENKRE L
ERERRME -AKBEBOHAELRABR
ERERHEFFEKEER KPR &
BERERMRAZELBARE KREED
REBEEGH BREETRERH
LREREEcHFIEERE REEE -
BREREERNETARB RS - FEE
RERBEZES HEBZARKE
BRBREENTI2%Z R Sk &7F
RERARREAEEXBEBRFZE
BhEAER -

HRARBZEERITRRBEBILNE
MEE MZARABIULIFRTEER
ERZBe((BRZE®)Z2HYV  ~&%
BREARATEEFIEELER -

P

ESIE T Y
RAAFEBB =

“t-HHAE -

T AEBEEN

—F+— A

/N



Save as disclosed above, during the Year and up to the date
of this report, none of the Directors, the controlling
Shareholders, or any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in a business
apart from the Group’s business which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 11.04
of the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

Particulars of bank borrowings and convertible bonds of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 28 and
note 29 to these consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out
in note 13 to these consolidated financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and considers all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS'
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made
of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they
had complied with such code of conduct throughout the Year.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Group are also subject
to compliance with the same code. No incident of non-
compliance was noted by the Company for the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme, which was adopted by the
Company on 24 August 2009, was expired and there was no
outstanding share option. A new share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 22
April 2021. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme from 22 April 2021 (the “Date of
Adoption”) (that is from 22 April 2021 to 21 April 2031). The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
the participants and to promote the success of the business of
the Group. The participants include any director, employee
(fulltime and part-time), advisor, consultant, supplier, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company, who, in the absolute
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group so as to promote the success of the business of the
Group.

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including any
director, employee, advisor, consultant, supplier, agent,
customer, partner or joint venture partner of the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group) options to subscribe shares in the Company, subject to
a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the Date of Adoption and as at the
approval date of refreshment from time to time, excluding for
this purpose shares issued on the exercise of options.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the
Directors but in any event will not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the offer date of the particular option, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five consecutive business days immediately
preceding the offer date of that particular option; and (c) the
nominal value of a Share on the offer date of the particular
option.
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Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee of the Share
Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The acceptance of an offer of the
grant of the option must be made within 10 days from the
date of offer. The exercise period of any option granted under
the Share Option Scheme is determined by the Board upon
granting the options but in any event must not be more than
10 years commencing on the date of grant. Unless determined
by the Directors otherwise, there is no minimum holding
period before the options can be exercised.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval, in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. The Board may seek approval by the
Shareholders at general meeting to refresh the 10% limit.
However, the total number of shares available for issue under
exercise of options which may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme in these circumstances must not exceed 10%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of approval of the refreshment of the 10% limit.

As a result of the Share Consolidation becoming effective on
14 October 2024 and in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, the Exercise price, being initially at HK$0.137 per
Existing Share (subject to adjustment), was adjusted in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme to HK$1.37 per Consolidated Share.

Accordingly, the total number of Shares to be issued upon
exercise of the outstanding Share Options and the total
number of Shares which may fall to be issued under the
scheme limit of the share option scheme adopted on 22 April
2021 have been adjusted to 1,853,200 Consolidated Shares
and 7,425,000 Consolidated Shares pursuant to the terms of
such share option scheme.

The number of options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024
were 48,294,000 and 4,829,400 respectively.

Directors’ Report
EEERE

FE R RE T 8 2 AR B A BT IR B AR B
BRAARAXZM1.00BTHERRHRE -
REBREZZHOVARK L BHZ10
BRE®R - EFAREBREFEREZ
BhEzTEHREFeN R L BRE
RETE HEREMBRTITAEEBER
HEMEFI0F - BIAEZTZHEE -
BRBRERETENTEKEHEHR -

RAERERE REBEBREFSEAR
Wﬂﬂﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬂ%%%ﬁﬁE’J"ﬁB
ERERETERTEETHONRNDESES
HASHBBNERERE 24 F B BR
’ATE?’*TTHXPM%IE’HO% -
RIEEAE FERESKE S 10%
RTFAEF - AWM RZEEFEBAT  RIE
BERETETERENEREETFER
AFHRTHOROCAHTSBEERILES
T10% EREBARRAAE BITRMMER
7 10% °

HRBRHEHER_Z-_mWE+ A+ MmAH
ERRBIBEERESS  TEEFIT A
FRIBAERMKBIZZBET(AITHE)) D
BEBREFINERARKEHARES
f&& AR D 1.37 87T °

E bt - RIEZERERT S AIER - B R
TEEREETEMS TEHITHRMDE
HERBEER-_STE-_—FmMA-—+=-HIE
ME R ER SR EIRE A T &
TR AR REE % 51,853,200 8 & #F
% 7 % 7,425,000 f& & G B 15 o

R-_E_NME-—A-—BR-ZZ_MOF
+Z—A=+—8" *ETEE%HX%ﬁ%HTL\

HERERZEZEB » 5l A48,294,00013
124,829,400 °

hEEREBEARARN —T-_NFFH

85



86

Directors’ Report

—_

EEEWS

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 7,425,000 Consolidated Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of passing of an ordinary
resolution by the Shareholders at the AGM to approve the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December
2024, 4,829,400 Consolidated Shares were available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme, representing 6.50% of the
Consolidated Shares in issue as at the date of the AGM
passing of an ordinary resolution by the Shareholders to
approve the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, 5.11% of
the Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date
of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
from time to time and the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to each eligible
participant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue for the time being in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of offer of the grant.

The period during which a share option may be exercised is
determined and notified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of the share option and
such period shall not expire later than ten years from the date
of grant of the share option.
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Details of the share options movements during the Year under BERETZIBE THERERAEEEFH 2
the Share Option Scheme are as follows: BT
Adjusted
closing price Share
immediately Consolidation
Adjusted preceding the completed
exercise date of grant during Lapsed
Name or category Date of grant  price (Note 3) Vesting (Note 1) Balance as at the Year during Balance as at
of grantees of share options (HKS) Exercisable period period (HKS) 1/1/2024 (Note 3) the Year  31/12/2024
RERLE M REEE R-B-MmE
SARTHEE ZERERTHE R-B-ME ZHB 5 +=H
(Mat3) (Ma1) -A-8 &t REEE =t+-H
RRAREHER RUBRERY (Ex) TR BRYR (%7) ok 3 (Ma3) ES: 4 &
Other eligible participants:
EhadHeaE:
Employee 19/5/2022 137 19/5/2022-18/5/2032 N/A 137 3,700,000 (3,330,000) = 370,000
&8 3= “Z__FARTARE TEA
LAthA “Z=-FRANA
Business partners (Note 2) 19/5/2022 137 19/5/2022-18/5/2032 N/A 137 14,832,000 (13,348,800) - 1,483,200
EBAEBHHE2) -F-z “E-_ERATNAEE  TEA
LAthA “Z=-FRANA
Total £5t 18,532,000  (16,678,800) - 1,853,200
Notes: M 7t
1. Being the higher of the closing price of the Shares quoted on 1. BROREEBEREXRLEBHMZRSH

the Stock Exchange on the trading day immediately prior to the
date of grant of the share options; and the average closing
price for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant. The closing price immediately preceding the date of
grant, being initially at HK$0.137 per Existing Share, was
adjusted to HK$1.37 per Consolidated Share as a result of the
Share Consolidation.

The share options have been granted to 2 business partners on
19 May 2022 and each of them holds 7,416,000 share options.
As at 31 December 2024, the number of share options held by
each of them was adjusted to 741,600 share options as a result
of the Share Consolidation.

As a result of the Share Consolidation becoming effective on
14 October 2024 and in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, the Exercise price, being initially at HK$0.137 per
Existing Share (subject to adjustment), was adjusted in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme to HK$1.37 per Consolidated Share. Accordingly, the
total number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the
outstanding Share Options has been adjusted to 1,853,200
Consolidated Shares.

During the Year, no share option was lapsed, granted,

cance

lled and exercised.

Further details of Share Options Scheme were set out in note

43 to

these consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of
the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the
public as at the date of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company's corporate governance practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 32
to 62 of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM for 2025 will be held on 25 June 2025 (the “2025
AGM"). A notice of meeting together with the circular for the
2025 AGM will be despatched to the Shareholders according
to the Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 20 June 2025, to Wednesday, 25 June 2025, (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify for attending at the 2025
AGM, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Thursday, 19 June 2025.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets
the requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies
Ordinance for the benefit of the Directors is in force.

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers during
the Year and the indemnity provision and Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance remains in force as of the date of
this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, there has no change in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out
on page 300 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee is of the opinion that these consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year comply with
applicable reporting standards, GEM Listing Rules, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.
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The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire at the end
of the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Xu Jianchun
Chairman and Executive Director

27 March 2025
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Independent Auditor's Report

Crowe

To the shareholders of
Sino-Life Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 102
to 299, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

FiE RE@E TBIEE 77 SER09E
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis of our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

FEETEE

T8 N A% BLED R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B EF NI HARET FEETREE

Valuation of freehold land and buildings and investment properties

KAERIBRIEFURKEMENMGE

We identified the valuation of freehold land and
buildings and investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and estimates required in determining
the fair values.
BPERKAEELI W REFUARKEDENMG
BERAREFEFE DHREEATER S RE
AR E BB R EE

As disclosed in Notes 14 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amounts of
freehold land and buildings and investment
properties were approximately RMB30,827,000 and
RMB4,392,000 as at 31 December 2024
respectively. During the year ended 31 December
2024, a revaluation surplus on freehold land and
buildings of approximately RMB3,032,000 was
recognised in other comprehensive income, and a
fair value loss on investment properties of
approximately RMB748,000 was recognised in profit
or loss.

BN EVBREMF14RI6ERE  RZF
THFE+TZA=T—H  KAERELIHREBFIU
MIREMENREED BIK /AR 30,827,000
TRAR®A4392000T - B#E_T_MOF+=
A=1t—HBILFE KAXEIHRBFZER
HERBLOARYS 032,000 E 2@ K=
R MREVEZAFEBEHNARE
748,000 JL R 18 55 HERR ©

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of freehold
land and buildings and investment properties
included:
BMBEBNEKAERIHMEREFREEMEZ
RFERE:

o Obtaining an understanding of the management’s
valuation processes and significant assumptions to
assess if these approaches are in compliance with
the requirements of HKFRS Accounting Standards
and industry norms;

. THREEBENMERFREARKRRK  AFTMHE
ZERERENABTEY BB S EAN G E
BT R AR E 5K

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the Valuer's scope of work
and their terms of engagement;

e HfAFEMZER -BALTBME AL THE
ER A TV E R =R

o Obtaining the detailed work of the Valuer to
evaluate the accuracy and relevance of key
inputs used in the valuation;

e ERFHEMMNIHE UAEBREMAR
ANBUE 2 EFEME KA

o Evaluating and challenging the reasonableness
and the appropriateness of the valuation
methods used and the key assumptions applied
based on our knowledge of the property
markets; and

e REFFHVERMEHEN T HARFMGERERAM
ERANEERERMEANIERENAE
MEREEMN R

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
and assumptions, including property-specific
adjusting rate, by comparing these estimates to
entity-specific information and market data
based on our knowledge of the property
markets.

e REEFFHYUETENTH FBEKZFMH
ATEERBREEM LTS EBEMAL - AFFMGE
AR ABBEEIBRR(BEEDREEHAEX)
WEEM -
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93



94

Independent Auditor's Report
Y& Nz BEN R

Key audit matter (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
FAETEIE(E) BT NTHAREAETEETEE(E)

Valuation of freehold land and buildings and investment properties (Continued)

KAEELHRBFURKREMED G EER)

As disclosed in Notes 3(j) and 3(k) to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group's
freehold land and buildings and investment
properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuations performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer (the “Valuer”). Details of the
valuation techniques and key inputs used in the
valuations of freehold land and buildings, and
investment properties are disclosed in Notes 14 and
16 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

WM E M BBRERMAIORIKAKE - 5
EXAXETHMEEFRREMEDIREE LS
B ER([{HER])ETHEHERR FEIIERE-
BRAXAZELHMEBFRREMEREMADY
HEFERARBABBRZFBEONBEERES
MR T 14516 ¢

The valuations have been arrived at using direct
comparison method, which are dependent on
certain key inputs and assumptions in respect of
prevailing market conditions such as property-
specific adjusting rate.

ZEMEDRBEERLBORER BHORN A H
BOmAZE THERGARELRBRR (WY EE
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Key audit matter (Continued)
PASEERTEIE ()

Valuation of convertible bonds

o] % % 18 % 09 i {6

We identified the valuation of the convertible bonds
issued by the Group, which was designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, as a key audit
matter because the valuation model is sensitive to
changes in certain key inputs including volatility of
share prices that require significant management
estimates.

BMER EEERTUEERZRATEFAE
mZABBRESFNEERAERETEFE LA
REEEREHERERELEAETBM2ET
BAsE AR (BERERE 2 #EHHEX-

As disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of convertible
bonds was approximately RMB12,754,000 as at 31
December 2024. During the year ended 31
December 2024, a loss on fair value change of
approximately RMB2,035,000 was recognised in
profit or loss and a gain on fair value change
attributable to change in credit risk of approximately
RMB31,000 was recognised in other comprehensive
income.

BRI REM T 29 E - T RESFK
CE_NEFT AT -BZEEENRARE
12,754,000t - REBZE-T-_WFE+ A =+—
BIEFE RFEZIHEBOARK2035000
TRERAERLEERREHEH A FEE
B s 49 A R 31,000 7T 7 H i 2 T W 2k N FERR ©

T8 N A% BLED R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
BRAMSETmAHARETERETEEE)

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
convertible bonds included:

BMBAEFEAIREKESZEFBHE

o Obtaining an understanding of the management’s
valuation processes and significant assumptions to
assess if these approaches are in compliance with
the requirements of HKFRS Accounting Standards
and industry norms;

o THERENHERTFTREAREKRE - Ul
ZERERENABTBEYBBRELN G E
AIFIITRER N B K

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the Valuer's scope of work
and their terms of engagement;

. HEEEMZER RORTEMLE X TR
R ER A TV E B R &5 IR

o Obtaining the detailed work of the Valuer to
evaluate the accuracy and relevancy of key
inputs used in the valuation;

e KEHMEAEMOI(EAFE UFEGLEMBAH
ABEZ AL MBI

o Evaluating and challenging the reasonableness
and the appropriateness of the valuation
methods used and the key assumptions applied
based on our knowledge; and

e REEFENTHARIAGREAMERNMGE
FENRFERNEIERENAEERS B
K

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
and assumptions, including volatility of share
price based on our knowledge.

e WREEENTH FEHEARBABRBIRER(E
EIRERE) NS BT -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

95



96

Independent Auditor's Report

T8 N A% BRI R &
Key audit matter (Continued)

P ERTEER)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
attributable to the cash-generating unit (the
"CGU") of funeral services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC")
PEARXAE(HIEDBERBRBFHHASELESE
N(HEEELEEMNDEEME - BERRHE - £
AESEREMEERE

We identified the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
attributable to the CGU of funeral services in the
PRC as a key audit matter because of the significant
estimate involved in assessing the amount of
impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (collectively
the “Non-Financial Assets”).

ERNFTEDE BELREGB ERAEEERER
BEMBIEMBEED 2RESE Y REKMK
O BRMERTERERBENESELEMLEMN
ME -BELARE ERABEERETLEERE
REREAFE-

As disclosed in Notes 14, 15 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets were
approximately RMB33,946,000, RMB14,601,000
and RMB2,000 respectively, of which approximately
RMB3,433,000, RMB13,389,000 and Nil were
attributable to the CGU of funeral services in the
PRC respectively.

B A IS RERMT14  15SRITHIHE - W -
BEREE ERAREERBLEEZREED
Al %) & A R % 33,946,000 T « A K # 14,601,000
TR AR®2,0000T - HA 4 AR 3,433,0007T
AR #13,389,0007T X T 5 5l i B 7 & AR % &9
ReELELER -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
BN EFNAHARETBEETREEE)

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets attributable to the CGU of
funeral services in the PRC included:
BMAEBTETREEREBENREELECLEMN
ME - BELRE ERREERETVEEREZ
RFeE:

o Understanding, evaluating and validating
management’s internal control and assessment
process of impairment assessment of Non-
Financial Assets and assessing the inherent risk
of misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors;

. TR FEEZEERENRIIFMBEERE
AfEZAMEERTHBIE  WERERM
ATHAARECRENAEMEERARE R Z
K- A LSRR BRI 2 B A & R

o Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies used for the impairment
assessment;

s HAEBEMERERTEZRELE:

o Comparing the cash flow forecasts to financial
budgets approved by management and
assessing the reasonableness of the forecasts
and budgets by comparing them against
business plans and historical information, where
relevant;

J KREeREFEANEEREM E2MBEE
WiEBLEMmEREBAELESRER (EH
) A RTEE S EIL
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Key audit matter (Continued)
PASEERTEIE ()

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
attributable to the cash-generating unit (the
“CGU") of funeral services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) (Continued)
PEARXAMBE(HIREDBEERBRBHREELS
N(REELESEMN)EEYME BEREE &
AESEREMEEREE)

Management performed assessment at the end of
each reporting period to consider whether there is
any indication that the Non-Financial Assets may be
impaired. The recoverable amounts of the Non-
Financial Assets are assessed by value-in-use
calculations which are based on future discounted
cash flows on a CGU basis.
ERBERSMERARETHME  UEREMBE
ESBFEEARETR - FEVBEE 27 HE
CHABGECREEETHMGL  ZAEERR
CEABUZARARRUBERERE -

Significant estimates are required to determine the
recoverable amounts of the Non-Financial Assets,
based on value-in-use calculations of the estimated
future cash flows of the relevant CGUs, using
appropriate key assumptions including length of the
projection period, revenue growth rates and
discount rates.
ERHAReEFEML Mt RRREREFAE
CREERETCHVBEEZATRE S EREAE
HEBERMGH WHAEENBERBRR(2ERA
HARR - Wamig R & R ARIR XK) o

Based on the results of management’s impairment
assessment, no impairment loss has been
recognised on the Non-Financial Assets attributable
to the CGU of funeral services in the PRC for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
REEEEZREMNGER TERBEERREHE
CELABENEHIVEEEXrBZE _T_MOF
TZA=T-BLEFEYEEIRREERE -

T8 N A% BLED R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
BRAMSETmAHARETERETEEE)

Challenging management’s assumptions used in
the forecasts by comparing the length of
projection period against the relevant
supporting evidence including business plans
and financial budgets; evaluating the revenue
growth rates by considering the business plans,
historical trends and current market conditions,
our industry knowledge, and economic growth
forecasts, where relevant; and assessing the
discount rates by benchmarking against the
discount rates for comparable companies; and
FRUBRFEANPREEEIFER(BREER
SEIRMBEE) EREBERAMEAZ
BR FREREKFE BELBERRE
R - BAPIEIT R AN B RSB IE R IR (F1ER)
R EIERE WAR BE R AR ZBh R
KRB WM EETAE R

Evaluating the sensitivity analyses performed by
management around the key assumptions
applied to the value-in-use calculations in order
to assess the potential impact of a range of
possible outcomes.
AEEREEHEAREREBEMEZIER
BRETZHBREDN - AFTH— R ] 884
RZBEZE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

T8 N A% BLED R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate Number P07327
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ConsoHda ed Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Gomprehensive Income

O AN/ N
MEeEBm MEMEE RS
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—T-ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 3E ARETR ARETF T
Revenue Y 25 4(a) 74,943 72,570
Cost of sales and services rendered 38 & & g 75 A 4 (42,660) (39,089)
Gross profit EH 32,283 33,481
Fair value loss on investment KEWMEZRATFE

properties &5 18 16 (748) (1,081)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial BAFEFTAER

assets measured at fair value (MEAFEFAER]DE

through profit or loss (“FVTPL") BYUBEEZ A TFEK

=/ (BR) 19 3,378 (4,226)
Fair value loss on convertible EBEREAFEFAEBREZ

bonds designated at FVTPL MR ES 2 AFEEE 29 2,035 3,519
Other income and other net gains  E U A R E Uz,

/(losses) (E18) %58 5 2,204 2,571
Selling expenses HERX (3,189) (2,122)
Administrative expenses 1T A 2 (36,336) (41,044)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of B 5 K H b e W R &

impairment losses recognised EffiEesEHEEBR

under expected credit loss ([TEEfEE /B ERIE

("ECL") model on trade and TZE®ACRERIE),

other receivables and deposits BB B 18 B % 58

paid, net 6(d) (4,150) 2,841
Other operating expenses Hih &R (1,458) (201)
Loss from operations HEEBRE (5,981) (6,262)
Finance costs A& KA 6(a) (1,473) (1,681)
Loss before taxation BRBiAiAS IR 6 (7,454) (7,943)
Income tax expense FTiS T 2 7 (2,948) (2,143)
Loss for the year FEBIE (10,402) (10,086)
Other comprehensive income/ Ht2®EKZE (FAX)

(expense)

Items that will not be reclassified to #5 T @ E #7 77 48 2 18 25 )
profit or loss: HH :
Surplus on revaluation of KAERLIHWRIEFZ
freehold land and buildings EhH A% 14(c) 3,032 1,430
Exchange differences arising on MEMEAZER 5
translation 1,017 1,385
Fair value gain on convertible EERREZEHEZIEER
bonds designated at FVTPL BRAFEGFABERZA
attributable to change in BmRES 2 A FERR
credit risk 29 (31) (27)
4,018 2,788
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Consolioated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

[ /\ d N/ ‘m 7\ Lly \ /
= PN E N
4R B Sm N EAM P E NS
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
2024 2023
—E-MNE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 3% ARETRT AR T T
Items that may be reclassified At EE o EE B
subsequently to profit or loss: mIEE -
Exchange differences arising on BME BN EBFEEZE
translation of foreign operations RER (1,653) 3,013
Reclassification of cumulative RSB B W B R A
foreign currency translation BN OBRAFIINERE
reserve upon deregistration/ & 1
strike-off of subsidiaries (1,608) -
(3.261) 3,013
Other comprehensive income FSERHME2EIE
for the year, net of income tax (1B FTEH) 10 757 5,801
Total comprehensive expense FEZ2X TR X EE
for the year, net of income tax (IBRFTE#H) (9,645) (4,285)
Loss for the year DT ATEIEEERIS:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETE? = /N (8,699) (7,173)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (1,703) (2,913)
(10,402) (10,086)
Total comprehensive expense LI T ATE{S 2 EE X4 :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZINNETEZ P EIN (5.613) (2,354)
Non-controlling interests FEVE I 2 (4,032) (1,931)
(9,645) (4,285)
(Restated)
(E=7)
Loss per share BREEE 11
Basic HR RMB(9.48) cents RMB(8.99) cents
AR®(0.48)%  ARM(8.99)%
Diluted #E RMB(9.95) cents  RMB(12.43) cents
ARB0.95)%  ARM(12.43)5
The notes on pages 110 to 299 form part of these ZH1I0EZE29B 2T AZXELREYTH

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are B AR LR

As at 31 December 2024 R—_Z —_WNF+_-_A=+—H

As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
R-F-ME WN-_T-_=%F R-_T-=F
+=ZA=+-B +t-A=1+-8 —A—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Pt 3 ARETR ARBFT ARBFT
(Restated)
(&)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BFEREE 14 33,946 32,601 31,588
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 14,601 19,088 22,918
Investment properties RENE 16 4,392 5,245 6,132
Intangible assets EVEE 17 2 292 1,158
Interest in an associate R—REEERAMNER 18 - - =
Goodwill RS 20 = = =
Other receivables and Hon el R &
deposits paid BEffEe 23 378 466 915
Deposits for hire of funeral parlours ~ A ABEEREREE
and funeral services centres BERLZEE 23 929 927 1,000
54,248 58,619 63,711
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Financial assets measured at FVTPL A TEFALBEHE
LHBEE 19 39,373 48,495 58,777
Development and formation costs B R KA A 21 3,790 5,107 4,657
Inventories RrE 22 943 1,199 1,617
Trade and other receivables and ESREMERFER
deposits paid BEffke 23 43,016 33,268 34,201
Income tax recoverable Al Y Bl T 15 7 - = 14
Time deposits with original maturity R | SiE BB =8 A
over three months BrER—F
but not over one year iofiaR-iike A - = 9,334
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBeSEY 24(a) 109,256 125,019 112,477
196,378 213,088 221,077
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables and BoHREMBARIER
deposits received Bl e 25 12,253 11,817 12,971
Contract liabilities AHAE 26 81,937 91,096 89,660
Lease liabilities MEBE 27 5,821 5,399 4,757
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 1,271 1,275 1,198
Income tax liabilities FiETaR 30(a) 5,008 3,758 5,056
Amounts due to directors [ENEEZFUR 36(e) 2,935 4,681 2,756
Amount due to a shareholder B —2REZHE 36(f) 11,146 13,023 10,325
Convertible bonds @R EF 29 12,754 14,313 =
Provisions B 31 486 520 1,380
133,611 145,882 128,103
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 62,767 67,206 92,974
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRDER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 117,015 125,825 156,685
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ARe B AR LR

As at 31 December 2024 R=—_Z—_WNWF+—-_A=+—H

As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
R-ZB-ZME R-T-=F RZT==F
+=-A=+-B +-A=1+—H —fA—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt 3% AREFTR AREFT AREFT
(Restated)
(EE3)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBER
Contract liabilities AHEE 26 577 592 456
Other payables and deposits received £ {t & ¥ FX 38 Iz
Bz s 25 590 257 1,135
Amount due to a shareholder e — % E 2 FUR 36(f) 2,479 = 2,330
Lease liabilities HEEE 27 8,686 13,959 18,357
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 1,149 2,484 3,590
13,481 17,292 25,868
NET ASSETS BETFE 103,534 108,533 130,817
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners XATBAANEEER
of the Company
Share capital R A 32 87,489 81,941 69,218
Reserves i 33 35,963 41,777 44,000
123,452 123,718 113,218
Non-controlling interests ERER (19,918) (15,185) 17,599
TOTAL EQUITY BHEE 103,534 108,533 130,817

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Xu Jianchun
Chairman and Executive Director

AEF

BERATER

The notes on pages 110 to 299 form part of these
consolidated financial statements.

HEEeR T _RE=A_-++tH#

Liu Tien-Tsai
Executive Director
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HITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

=R

=
N

/
~

m

28 %

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATRFARE
Foreign
Statutory  Properties currency  Share-based Convertible
Share Merger  Statutory surplus  revaluation translation compensation Other bonds
Share  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve Non-
capital  (Note33(b) (Note33(b) (Note33(h) (Note33(b) (Note33(b) (Note33(b) (Note33(b) (Note33(b) (Note33(bh) Accumulated controlling
(Note 32) i) (i) (iii)) (iv)) v) (vi) (vii)) (vii) (ix)) losses Sub-total interests Total
WRH
EERE  BEER  BEERE  BEEQ ThERES
Rt AHEE  AEERE L B # RREE  ABES L1}
BE (WE330)  (WiEssh)  (WEe)  (KiEssh)  (WE0)  (HiEssh)  (WEe)  (Hi#ssh)  (WE3sm)
(Wit32) [0} (i) (i) () ) (i) (vii) (vii)) () RetBR Mt FBREE ]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn AR%TR
At 1 January 2023 R-¥-=%-A-8 69,218 220,633 (16,261) 790 12,058 5152 (18,775) 1,900 361 - (161,858) 113218 17,599 130,817
Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - - (7173) (7173) (2913) (10,086)
Surplus on revaluation of
freehold land and buildings - - - - - 1,003 - - - - - 1,003 21 1430
Fair value gain on convertible
bonds designated at FVTPL
attributable to change in
credit risk - - - - - - - - - (27) - (27) = (27)
Exchange differencesarising SN ERAEL L
on translation of EXZE
foreign operations - - - - - - 3843 - - - - 3843 555 4398
Other comprehensive income/ e 2B M/ (H3)
(expense) = = = = = 1,003 3883 = = @) - 43819 982 5,801

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

Capital contribution from
non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary (Note 36(c)iv))

Acquisitions of non-controlling

#36(00i)

WERBL AR

interests of subsidiaries

(Notes 32 & 42(b) 12723 2,211 = = = = = - (2,146) = = 12,854 (30953) (18,099)
Lapse of share options (Note 43) - - - - - = = (483) = = 483 = = -
At 31 December 2023

+-B=+-8 81,941 222910 (16,261) 790 12,058 6,155 (14,932) 1417 (1,785) @) (168,548) 123,718 (15,185) 108,533

At 1 January 2024 R-F-mE-A-H 81,941 222,910 (16,261) 790 12,058 6,155 (14,932) 1417 (1,785) 21 (168,548) 123718 (15,185) 108,533
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - = = - (8699) (8,699) (1,703) (10.402)
Surplus on revaluation of KAFELHREBTLZ

freehold land and buildings B - - - - - 3,624 - - - - - 3,624 (592) 3,032
Fair value gain on convertible &R ARAT

honds designated at FVTPL

attributable to change in

creditrisk ATERE - - - - - - - - ° 61 = (1) o 61
Reclassification of foreign RiEH/REHE

currency translation reserve A ABEHHE

upon deregistration/strike-off I E Bl

of subsidiaries - - - - ° o (1,608) - - - - (1,608) - (1,608)
Exchange differences arising PERHELEL

on translation of EiXER

foreign operations - - - - - - 1,101 - - - - 1,101 (1,737) (636)
Other comprehensive income/ s 2B M/ (H3)

(expense) = = = - - 3,624 (507) - - 31) - 3,086 (2329) 751
Total comprehensive income/ X2 E 4/

(expense) for the year E: - - - - - 3,624 (507) - - (31 (8,699) (5.613) (4,032) (9,645)
Capital contribution from

non-controling interest of a % (¥ 36(c)vi)

subsidiary (Note 36(c)(vi)) - - - - = - - = - - - - 610 610
Issue of shares , net of ERHABXARE)

transaction costs (Note 32(a))  (H/3£32(2)) 5,548 (201) - - - - - - - - - 5,347 - 5,347
Deregistration/strike-off H/RAHEAR

of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - = = = = (1311) (1311)
At 31 December 2024 )t a1}

+-B=+-8 87,489 222,109 (16,261) 790 12,058 9,779 (15,439) 1417 (1,785) (58) (177,247) 123452 (19,918) 103,534

The notes on pages 110 to 299 form part of these HF110BE298 2MEAZXSHEATK

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an\ T I/Eu vl /}Ib E ?E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EFE-mE R =4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M 5 ARETR ARB T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEEWR
Loss before taxation B B¢ B & 18 (7,454) (7,943)
Adjustments for: THE
Write-down of development A 2 K2 A ST AR AN iR
and formation costs 6(d 9269 -
Write-down of inventories 7 & MR 6(d) 188 =
Finance costs & AR AN 6(a) 1,473 1,681
Depreciation of property, plant M- BEREZEITE
and equipment 6(c) 1,716 2,091
Depreciation of right- CREEERE
of-use assets 6(c) 5,220 5,000
Amortisation of intangible asset A E 6(c) 290 866
Impairment losses/(reversal of E 5 Kk H M EWFRIE K
impairment losses) recognised ENREZENEE
under ECL model on trade BEEENIET 2
and other receivables and BRI ERE
deposits paid, net (CRREBERED) 6(d) 4,150 (2,841)
Written back of provision for Pl 75 AX, 7 & 1 ¢ [E
cost of services 5 (20) (904)
Fair value loss on KEWMEZRATE
investment properties & & 16 748 1,081
Fair value loss on convertible EERIEAFEF AE
bonds designated at FVTPL mIZABBRESZA
FEEE 29 (2,035) (3,519)
Loss on disposal of property, EEME  BERKE
plant and equipment )= 5 9 2
Loss on deregistration/strike-off g BEME AR Z
of subsidiaries & 18 106 =
Gain on lease modification HE Bz Wz (66) =
Interest income F B WA (917) (932)
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial BAFEFABRE
assets measured at FVTPL ZHBEEEZAFE
(W), K8 19 (3,378) 4,226
Net exchange (gain)/loss PE X (Wa) B 1B)F 5 5 (224) 146
775 (1,046)

hEEREBEARARN —T-_NFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AREFT ARET T
CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL ZEZ&EE)
Decrease in inventories FER P> 7 514
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 N E e W IE K
other receivables and deposits Bt e (3 m),
paid (557) 5,860
Decrease in financial assets EAFEFABRITEZ
measured at FVTPL — mutual PHEEERL-—REE
funds/unit trusts established in EXIZE%%i/EM
Taiwan & 1,409 137
Decrease in development and F 8% & Ak ST AR AR
formation costs 22 31
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5N EMEAFIER
other payables and deposits B iz & 3800, Ok 2)
received 496 (3,950)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEaERD (7,012) (2,532)
Increase in amount due to JEAT — B AR R 2 IR 0
a shareholder 24(b) 155 -
(Decrease)/increase in amounts ENZEZEZECRLD),
due to directors #n (1,792) 1,818
(7,272) 1,878
CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED BE (R FRES
FROM OPERATIONS (6,497) 832
Income tax paid EXNZER 30(a) (1,717) (3,429)
Income tax refunded R[E FTIS R 30(a) = 2
NET CASH USED IN CEXBFARLFHA
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (8,214) (2,595)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEFD
Purchases of property, plantand B EWE BE L&E
equipment 14 (753) (443)
Proceeds from disposal of HEwE - JFTSZ/% &4
property, plant and equipment T 15 53 15 1
Purchase of financial assets BEEAQ i@ FFAB A
measured at FVTPL — equity ECHBFEE-—NED
securities, debt instruments BIINETMZRAFES
and exchange traded funds BEHRLARRFIMEER
listed outside Hong Kong & (894,796) (197,866)
Loans advanced to independent MBI R B BN HER
companies 5(a) (6,380) -
Loans repaid by independent BUYRRIEENER
companies 5(a) 6,380 -
Proceeds from disposal of HERQTFE ABRE
financial assets measured at EZHBHREEZHBR
FVTPL — equity securities, debt TH— )3”\%? BIEIN BT 2
instruments and exchange Hx$’7¥ BB ITHER
traded funds listed outside REMEBES
Hong Kong 891,314 205,212
Placement of time deposits FREBEFER = (26,463)
Withdrawn of time deposits 12 B TE HA 17 3K - 35,990
Interest received B U F 2 5 917 932
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
fﬁui //le%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 @i::;:@i‘t’_ﬁl =t+t—HIFE

/\\/ \

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AREFIT ARET T
NET CASH (USED IN)/ BEFE(FA) B
GENERATED FROM H&F8E
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,303) 17,363
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Bl & & &
Capital contribution from BB A R FEIE R R 2
non-controlling interest A E
of subsidiaries 36(c)(vi) 610 100
Repayment of bank borrowings EBERTEE 24(b) (1,235) (1,221)
Interest paid on bank borrowings B {fR/TEE R B 24(b) (72) (96)
Repayment of lease liabilities, EEHEAE(R ? & A8
including related interests il E\) 24(b) (6.751) (6,446)
Proceeds from placing of shares, B2 & % 5 FT15 z 3B (0 &
net of transaction costs RHA) 32(a) 5,347 =
NET CASH USED IN REEEFTAEEEE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (2,101) (7,663)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE HeRIREZEEWIRD),
IN CASH AND CASH v nE g
EQUIVALENTS (13,618) 7,105
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—HBZBRE& KRR &
AT 1 JANUARY EEY 125,019 112,477
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE 4hP¥SEEXEE 2 82
RATE CHANGES (2,145) 5,437
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+Z-A=+—HZR&
AT 31 DECEMBER RIEEEEY 24(a) 109,256 125,019

The notes on pages 110 to 299 form part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
‘T E B IS R R BN T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
on 24 February 2005 in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Cayman Islands Companies Law. Its shares are listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 9 September 2009. The address
of the Company'’s registered office is The Grand Pavilion
Commercial Centre, Oleander Way, 802 West Bay Road,
P.O. Box 32052, Grand Cayman KY1-1208, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company's principal place of
business is 18/F, Ovest, 77 Wing Lok Street, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment
holding. The subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the
provision of funeral and related services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), Taiwan and Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, the PRC (“Hong Kong"),
sale of burial plots and tombstones and provision of
cemetery maintenance services in Socialist Republic of
Vietnam (“Vietnam”) and sales of advanced biotechnical
machinery and other electronic products in Hong Kong.
The Company and its subsidiaries are herein collectively
referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“"RMB"), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of United States dollar
(“USD"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest thousand,
except when otherwise indicated, which is different
from the functional currency of the Company as majority
of the Group’s transactions are denominated in RMB.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ_F
2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current

year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the 2020 Amendments
The Group has applied the 2020 Amendments for the

first time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-

current, which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within twelve
months.

clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as
current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ_F
2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the 2020 Amendments
(Continued)

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group
has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The followings are the impact of the
application of the amendments:

a) Convertible bonds with conversion options not
meeting “fixed for fixed criterion”

i) Designated at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")

The Group’s outstanding convertible bonds
include counterparty conversion options that
do not meet equity instruments classification
by applying HKAS 32. Upon the application
of the 2020 Amendments, given that the
conversion options are not equity
instruments under HKAS 32 and are
exercisable by the holders of convertible
bonds anytime, the convertible bonds as at
31 December 2023 are reclassified to current
liabilities as the holders of convertible bonds
have the options to convert (and therefore
the Group is required to “settle”) within
twelve months after the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the 2020 Amendments
(Continued)

The application of the 2020 Amendments has no other
material impact on the classification of the Group's
liabilities. The change in accounting policy does not have
impact to the Group’s profit or loss or loss per share for
the current and prior years presented. The details of the
impacts on each financial statement line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position arising from
the application of the 2020 Amendments are set out
under “Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards on the consolidated financial
statements” in this note. Comparative figures have been
restated.

There is no material impact on the classification of the
Group’s liabilities as at 1 January 2023 (i.e. the
beginning of the comparative period), as the convertible
bonds were issued by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and there is no outstanding
convertible bonds as at 1 January 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ_F

TE+Z A=t —HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FEREHEMBREEN(E
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING EUMBREEN DG E
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) ACCOUNTING Il B 2T 2 Bl R 87T & (48)
STANDARDS (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards RAFERS EMNE BT K
that are mandatorily effective for the current wEZEA S ERAMEET A (&)
year (Continued)
Impacts of application of amendments to FEREEBHKEREER EE
HKFRS Accounting Standards on the RIS ET R 45 & B 7 #R % 09 =&
consolidated financial statements &
The effects of the changes in accounting policies as a RERA-Z_ZFEITAME @ZE’J
result of application of the 2020 Amendments on the R REEHHBREARBA=ZZ
consolidated statement of financial position as at the ZTHFE+ZA=T—HIREE L
end of the reporting period (i.e. 31 December 2024) and —MBEERCBIZZ_=F ‘!’ =
the end of the immediately preceding financial year (i.e. A=+—R)&& W% &K
31 December 2023), are as follows: 2mT :
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2024
R-ZF-MmE R-T-OmE
+-H=+-—-8H +-A=+—H

(Without the
application of

the 2020
(As reported) Adjustments Amendments)
(KRFER
—E-F%F
(2] e EHE )
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AREFR AREFTR
Current liabilities REEE
Convertible bonds AR 8 5 12,754 (12,754) -
Non-current liabilities EREBER
Convertible bonds AR ES - 12,754 12,754
Net current assets MENEEFE 62,767 12,754 75,521
Total assets less current HWEERTHERE
liabilities 117,015 12,754 129,769
Net assets BEFE 103,534 = 103,534
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current

year (Continued)

Impacts of application of amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards on the

NN S e
BEEAES

M E B M
RS RT A ()

BREBHBEREERETE
AT A HEEHMBRENE

consolidated financial statements (Continued) £ (&)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2023
RZEZ=F NZEZ=4%F
+=-A=+—8 +-RA=+—8H
(As reported (Originally
and restated) Adjustments stated)
(BE2HRET]) AR (M#F275))
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Current liabilities REBERE
Convertible bonds Al E 5 14,313 (14,313) =
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Convertible bonds AR (B 5 - 14,313 14,313
Net current assets RHEEFHE 67,206 14,313 81,519
Total assets less current BEERTHER
liabilities 125,825 14,313 140,138
Net assets EEFE 108,533 - 108,533
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ_F
2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

W Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standards
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will
replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the financial
statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and disclosures in
the future consolidated financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of
HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

I\‘/_.]_\

3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

NF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

b)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort,
or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework")
except for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
b) Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
b) Business combinations (Continued)

- lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as
if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within twelve months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

NF

3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

b)

Business combinations (Continued)
Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value.

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and
no further assessment is needed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

/\\/T\

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

c)

Revenue and other income

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group
performs;

- the Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

¢) Revenue and other income (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that
is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and
presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation — Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

/\\/T\

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

c)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation — Output method
(Continued)

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right
to consideration in an amount that corresponds
directly with the value of the Group’s performance
completed to date, the Group recognises revenue
in the amount to which the Group has the right to
invoice.

Revenue from other sources and other
income

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The "effective interest rate” is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest income, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is
not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to
initial recognition, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of
interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of lease. Lease incentive granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of
the total rental income, over the term of lease.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

d) Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of
a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership
interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be
made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease

component and are accounted for by applying
other applicable standards.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

d)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

- the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

- an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on
which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
d) Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
d) Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets) whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

- the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using
the initial discount rate.

- a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.

sre M IS R W At

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

d)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from
the Group's ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

e)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

e) Foreign currencies (Continued)
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation
of the Group’'s net assets in US$ (i.e. the
Company’s functional currency) to the Group's
presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in foreign currency translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

f)

9)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the PRC government retirement
benefit scheme, pursuant to the relevant labour
rules and regulations in the PRC, the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong and defined
contribution retirement benefit plan in Taiwan and
Vietnam are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered services entitling them
to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and
when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
g) Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

h) Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions
Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

h)

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to non-employees
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
with parties other than employees are measured
at the fair value of the goods or services received,
except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
before taxation because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

i)  Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and interests in associates, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

/\\/T\

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

i)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale, except for freehold land,
which is always presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

i)  Taxation (Continued)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the
lease liabilities and the related assets separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

J)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than freehold lands and construction in
progress as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost or fair value
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings or other items of property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs
of testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property, plant and
equipment, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

I\‘/_.]_\

3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

The Group performs revaluations of freehold land
and buildings held for own use with sufficient
regularity such that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the reporting date.
Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation
of freehold land and buildings held for own use is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in properties revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognise in
profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited
to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying
amount arising on revaluation of freehold land
and buildings held for own use is recognised in
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the
balance, if any, on the revaluation reserve relating
to a previous revaluation. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
properties revaluation surplus is transferred to
accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

»

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced by end
of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item
(including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred
directly to accumulated losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost or valuation of assets other than freehold
land and construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

- freehold land is not depreciated;

- buildings situated on freehold land are
depreciated over their estimated useful life,
being no more than 50 years after the date
of completion;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
j)  Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
- The Group's interests in buildings situated

on leasehold land are depreciated over the

shorter of the unexpired term of lease and

the buildings” estimated useful lives, being

no more than 50 years after the date of

completion;
- Leasehold 3 to 10 years or over
improvements the remaining term of
the lease, if shorter
- Furniture, fixtures and 2 to 5 years

office equipment

- Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

k)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. %é%ﬁiﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%%iﬁ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

1) Intangible assets — acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

m)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets other than freehold land and buildings held
for own use, investment properties, inventories
and development and formation costs (collectively
the “Non-Financial Assets”) to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of the Non-Financial
Assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit ("CGU") to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant CGU when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the
CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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NN R e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

m) Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

/\\/T\

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

m)

n)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a
group of CGUs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position
include:

- cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

- cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of
three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N 453
15 ¥ 2R I 5
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

I\‘/_.]_\

3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

o)

p)

Development and formation costs
The development and formation costs represent
development costs incurred for a cemetery site
which will be completed for sale and are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The development costs comprise specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition cost of
land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the burial plots.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

/\\/T\

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

EREHBERER (&)

p)

M#% T A (&)
MBEERVBRABNIER
FEFE ENTREEEH
BHREERFISHKAEAR
FatmELXZE SR EFIA
@%OW%X%HM%QF&
BHaBERATFEFARR
ZCHBEELAHBABERIN)
BEREBEZRXIERATIRNZ
BRENEXNEMBEEEX
MBaBEzRFEMER) -
WEEAFESABR ZME
5?&%%%15&@%2
Z R - BV 0 18 R 0 B AR

BERFEADAERBEIEZ
MBEEXMBABEHKA
RABWRARMNERAIDEZ
HE-BENESEBMBGE
ESMBABBHAFHKON
iﬁ%ﬁi%ﬁhﬁﬁ*Xﬁ
& WA F W%%Wa@ﬂ

TR 7 & &P ZﬁEEHIE
WERLME XHRARE
s B3 8) BT R EAD
RERRK ZREFEIN K-

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

153



154

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN R e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3. &

(Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued) ERESTHRER(E)
p) Financial instruments (Continued) p) HBEIA(E)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

- the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling
the financial assets; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
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measured at FVTPL, except that at initial Bt AEm - RN EEN
recognition of a financial asset the Group may FRIEEER MU FBKES

irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN R e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED SFEUMBRIRNEHREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REXETBREE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued) ERESTHRER(E)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for debt instruments
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the

p) HHBILAGE
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financial asset from the next reporting period. SIS A E 2K
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired REAEBRMNERR -

financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
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interest income is recognised by applying the FEHBEETDT E R AE
effective interest rate to the gross carrying ERE ARAEEZE
amount of the financial asset from the ETBHBEEFEERER

beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

ZHmEMFAL MRK
AREMBEEERT &

ERABRNET AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other income

and net gains/(losses)” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables and
deposits paid and cash and cash equivalents)
which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN R e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)  Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

3. WEMBBRRNGERESE
REXETBREH (&)

/\\/T\

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p)  Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; or

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

p)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p)  Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for

economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the

borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p)  Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate
at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

- For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss; and

- For financial assets measured at FVTPL that
are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset'’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no
contractual obligation for the Group to deliver
cash or other financial assets or the Group has the
sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely
are classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Company’s own equity instruments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method or at FVTPL.

p)

(i)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL
when the financial liability is (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii)
held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at

A financial liability is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of repurchasing it in the near
term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a
portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative
that is a financial guarantee contract
or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial
liability held for trading or contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise;

the financial liability forms part of a
group of financial assets or financial
liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the
Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing
one or more embedded derivatives,
and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as
at FVTPL.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
p) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at
FVTPL, the amount of changes in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. For financial liabilities that contain
embedded derivatives, such as convertible
bonds, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in
determining the amount to be presented in
other comprehensive income. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit
risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

(i) Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings,
trade and other payables and deposits
received, lease liabilities, amounts due to
directors and a shareholder are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bonds

At the date of issue, both the debt component and
derivative components are recognised at fair value
and the convertible bonds are designated as at
FVTPL. In subsequent period, changes in fair value
are recognised in profit or loss as fair value gain or
loss except for changes in the fair value that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk (excluding
changes in fair value of the derivatives component)
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in
the credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to
the credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss, they are transferred to
accumulated losses upon derecognition.

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes interest incurred on the convertible bonds
and is presented as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Transaction costs relating to the issue of the
convertible bonds are charged to profit or loss
immediately.

When determining the classification of convertible
bonds as current or non-current, the Group
considers both the redemption through cash
settlement and the transfer of the Group's own
equity instruments as a result of exercise of
conversion options by holders as settlement of the
convertible bonds.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

p)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the
foreign exchange gains and losses are determined
based on the amortised cost of the instruments.
These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the ‘Other income and net gains/
(losses)’ line item in profit or loss as part of net
foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group's obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products or services is as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

I % K 53 &R &

(@) WEDHF
REIZTERIRBE D HRS
EFANZRBAFMT -

HE-_ZFE_-_DmWF+=ZAF

=+—HILEFE
Biotechnical
Funeral and other
services businesses Total
K
RERE REbEH @it
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT
Major products and services IRERRIRE
Funeral services and cremation services provided  AEEEE BEERBERBH D
in funeral parlous and funeral service centres — REEZ BERE R A RE
under the Group's management 67,035 - 67,035
Funeral arrangement and related consultany ~~ BEZHREEZARE
Services 3,007 - 3,007
Sales of burial plots and tombstones HEEMRER 401 - 401
Sales of biotechnical machineries and other ENHBERRANETERRE
electronic products - 4,500 4,500
70,443 4,500 74,943
Timing of revenue recognition (igati ol
At a point in time RE-RES 5,415 4,500 9,915
Over time RERER 65,028 - 65,028
70,443 4,500 74,943
Primary geographical market TERETS
The PRC l:P 67,035 - 67,035
Taiwan A 2,188 - 2,188
Hong Kong i 819 4,500 5319
Vietnam am 401 - 401
70,443 4,500 74,943
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

(Continued)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

W &5 R 53 BB & (48)

(a) W=D iIF(E)
EFZE-_=ZF+ZH

=+—HIEFE
Biotechnical
Funeral and other
Services businesses Total
EMR
BERE REMEE s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETR ARETR

Major products and services
Funeral services and cremation services provided
in funeral parlous and funeral service centres

TRERREH
AEBER BERRRERE DL
R BERBERALRE

under the Group's management 65,838 - 65,838
Funeral arrangement and related consultaney ~~ BEZHRAEHARE
services 3,103 - 3,103
Sales of burial plots and tombstones HEERRER 560 - 560
Sales of biotechnical machineries and other ENRREERENSTEREE
electronic products - 3,069 3,069
69,501 3,069 72,570
Timing of revenue recognition gt
Ata point in time RE-EREY 4,603 3,069 7672
Over time BEREED 64,898 - 64,398
69,501 3,069 72,570
Primary geographical market IEHETH
The PRC H 65,838 - 65,838
Taiwan fE 2014 - 2,014
Hong Kong o 1,089 3,069 4,158
Vietnam ] 560 - 560
69,501 3,069 72,510
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

Wt % 53 BB & 1 (48)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers
(i) Funeral services and cremation
services
The Group offers services of planning funeral
arrangement and interment, organising and
hosting of the funeral. Revenue from funeral
services is recognised when services are
provided. Except for sales of prepaid funeral
services packages offered to individuals,
payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the funeral services
are provided. Sales of prepaid funeral
services packages is sales of funeral services
based on a contract prior to death occurring.
The payment is due when the contract of
prepaid funeral services packages is signed,
which gives rise to contract liabilities at the
inception of a contract, until the revenue
recognised when the funeral service is
offered. Details of the prepaid funeral
services packages contract are disclosed in
Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(ii) Funeral arrangement and related
consultancy services
Revenue from funeral arrangement and
related consultancy services is recognised
when services are provided. Payment of the
transaction price is due immediately at the
point the funeral arrangement and related
consultancy services are provided.

(iii) Sales of burial plots and tombstones
Revenue from the sales of burial plots and
tombstones is recognised when the control
of burial plots and tombstones is transferred
to the customer, being when the right to
use of burial plots and tombstones has been
passed. Payment of the transaction price is
due immediately at the point the customer
obtains the control of the burial plots and
tombstones.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
‘T E B IS R R B T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

W &5 R 53 BB & (48)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

(iv) Sales of biotechnical machineries
and other electronic products
Revenue from sales of biotechnical
machineries and other electronic products is
recognised when the control of such
products is transferred to the customer,
being when the goods have been delivered
to the customer’s specific location.
Transportation and handling activities that
occur before customers obtain control are
considered as fulfilment activities. Following
the delivery, the customer has full discretion
over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility
when on selling the goods and bears the risk
of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. The normal credit term is 90 days
upon delivery.

Contracts with customers with unsatisfied
performance obligations on the above mentioned
revenue, have original expected duration of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

Wt % 53 BB & 1 (48)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(c) Segment information
The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines and geography. In @ manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally
to the executive directors of the Company (the
“Executive Directors”), which are the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group did not engage in any provision
of advisory service on stem cells and immunocytes.
Accordingly, the reportable segment of "Stem
cells and immunocytes and other business" was
renamed as "Biotechnical and other businesses".

Details of the reportable segments are as follows:

o Funeral services: Provision of funeral related
service, including arrangement services and
related consultancy services, provision of
funeral and cremation services and sale of
burial plots and tombstones; and

. Biotechnical and other businesses: Sales of
biotechnical machineries and other electronic
products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
‘T E B IS R R B T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

W &5 R 53 BB & (48)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(c) Segment information (Continued)

(i)

The segment information provided
to the Executive Directors for the
reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is
as follows:

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Executive Directors
monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Segment assets include all non-current assets
and current assets with the exception of
certain financial assets measured at FVTPL
and corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade and other payables and
deposits received, contract liabilities, lease
liabilities, bank borrowings, amounts due to
directors, amount due to a shareholder,
provisions and income tax liabilities
attributable to the activities of the individual
segments and borrowings managed directly
by the segments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

Wt % 53 BB & 1 (48)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(c) Segment information (Continued)

(i) The segment information provided
to the Executive Directors for the
reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is
as follows:(Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to
those segments.

Segment results represent the profit and loss
of each segment without allocation of fair
value loss on investment properties, fair
value gain/(loss) on financial assets measured
at FVTPL, fair value loss on convertible bonds
designated at FVTPL, net (impairment losses)/
reversal of impairment losses recognised
under ECL model on trade and other
receivables and deposits paid, unallocated
other income and other net gains/(losses),
unallocated head office and corporate
expenses, finance costs and income tax
expense. This is the measure reported to the
Executive Directors for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

W &5 R 53 BB & (48)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

/\\/T\

(Continued)

(c) Segment information (Continued)

(i)

The segment information provided
to the Executive Directors for the
reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is
as follows: (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

For the purpose of assessment by the
Executive Directors, the finance costs on
bank borrowings and lease liabilities were
not included in segment results while the
bank borrowings and lease liabilities have
been included in the segment liabilities.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning segment results, the Executive
Directors are provided with segment
information concerning depreciation and
amortisation (including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets), write-down of development and
formation costs, write-down of inventories,
written bank of provision for cost of services,
interest income, finance costs, fair value
gain/(loss) on financial assets measured at
FVTPL, net reversal of impairment losses/
(impairment losses) recognised under ECL
model on trade and other receivables and
deposits paid, income tax expense, and
additions of non-current assets (including
property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets) used by the segments in their
operations.
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RE ISR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. W RO EEE (&)
(Continued)

(c) Segment information (Continued) () DEER(E)

(i) The segment information provided () BE-_ZF-_WFER=
to the Executive Directors for the E-_=Z#F +=Z A
reportable segments for the years =S+ —HIEFEEHE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is FTHITEBNARE
as follows: (Continued) DEH S EERLT :

( /1 §
Segment results, assets and liabilities DEER BERA
(Continued) & (&)
Information regarding the Group's BB E-_T_UF
reportable segments as provided to the rzZZZ=%+=A
Executive Directors for the purposes of =+—H JJ: FEZER
resources allocation and assessment of DR E D BERE M
segment performance for the years ended HITESEREHEZAEH
31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out A S o a2 B K
below: mE
Year ended 31 December
BEt-R=t+-BLEE
2024 2023
Jut e 3 = e
Biotechnical Biotechnical
Funeral and other Funeral and other
services  businesses Total services businesses Total
EHHK
HRRE  RABEE @it RERE i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000
AEETRE  ARMTR  ARBIR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Segment revenue SRS
- Funeral sevices and cremation services provided in -FAEEERY
funeral parlous and funeral service centres under
the Group's management 67,035 - 67,035 65,838 - 65,838
- Funeral arrangement and related consultancy services 3,007 - 3,007 3,103 - 3,103
- Sales of burial plots and tombstones 3 401 - 40 560 = 560
- Sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronic products -ENNEERRANETERHE - 4,500 4,500 - 3,069 3,069
70,443 4,500 74,943 69,501 3,069 72,570
Segment operating profit 2,450 1,201 3,651 3873 819 4692
Other items:
Amounts included in the measure of segment operating profit:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,599) (88) (1,687) (2,003) (88) (2,091)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (4,824) - (4,824) (4,804) - (4,804)
Amortisation of intangible assets (290) - (290) (866) - (866)
Write-down of development and formation costs 969 - 969 = = =
Write-down of inventories 188 - 188 - - -
Written back of provision for cost of services 2 - 2 904 - 904
Amounts not included in the measure of segment operating profit
but regularly reported to Executive Directors:
Interest income 669 = 669 508 1 509
Finance costs (1,197) - (1,197) (1,546) - (1,546)
Fair value gain on financial assets measured as FVTPL
- - - 8 - 8
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) recognised
under ECL model on trade and other receivables and deposits
paid, net 26 (248) (22) 2,641 45 2,686
Income tax expense (2,818) (130) (2,948) (1,982) (139) 2,121)
Others:
Additions of property, plant and equipment fgmi HERRE 310 - 310 a3 - a3
Additions of right-of-use assets RERRELE 415 - 415 - - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(Continued)

(c) Segment information (Continued)

(i)

W &5 R 53 BB & (48)

(0 72 é#«l( )

The segment information provided (i) I EEMER =
to the Executive Directors for the E_-_=ZfF +=- A
reportable segments for the years =+ —HIFEEMR
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is % HITEFWARE
as follows: (Continued) DERI D EBERLT
(,.,*)
Segment results, assets and liabilities PEHERE BEKSA
(Continued) BE(E)
There are no inter-segment sales during the HE-_Z-_MWFE+=A
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). = t+t—BItFEHMED
HEHEE(ZEZ=F -
&)
The following table presents segment assets THRHFINN _ZE_WHF
and segment liabilities of the Group's K—_ZT=-_=%+=H
reportable segments as at 31 December =t —BASEEAHRE
2024 and 2023: B o & & BE K o &R
BE:
204 03
—E-ME et 2
Biotechnical Biotechnical
Funeral and other Funeral and other
services  businesses Total Services businesses Total
EMBE EMRR
BERE REMEER L BERE  RAMER it
RMB000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RWBYO0D
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Seqment assefs SBEE 208997 2,959 211,956 22319 6,169 229,368
Segment liabilities AHERE 108,147 4722 112,869 118,378 10,050 128,428
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(Continued)

(9]

Segment information (Continued)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable

WKk nEBEE(E)
(o ZH

segment revenue, profit or loss, w BEE-BERH
assets, liabilities and other items 18 B = 15k
2024 2023
—E-ME =%
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 ARETR AREFT
Revenue I 25
Total reportable segment revenue  AJ 3R & D U B HE
and consolidated revenue RiZa s 74,943 72,570
Profit or loss B
Total reportable segment KEEIREFEEZ
profit derived from Group's AREDBENEE
external customers 3,651 4,692
Fair value loss on RENMEZATE
investment properties BB 16 (748) (1,081)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial KA FE AEHHE
assets measured at FVTPL JOBEEATE
Wz (E18) 19 3,378 (4,226)
Fair value loss on convertible BEREATENARE
bonds designated at FVTPL ZABKRESRZ
ATEER 29 2,035 3,519
Unallocated other income and AABREMBAREM
other net gains/(losses) Wi/ (BB FE 314 1,667
Net (impairment losses)/reversal of AT & Bz BHEE
impairment losses recognised BRERETZ
under ECL model on: EERCREER)
/REBRREFE
— Trade receivables -B S EMHIE 6(d),
35(a) (556) 507
- Other receivables and deposits ~ — 2 i & 58 |2 6(d),
paid RS 35(a) (3,594) 2,334
Finance costs BMERAK 6(a) (1,473) (1,681)
Unallocated head office and AORBHRARARZ
corporate expenses (10,461) (13,674)
Consolidated loss before A RRBAE R
taxation (7.454) (7,943)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WS RSB E (&)
(Continued)
(c) Segment information (Continued) () DEIEXR(E)

(i) THRETH Wz 18
mn BEE-BEERHE
ftb 18 5 = ¥ 8k (4&)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable
segment revenue, profit or loss,
assets, liabilities and other items

(Continued)
2024 2023
ol el )1 - —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®ET T
Assets BE
Total reportable segment AMRESHEELE
assets 211,956 229,368
Unallocated head office and KO B &N AR EE
corporate assets
— Cash and cash equivalents —RERRESEEY 15,006 20,857
- Financial assets measured  — & A FEzt AEBZF
at FVTPL AEZHMBEE 7.716 14,532
— Other deposits paid *ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁ&
and prepayments TR KT 47 4,147
— Amounts due from — IR E %‘FZ‘“ 42
security brokers 12,695 -
— Others —H 3,206 2,803
Consolidated total assets e BERE 250,626 271,707
Liabilities Eff
Total reportable segment AmESHEERE
liabilities 112,869 128,428
Unallocated head office and RO KL A F A G
corporate liabilities
- Amount due to - —BRREZ
a shareholder IE 13,033 12,450
— Convertible bonds — Al #2 iR & 55 12,754 14,313
— Other payables — H fth JE 5 3R IE K%
and accruals i 5,003 4,620
— Others H b 3,433 3,363
Consolidated total liabilities #3& B &% 147,092 163,174
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. W R EEE (&)
(Continued)
(c) Segment information (Continued) () oZWMBEHR(E)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable (i) T#HEDEH Kz 15
segment revenue, profit or loss, Fir ﬁfé 5 ERHE
assets, liabilities and other items @IEE 2 ¥ Bk (#E)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December
BET-BA=t-DLEE
2024 2023
k- |- i 3
Total Total
reportable reportable
segment Consolidated segment Consolidated
amount  Unallocated total amount  Unallocated total
72§ B
HipEE FHE b AH4E AR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETIRT  AR%FR AREFR ARETn  ARETR  ARET:R
Other items: HEfpIER:
Amounts included in the measure 3F £ HELEF A2
of segment operating profit. £ % :
Depreciation of property, n% BERZENE
plant and equipment (1,687) (29) (1,716) (2,091) - (2,091)
Depreciation of PREAENE
right-of-use assets (4.824) (396) (5,220) (4,804) (196) (5,000)
Amortisation of intangible assets &/ & & & (290) - (290) (866) = (866)
Write-down of development 2 Je P AL A H R
and formation costs 969 - 969 - - -
Write-down of inventories FEHR 188 - 188 = = =
Written back of provision BERAERER
for cost of services 2 - 2 904 - 904
Amounts notincluded inthe  sFES BELER/(FE)
measure of segment MIAZEE MR
operating profit{loss) but BRHTEZER:
regularly reported to
Executive Directors:
Interest income FEKA 669 28 917 509 an 932
Finance costs BERA (1,197) (276) (1473) (1,546) (135) (1,681)
Fair value gain/(loss) on BATEFARRHE
financial assets measured LHABBENTE
as FVTRL s/ (58) - 33718 3378 8 (4,234) (4,226)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of ~ Z 5 R E MU ER
impairment losses recognised Bt 2 BHEE
under ECL model on trade Eif BHRATZER
and other receivables and RREER)/HE
deposits paid, net FEEORES (22) (4,128) (4,150) 2,686 155 2,841
Income tax expense HERRT (2,948) - (2,948) (2,121) (22) (2,143)
Others: Efp:
Additions of property, plant ~ RENE - BE ki
and equipment 310 43 753 43 - 443
Additions of right-of-use assets A E (FFEEE 415 947 1362 - 1,155 1,155
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

NF

B B 15 R M et

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

(Continued)

(d)

Geographic information

The following set out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue
from external customers; and (ii) the Group's
property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, right-of-use assets, intangible assets,
interest in an associate, goodwill, other receivables
and deposits paid and deposits for hire of funeral
parlours and funeral services centres (collectively
the “Specified Non-Current Assets”).

The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were
provided or the goods delivered. The geographical
locations of the Specified Non-Current Assets are
based on the physical location of the assets, in
case of property, plant and equipment. In the case
of right-of-use assets, intangible assets, interest in
an associate, goodwill, other receivables and
deposits paid and deposits for hire of funeral
parlours and funeral services centres, it is based on
the location of the operation to these assets are
allocated.

Wy 2 % 53 BB & 4 (4R)
(d) HLEEH

VAR 51 A BE()AS & B 2k 8 S
REPZWES  R(iNVANEEZ
WE - BB MEE WEME
CTREEE EBFVEE K-
RBE AR WER BE K
K FERENEEARE
REZERBERE T LZEK
T(RBIHEFRRDEED 2
ol B HY

BEPZAENE T ERREHRR
BHAREmHE - FEIF
MBEEZEMENBHEE
EMRERUEREEMNZY
X BER&E-HoERE
BE -BREE N—BEZ
NEKED  BE HMEWR
%E&EH&@M&E%E%
ERBAERBFLZERE A

Mﬁ“ﬁ&ﬁ§F2¥%%E
oL o
Revenue from Specified
external customers Non-Current Assets
KEIFERZHE HEERBEE
For the year ended As at
31 December 31 December

BE+-A=+—HILEE w+=A=+—H

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EBoNE —_T_=F ZE-_WNE —_T_=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARBTT AREBTRT AR®ETT
The PRC H B 67,035 65,838 20,450 26,109
Taiwan =0 2,188 2,014 32,663 31,618
Hong Kong B 5,319 4,158 693 712
Vietnam e 401 560 442 180
74,943 72,570 54,248 58,619

Information about major customers FEEFEH

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
revenue from any single external customer does
not amount to 10% or more of the Group's
revenue.

BE_ZT_MER-_FT_=F
T-A=1t—BLLFE #HE
KEEAE-SIREP 2Bt
EAREBEWE10% A L -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are W R AR

NN\

At

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

5. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS/ 5. HW AR E Ik (&
(LOSSES) 18)iF8
2024 2023
—E-ME B =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBETT ARET T
Other income: Hidg A :
Interest income on financial assets  H#HK AT E 2V K EE
measured at amortised cost: Z A B A
— Deposits at banks and —IRIT R RMEBTR
financial institutions 809 932
— Loans advanced to independent — A B A A B
companies (note a) B (Ff 7xa) 108 -
917 932
Rental income from investment KEMELHESEA
properties 672 325
Sundry income HIERA 420 558
2,009 1,815
Other net gains/(losses): Hibdezs (B518) %8 :
Written back of provision for cost R 7 Ak 7~ # {5 8 =1 (Ff 5£31)
of services (Note 31) 20 904
Net exchange gain/(loss) PEH W (E18)F8E 224 (146)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BELEZE
plant and equipment 2 B8 9) (2)
Loss on deregistration/strike-off g BRENBRARZEE
of subsidiaries (106) -
Gain on lease modification (Note 15) & & 2k 2 W 25 (Pt 75 15) 66 -
195 756
2,204 2,571
a) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group a) HE_ZT_NEF+-_A=+—H
advanced a total of approximately RMB6,380,000 (2023: IEFE Zli EEmM=F82NEH#

Nil) to three parties.

Of these, two parties are

independent of the Group, while another party, in which
Nanyue CB (as defined in Note 36(c)(vi)) owns 26% of
the shares, received a loan of RMB1,700,000 from the
Group. All loans to the independent parties and the
party associated with Nanyue CB were unsecured,
interest-bearing at a rate of 3.45% per annum, and had
repayment periods ranging from 0.34 to 0.62 years. All
counterparties fully repaid their loans before the end of
the reporting period. The Group recognised interest
income of approximately RMB108,000 (2023: Nil) on
these loans during the year ended 31 December 2024,
of which approximately RMB21,000 (2023: Nil) was
derived from the loan to the party associated with

Nanyue CB.
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HARH6,380,0007T(— T - =4 :
) Hh  MAABYNRAEE
MALT MEB—A(EHRRXE(E
= R EE36(c)(vi)) B HE26% M%)
A AEBMESERARE
1,700,0007C ° AT B4 T H LA L
MEEHRABERBEATHERY
BEEM  ERFRE3I45%T B K
BREAN F034F F0.624F  fF
EXSGHHRIREH KA EE
BERXR - BE_T_mE+_-A
=+t BULFEE AEEARZKSE
EXERIERKAHDARE
108,000 L( =T =4 : &)  H
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6. BR¥iAiEsIE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BREAIEBEIENER(GFA) T3
(crediting) the followings: HERBRET
2024 2023
=11 - 3 —E=%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
(a) Finance costs (a) REERL A
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBEZHNE
(Note 15) (FF5E15) 1,233 1,518
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZFE 72 96
Interest on convertible bonds BEABKRAFET A
designated at FVTPL (Note 29) BmzalkEs 2
FLE (B 5£29) 168 67
1,473 1,681
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIRA(BIEZEEEHN)
directors’ emoluments)
Salaries, wages and Fe ITEAREMEF
other benefits 31,422 33,565
Contributions to defined TE BH SR RET S R
contribution retirement plans 1,493 1,462
32,915 35,027

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6. BRPimEE(E)

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ B % BT ES 1B D &R (5FA) R B
(crediting) the followings: (Continued) HREREE (&)

2024 2023

el 11 - 2 —B_=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETT

(c) Depreciation and amortisation (c) & & i# &

Property, plant and equipment G E
(Note 14) (fF&E14) 1,716 2,091
Right-of-use assets (Note 15) RAEEE (M sE15) 5,220 5,000
Intangible assets (included in B EEGIA
administrative expenses) TR ) (M EE17)
(Note 17) 290 866
7,226 7,957
(d) Other items (d) HtIEH
Auditors’ remuneration % ELED BY &
— audit services — iR 1,062 1,040
- non-audit services — TR - 253
Cost of inventories recognised BREMZ 2 FERAE
as an expense 12,935 11,099
Rental income from investment "EYEME e WAR
properties less direct outgoing ET% AXZE
of Nil (2023: Nil) —ZEZ=F:F) (672) (325)
Lease payments for property, M BELREEE
plant and equipment not HRBE(TPETARE
included in the measurement afEzsrE)(aE15)
of lease liabilities (Note 15) 380 781
Write-down of development and 7 8 K B ST AR 7S HUR
formation costs (Note 21) (B zE21) 969 =
Write-down of inventories & & WOR (Bt 3£ 22)
(Note 22) 188 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of T &EzZEHE
impairment losses) recognised EEEEMNIET
under ECL model on: BRI EEE
SOREBEBER)
— trade receivables, net —EB S EWHKIEFE
(Note 35(a)) (P 3£ 35(a)) 556 (507)
— other receivables and deposits —H U HRIERE R
paid, net (Note 35(a)) &% %8 (Kt 5£35(a)) 3,594 (2,334)
4,150 (2,841)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

Kong Profits Tax, the first Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") 2

million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit above HK$2 million.

The Group is not subject to any taxation under the
jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands, Independent State of
Samoa (“Samoa”) and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
for both years.

EHE SEREEERE2AE

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. SGREBRFRZFEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 2023
—EME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARE T T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax REREMREH
(Note 30(a)) (Kt 5 30(a))
— current year —KREE 2,206 1,211
— under-provision in prior years —BEFEBETRE 611 793
2,817 2,004
Hong Kong Profits Tax (Note 30(a)) & /8 FI15 #% (M 5£30(a))
— current year e 123 139
— under-provision in prior years - BEFEEETR 8 =
131 139
Total Bt 2,948 2,143
Notes: Bt 2
(a)  Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong (@) IRBEEEFEHE /ARG F S B

B ([ Ir]) 24 7 #5352 8.25%5T
B MBE2E BB T2 iR
16.5%&1 B o 75 & /4R | 715 Bt
RXHEZEBRER /ﬁﬂﬂ%%&jﬁ%
R — T R 16.5%=T 5 o B I
EREEBTENETBFL %.‘mm
AERBEEF N E2E BB LA
HBE825%  MBBE2EEBITH
HEtERFEF AB16.5% °

AEBERMESESHEGRRF
SRS BETBIE(EERS])

REBRZEE(RBRELES])
BERE R 2 EAFLIE ©

hEEREBEARARN —T-_NFFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

7. ZEEBERZMEHRE)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0) During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, all
subsidiaries operating in the PRC are subject to
Enterprise Income Tax rate at 25% in accordance with
the Law of the PRC on Enterprises Income Tax.

(d)  Bau Shan Life Science Technology Co., Ltd. (“Bau
Shan”), a direct subsidiary of the Company, and Bu Lao
Lin Limited (“BLL"), which is an indirect subsidiary of the
Company, are subject to Taiwan Enterprise Income Tax
at 17% (2023: 17%) on taxable profits determined in
accordance with the Income Tax Act and other relevant
laws in Taiwan. No provision for Taiwan Enterprise
Income Tax has been made as Bau Shan has accumulated
tax losses brought forward which exceed the estimated
assessable profits for the year, and BLL has no assessable
profits for both years.

(e) Bao Son Life Company Limited (“Bao Son Life”) and
Hoan Loc Viet Duc Hoa Corporation (“HLV Duc Hoa"),
indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
are subject to Vietnam Corporate Income Tax at 20%
(2023: 20%) on taxable profits determined in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations in Vietnam. No
provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been
made as Bao Son Life and HLV Duc Hoa have no
assessable profits for both years.
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HE-_ZT_HWNFR-_T=Z=F
+ZA=+—ALFE AR
FRELEEZHNBARBERERH
D ERB AL 25%M = 840
EMEH -

ARREEMBARELEmR
BROERARDTE LD RAA
AEEHBA ﬁ&T%Mﬁ@“
AT REMNR])BERE A & S
K H MR BE R &@%mm
FE17% (ZFE == :17%)
MEBLEXMBH -BHREWLAR
FEARNMNENHEEBEIEBEE
STERBEERN BETEMRRE
FEHNERRB RN BUHMEH
BECEMBSHELBE

ARalzEEIEZEHERBR
AELEDETERAE(E WL
4 #p |) FHoan Loc Viet Duc Hoa
Corporation ([HLV Duc Hoal) 7B 1R
BUBmEEEZERERBEECE
BRBLHE M IR20% (T = = F:
20%) 2 TR MM R TS -
B 7 B 1L 4 &5 &HLV Duc Hoai M
BEFEEHERRT A - ﬁﬁﬁ
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. SZSERRZIHABHB(E)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and BERBEFEZ2MEHERAI RS
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: STEECHE
2024 2023
—T-lmE o=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREET T
Loss before taxation R 5 Al /&S 18 (7,454) (7,943)
Notional tax on loss before REBARBREER A
taxation, calculated at the rates &5 18 i A B K 5
applicable to loss in the tax BRIAIE R E
jurisdictions concerned ZEmiiIa (1,235) (1,382)
Under-provision of PRC Enterprise ~ #BAFEH B X5
Income Tax in prior years BETE 611 793
Under-provision of Hong Kong BAEFERBNER
Profits Tax in prior years BESE 8 =
Tax effect of non-deductible PRI A 2 MG &
expenses 3,743 4,637
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEARTBRA R G E (344) (2,234)

Tax effect of tax losses not

AERRBEBBZIRMETE

recognised 486 451
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss FHELAEHBEEEZ

brought forward M (196) (119)
Tax concession HEER (125) (3)
Actual tax expense ERHIER 2,948 2,143
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EEFMM
RABREBCA T IEHI)E 3831 I R(A

A(RBEESMEZER)RPIDE 23
REATHRBEZCESHFMMOT :

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024
BEZ-F-MET-R=t+-DLEE

192

Retirement
Salaries and benefit
allowances Discretionary scheme
Name of directors ESliE Fees (Note i) bonuses contributions Total
FaREH BHERH
e (t3H) ok g SEIBR @t
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFTR ARETT AREFR ARETRT
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (" Mr. Liu") AR EE(BIEL] 1,008 577 53 = 1,638
Mr. Xu Jianchun (" Mr. Xu") FREEE(HELED 1,415 - - - 1,415
Independent non-executive directors  BUH#H{TEE
Mr. Chai Chung Wai (“Mr. Chai") ~ ERERE(ELE]) 65 - - - 65
Dr. Yang Jingjing (“Dr. Yang") BEERL(HBEL] 55 - - - 55
Ms. Hu Zhaohui (“Ms. Hu") HE E?Ciﬁﬁﬁ(i ) 56 - - - 56
2,599 571 53 - 3,229
Year ended 31 December 2023
HEZSZ=EFA=1-HLFRE
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
allowances Discretionary scheme
Name of directors EEfA Fees (Note i) bonuses contributions Total
FeREY RICEH
He RD) BERL TEER FeR)
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i3 ARETT ARETFT ARETTL ARETT ARETT
Executive directors #EE
Mr. Liu Axk 1270 573 i3 - 1916
M. Xu TrRE 1357 - - = 1357
Dr. Xu Qiang ("Dr. Xu") pERL(BEL) (il 36 = = = 36
Independent non-executive  BUFHATEE
directors
Mr. Chai Erk 63 - - - 63
Dr. Yang BEL 54 - - - 54
Ms. Hu Bnt i) 31 - - - 31
Mr. Sun Fei ("Mr. Sun”) EREE(REE] (iv) 14 - - - 14
2,825 573 73 - 3471
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

8. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to
executive directors are generally emoluments paid or
payables in respect of those persons’ other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

(ii) Resigned on 31 August 2023.
(i) Appointed on 7 June 2023.

(iv)  Resigned on 3 April 2023.

No director of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments and no emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for both years.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the directors of the
Company did not hold any share option under the
Company’s share option scheme. The details of the
share options are disclosed in Note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

8.

EEHMER)
it

i) XNRTEENHFE RRRE
MR -—BRIBINRENZE
ATRARRAREMBRARNE
BEBMRERNEMREOME -

iy MZZE_=FNA=+—HEE-
(iii) ﬁé\:giffﬁ/\ tEZ§§1§'K°
vy R-E-_=FWNA=HHE-

RAEFE ARRBMEESFTHER
SRBEMEEFAFH - AEE M
BERTAESXNHAENFINER
MAKRIMAR KB 2 5E) - =
TERBERARE -

RZE_WNEFEER_ZT_=ZF+_A
=+ —H AQRAESTEREAR
NEIERERTEIIE T 2 E B -
BRI 2 F B A B SR M 5E
433 = o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. ZhEEEHES
Of the five employees with the highest emoluments, two TFEEmBEERREME(ZZ
(2023: two) are directors of the Company whose TZF WMAB)ARRNBEE  HEHEN
emoluments are disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated RiFE M BHmEMASKE - HiH
financial statements. The aggregate of the emoluments —H(ZEZ=F  ZR)EaFE
of the remaining three (2023: three) employees are as BrHM@aEmT :
follows:
2024 2023
—ET-ME —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBFT ARETT
Salaries, allowances and other e ZREERHEMER
benefits 2,836 3,480
Discretionary bonuses ) 15 7€ 41 94 139
Contributions to retirement benefit iR K42 51 2] 1 3%
scheme 13 12
2,943 3,631
The emoluments of the three (2023: three) employees —R(ZE=F: =R )EaFE
with the highest emoluments are within the following BZHMNFTHEE -
bands:
2024 2023
—E-ME 2=
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAH E8 A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7% JT 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 % 7t 2,000,000
BT 1 3
3 3

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
any of the three (2023: three) highest paid employees as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10. HithZmEU =
There was no tax effect on each component of the other RWEFERN - &5 &REEMm
comprehensive income for both years. PHBEXIMEZE -
11. LOSS PER SHARE 1. BiREE
2024 2023
—E-E —E =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTF T
Loss: &5 18:
Loss for the year attributable to ARFTESRERNEREZ
owners of the Company for the RNARHER AEMN
purpose of basic loss per share FEEIE (8,699) (7,173)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary E@EEA B S E
shares
— Interest on convertible bonds —ABRESZFE 168 67
— Fair value loss on convertible — AR ESZ
bonds NEEEE (2,035) (3,519)
Loss for the year attributable to AR ESREEEE 2
owners of the Company for the NAE B AEG
purpose of diluted loss per share FEEIE (10,566) (10,625)
2024 2023
—T-lmE —T_=%
(Restated)
(gE5)
Number of shares (note i): Bz 1n 88 B (B &%)
Weighted average number of shares FIR it E SR A KEIE 2
for the purpose of basic loss per & 17 hn 4 S 39 2
share 91,795,082 79,832,877
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary & i B% /& 7% # & 5 £
shares
— Convertible bonds — AR B 5 14,412,698 5,646,619
Weighted average number of shares FIR T E &R E# FEIE 2
for the purpose of diluted loss HXT HN 4 S 39 £ (B i)
per share (note ii) 106,207,780 85,479,496
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

11.

12.

13.

LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

Notes:

) The weighted average number of ordinary shares and
the effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares for the
year ended 31 December 2023 has been restated to
reflect the effect of the share consolidation with effect
from 14 October 2024 as if they happen on 1 January
2023 (Note 32(b)).

ii) For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the
exercise of share options because the share options had
an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Employees of the Group’s PRC and Vietnam subsidiaries
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme administrated and operated
by the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC
and Vietnam subsidiaries are required to make
contributions to scheme based on certain percentage of
the relevant portion of the payroll of all qualifying
employees in accordance with the relevant regulations
in the PRC and Vietnam respectively. The contributions
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group is also required to participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes administered
and operated by Bureau of Labour Insurance of Taiwan
for employees employed in Taiwan. Under the scheme,
the employers are required to make contributions to the
scheme at 6% of the employees’ relevant income.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

13. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(Continued)

The Group has arranged its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earning as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with the
retirement benefit schemes beyond the contribution
described above.

The Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF
Scheme and its defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes in the PRC, Vietnam and Taiwan which may be
used to reduce the existing level of contributions during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). There
were also no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future contributions at the end of the reporting period
(2023: Nil).

13. B KB FIEH &I (&)

AEBERRBRELBRERBGL 2 AX
R RIRE L R B QTR S5 8K
PIZEEEFrEMZEAREREMAR
BB E(TRERFE]) -
BB S8 R ERHEFORAKG S
HEBVERAEE -REBESF
g A ERTE SR SRR E AN
SE(EXZ)REEEBRASBER
BEWAZ5%MZat 8 EH MR -
BEKREES AHIKIA1500% T
RLER - ZAIEB MR- &8 H
FRENEY 578

R B RO AEEY BEMHE
fi B2 b ot 3R PR AR A EF 2 AR B 2 R AR
BANRZERNEME -

BE_FT_WNF+-_A=1+—AL
FE AEFERREFEIRER
TR Bk BN ERERERAK
BAFEETEEATARRSEEA
HHFKFZERBER(ZF =5
&) o NS MR MED R KHERK
AHIABARRER(ZB_=F : &) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE—
14.

T

=

T_ME+-A=1t—HLFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y%  -BERRE

(a) (a)
Freehold land
and buildings Furniture,
held for own fixtures
use carried at Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
fair value improvements  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
i =L
THAFHE
SIkZ
VEL b ] B KER
RigF HERE BAZRR RE EBIR @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREBTT AR%TT ARETR ARETR  ARETR
Cost or valuation BASHE
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=f-f-H 26,813 17,602 16,825 4824 98 66,162
Exchange adjustments ERELS 1,176 162 215 118 3 1677
Additions RE - - 443 - = 443
Disposals e - = (57) = = (57)
Written off i - (980) (178) (57) - (1815)
Surplus on revaluation, net ERBEE 1430 - = - - 1430
Less: Elimination of accumulated B RHMEHH
depreciation (461) - - - - (461)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=ZF
tZA=1-H 28,958 16,784 16,648 4,885 104 67,379
Representing: 0
Cost AR - 16,784 16,648 4,885 104 38421
Valuation - 2023 fhE--%-=% 28,958 - 28,958
28,958 16,784 16,648 4,885 104 67379
At 1 January 2024 RZE-mE-A-H 28,958 16,784 16,648 4,885 104 67,379
Exchange adjustments EiAE (704) ") (99) 1 3) (876)
Additions nE - - 428 923 232 753
Disposals & - - (227) (651) - (878)
Written off i §: - (3.117) (1,296) - - (4,413)
Surplus on revaluation, net ERBRFE 3,032 = S = = 3,032
Less: Elimination of accumulated B RHMELH
depreciation (459) - - - - (459)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-RE
TZA=t-H 30,827 13,596 15,454 4,328 333 64,538
Representing: i
Cost [ - 13,596 15,454 4,328 333 33
Valuation - 2024 HE-ZZ-mF 30,827 - - - - 30,827
30,827 13,596 15,454 4,328 333 64,538
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ % R RRE(E)
(Continued)

(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Freehold land
and buildings Furniture,
held for own fixtures
use carried at Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
fair value improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
KiEER
LRAFE
Sl
KAg#LH GH - RER

R#F  RERE BLEZRG RE  EBIE it
RMBOOD  RMBO0D  RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMB'0D
ARETE  ARETR ARETn  ARETR  ARETR ARET:

Accumulated depreciation and EHNERAERR
impairment losses

At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-HA-H - 16,960 14,912 2,102 - 34,574
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 162 185 % - a3
Charge for the year REEXH 461 433 610 587 - 2,091
Witten off 8 = (980) (778) (57) - (1,815)
Elimination on disposals HERHH - = (54) = = (54)
Elimination on revaluation EfiREHH (461) - - - - (461)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=f

+-B=1-H - 16,575 14,875 3,328 - 34,778
At 1 January 2024 R-F-NE-A-H - 16,575 14,875 3328 - 34,778
Exchange adjustments ExAE - ) (89) (16) = (176)
Charge for the year REERH 459 - 665 592 - 1,716
Written off - 3,117 (1,296) - - (4,413)
Elimination on disposals - - (221) (627) - (854)
Elimination on revaluation (459) - - - - (459)
At 31 December 2024

TZA=1-H - 13,387 13,928 3,217 - 30,592

Carrying value Kak

At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE

+ZA=+-H 30,827 209 1,526 1,051 333 33,946
At 31 December 2023 i

+-B=1-H 28,958 209 1,773 1,557 104 32,601

TEHEEDEBAERAE —F-HFFR 199
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE ISR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% -G E &R & (E)
(Continued)

(b) Had the revalued freehold land and buildings held (b) MEEGHF[IEERZ KAERE
for own use been carried at cost less accumulated TH R EF T ARCASR 25T T
depreciation, the carrying value would have been: EFR FREEHSZSOET

2024 2023
—E-lE =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Freehold land and buildings BIEERZKAER
held for own use T RETF 19,055 19,673

(c) Fair value measurement of properties () ME*EzZRFEFE
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i) R-FEER

The following table presents the fair value of TEREINRH|EBHRE

the Group's properties measured at the end BKEHEEEFENERE

of the reporting period on a recurring basis, MEHRNTFE &
categorised into the three-level fair value REBHBHREERNE
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value 13~ FlEGTEEED

Measurement. The level into which a fair “BRAFEEHF - AT

value measurement is classified is determined BEfEEENERLES

with reference to the observability and R CRERs R R R =0k
significance of the inputs used in the AENAHEUEREE
valuation technique as follows: MEENAT :

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured . F—ERHE: RN
using only Level 1 inputs, that is, E—EWAEF=E
unadjusted quoted prices in active ANEEBERE
markets for identical assets or liabilities EXBERFGEAR
at the measurement date. 15 )& BB T 35 ) K 79

BWE-

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured . F_EMHE: AEF
using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable —[E & AE(T 3E
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and FEEZAUERE
not using significant unobservable AB)FFEAFE -
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs B E 8 A B 2 7] &R
for which market data are not R ARAE —[E
available. B AE T B R

N EW I
HEANE2E 2R
AfE °

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured . F=EMHE: A&

using significant unobservable inputs. ZHA A ERE A
B2 ATE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ % R RRE(E)
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of properties () MEZAFEFTEZ(E)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () XFEERGE)

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2024 categorised into

RZB-ME+=ZA=+-H2

ATEHENER
Fair value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-B-mE
+ZA=1-8
ZAFE -8B %8 EZE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETFR ARETR ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement EEMATEE

Freehold land and buildings KAEELHR
- Taiwan BF-RE 29,156 - - 29,156
Buildings - The PRC BF-HHE 1,671 - - 1,671

30,827 - - 30,827

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2023 categorised into

RZE-=%+-fA=+-Hz

ATEHENER
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZBZ=%
+-A=1+-8
ZAYE F-E £ Z=E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Recurring fair value measurement & & AT A £

Freehold land and buildings KAEELHR
- Taiwan BF-R/E 27,254 - - 27,254
Buildings - The PRC BF-HH 1,704 - - 1,704
28,958 - - 28,958
During the years ended 31 December 2024 REBEZE_ZT_MFR -
and 2023, there were no transfers between = ‘l’ —A=+—
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out BEFE E—EHFE
of Level 3. The Group's policy is to recognise ZEz M@ EER IR
transfers between levels of fair value mEAE=EB8E=
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting el A& H ,ZEEQ
period in which they occur. RRMEBRRRATERE

AR 2 [ 3R 8RR
BERER -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e RS Rk I Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of properties

(Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The Group's freehold land and buildings
held for own use as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 were revalued and the valuations
were carried out by APAC Appraisal and
Consulting Limited (“APAC"). APAC are
independent qualified professional valuers
with recent experience in the location and
category of properties being valued. The
Company’s directors have discussed with
APAC on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation are
performed at each interim and annual
reporting date.

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Valuation techniques

hER A

14. Y% B ER#REER)

(i) RAFEERE)
RZZE-_MWEE=F
—=F#+-A=+—H

AEERFEBRHZ KA
XTI REBFHEE
i HEAZAKGHER
BEAERAR(EKR]D
ET DARY LA fh
BYEMELRERNA
M ELRZBYE
ERAEEMN - EEEAP
BRFREHRSBHBET
fHERF ARAESFD

8255 K .J am 1t 1B 1R &8
ENERCES
(il BEEF=FFHET
BzH a‘—/
Unobservable input Range
FIHEHAE L
2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

Freehold land and buildings - Taiwan ~ Direct comparison approach

KAFELHRET-0E BEENBE
Buildings - The PRC Direct comparison approach
BF-hE BEENBE

The fair value of properties held for own use
located in Taiwan and the PRC is determined
by using direct comparison approach with
reference to the market price of comparable
properties and adjusted for building quality,
location of the properties and timing of the
reference transactions. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the
property-specific adjustment rate. There has
been no change on the valuation technique
during the year.
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Property-specific adjusting rate ~ (30%) to 10%  (30%) to 16%
NEEEARE (B0%)E10%  (30%)% 16%

Property-specific adjusting rate ~ (5%) to 10% (7%) to 10%
NEEEARE BRE10%  (1%Z10%

Reghk+tBERERR
ZWMEZAFETER
BEEEREEE B2
ZEAHEBMEZTE
IHESEXZHGZ2ETE
B MERMEHNEBE
HAB A TFEFER
ERYERAEL XN
M- RNAFE BHEK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B 15 R M et

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.

(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, the movements in the balances of
these Level 3 fair value measurements are as

ME - B E R &R

() ME2ZRXFVEE(E)

(i) BEEEF=EFHE
BZEF(E)
REBEE_ET_NWFEK =
T_=F+-A=+—
EIU:EF FHE=E

follows: ANFEHSEBBH M
T
Freehold
land and
buildings-  Buildings -
Taiwan The PRC Total
KAEH#
THREF BF
-RE ~fE Eoh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETE
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—F—H1 25,175 1,638 26,813
Depreciation charge for the year KEERERY (165) (296) (461)
Exchange adjustments EXAR 1,176 - 1,176
Surplus on revaluation EffRH
—recognised in other comprehensive  — R EM 2 E K
income, included in “properties STATHEEREE
revaluation reserve” 1,068 362 1,430
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H 27,254 1,704 28,958
At 1 January 2024 W-ZE-W&E—HF—H 27,254 1,704 28,958
Depreciation charge for the year TEERERY (163) (296) (459)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (704) = (704)
Surplus on revaluation EftRH
- recognised in other comprehensive  — REM 2 ANERR
income, included in “properties SATEERFEE
revaluation reserve” 2,769 263 3,032
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-_mFE+-A=+—H 29,156 1,671 30,827

Effect of foreign currency exchange
differences of freehold land and buildings
held for own use are recognised in other
comprehensive income in “foreign currency
translation reserve”.

FIEBRMKAEREL
REFZINEERE
ENFERNEL K]
Z B A2 m U S R o

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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AR e RS Rk I Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

(d) The carrying amount of freehold land and (d)
buildings held for own use pledged as security for
the Group’s bank borrowings was approximately
RMB26,192,000 (2023: RMB24,377,000) (Note
28) as at 31 December 2024.

(e) No impairment loss on property, plant and (e)
equipment has been provided for both the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(f) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s freehold (f)
land in Taiwan amounting to approximately
RMB810,000 (2023: RMB809,000) was under trust

arrangements.

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

14. Y% B ER#REER)

R-E-_WUFEF+_A=+—H"
EERAEALAEERITEER
HomzBIEBARKAEREL
HMEEFHNEREELABARE
26,192,000 L(Z T - =4 A
R 24,377,000 7T) (Fff 5£28) °

BHE_Z_NEFER-ZT=_=F
+_A=+—BILREFE -
MERYE - WE RZREFIE
AR o

RZZE-ZWME+=ZA=+—8"
AEBRBREELELHER G EF
B2 XKAERLHOABARE
810,000 t(Z T -=F: AR
# 809,000 7T ) °

15. FHIESE

Prepaid Leased
leasehold lands properties Total
ERHEEL HEYME st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT
At 31 December 2024 R-ZF-mNE+=-HA=+-—H
Carrying amount RHE 2,400 12,201 14,601
At 31 December 2023 R_ZE_=F+-A=+—H
Carrying amount REE 2,469 16,619 19,088
For the year ended BEZE-T-MmE
31 December 2024 +-A=+—-BLEEE
Depreciation charge TERX 67 5,153 5,220
For the year ended BE_ZT_=F
31 December 2023 TZA=t—HILFE
Depreciation charge TERX 67 4,933 5,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

15. EHESEE(R)

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

The Group holds lands of which the Group is the
registered owner of the lands, including the whole or
part of undivided share in the underlying lands. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the lands
from its previous registered owners, and there are no
ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

For both years, the Group leases various offices and
properties for its operation. Lease contract is entered
into for fixed term of 1.22 to 19.92 years (2023: 2 to
19.92 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of
the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had additions of right-of-use assets of approximately
RMB1,362,000 (2023: RMB1,155,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had lease modification and recognised gain on lease
modification of approximately RMB66,000 (2023: Nil).

it

(i)

(iii)

AEBERZT(BREERELM
2HXBLLTADENGDE) 2 ERL
EEAN - AEBEERBEEAE
THEBARBZ L XN —FB
J”EH% MR % £ 1 & 2 165K
BARFBEED K-

IR (E CAKEEEZ E B
’“*&%%Mﬁ** = A:
HEAMNMBEEHRR /1.222
19.92F (=T = = F:2%19.92
F) o BB IRE R EERER I
BENRGREGE REER
HRFE AT HEBR KB
AEBEEEAANNERLEE
& A9 T 58 b BT B HAR o

HE—_Z-_mF+=-A=+—H
tFE AEEEREFRESE
E X AR ¥1,362,000t( = &
— =% : AR#¥1,1550007T) °

HE-_FT-_mN&F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - zkgl{’ﬁmfﬁiﬂkaﬁzjt
BAAEBERZREZHNARE
66, 00075(_7_5¢ =) o

PEASEEERAT —S-MEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 15. EREEEE)
The analysis of the carrying value of right-of-use assets REBEENENE D 2ERAEE
by class of underlying asset is as follows: ENEEE>NTOT :
2024 2023
—F-mE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T
Ownership interests in leasehold Fler B EH AT B 888
lands carried at amortised cost BRARDIER 2 A E T2
with remaining lease term of: FrEfEm -
— Between 10 and 50 years —10&504F 2,400 2,469
Leased properties carried at THE Y E LT ER AT R
depreciated cost, with remaining BFSBERN F1.14%£2.82
terms between 1.14 and 2.82 years F (=T~ =4 :
(2023: 0.5 to 3.42 years) 0.5F3.42%F) 12,201 16,619
14,601 19,088
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases ERRNBRE AR cHE ZMXA
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BT :
2024 2023
—E-WmE =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use 1ZiEEEEEFIEH 2~
assets by class of underlying asset FRHBEEFTER X
(Note 6(c)): (P 5E6(c)) -
— Ownership interests —MHELTH A REER
in leasehold lands 67 67
— Leased properties —MHEME 5,153 4,933
5,220 5,000
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGZHE
(Note 6(a)) (K¥ 3 6(a)) 1,233 1,518
Lease payments for property, ME - HERZEHEEMNK
plant and equipment not (Tt AHEAGBZFTE)

included in the measurement
of lease liabilities (Note 6(d)):
— Expenses relating to short-term — G HITA SRR Y R X

leases 367 773

(Bt 3L 6(d))

— Expenses relating to leases —HEEBEEEEHE
on low-value of assets, HENHAS T8
excluding short-term leases REEEERBES
of low-value assets 13 8

380 781
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 15.

Cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the consolidated

HE IE% i

statement of cash ARG

ERESER)

EE/MLE?%ZfEEi% B

flows for leases comprise the following: FEUATEIE
2024 2023
—EF-MEF —T-=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T T
Within operating cash flows KEHSRE (380) (781)
Within financing cash flows BHEHERE
— repayment of principal of —EEHEEREAEH S
lease liabilities (5,518) (4,928)
— repayment of interest of —ERHEEAERNE
lease liabilities (1,233) (1,518)
(6,751) (6,446)
(7,131) (7,227)
These amounts relate to the following: ZECHENTEERR
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T T
Lease rental paid ERNEEHS (7,131) (7,227)

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_F
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

—mE+=A=+—BIEE
16. &Y E

2024 2023
—g-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARET T

At fair value

At 1 January 5,245 6,132
Exchange adjustments (105) 194
Fair value adjustment to FABERI AT EHE

profit or loss (748) (1,081)
At 31 December R+=—H=+—8H 4,392 5,245

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment
properties in Taiwan amounting to approximately
RMB3,288,000 (2023: RMB3,901,000) were held under

trust arrangements.

Fair value adjustment on investment properties is
recognised in the separate line item as “
on investment properties” on the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’'s investment properties measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement.
The definitions of Level 1,
valuations are disclosed in Note 14(c)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Fair value loss

Level 2 and Level 3

RZTE_WOMEF+_A=+—H &K
EEREEETHEREEEAEZE
EYEL B ANRE3288,000m (=
T-_=%: AR%3,901,0007T) °

BREMEAFENHABRGESESR
REMEZEKRaRORENELZ
NFEEEBR|I REANRER -

REWEZNFHEFE

(i) RAFEER
TREVRNMERARILLE T
AEGFENAEBRENED
AT E BEARBEEUBRE
EHE13R A FHEGTETE
M= AFEER- %*
F_ERE-ZEHENR
4R A BT R R M R 14(c) ‘:PTBZ

E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. EYME(E)

Fair value measurement of investment REWMHEZAFEETFEE)
properties (Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) RXFEERGE)

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2024 categorised into
RZB-ME+-A=+-HZ

ATEGEDES
Fair value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-B-ME
+=A=+-
BZA¥E F—E 5B $=E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTFT AREFRT ARETRT ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement &H#AFH &

Investment properties REME
— Taiwan -5 3,288 = = 3,288
~ The PRC —HE 1,104 - - 1,104

4,392 = = 4,392

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2023 categorised into

R-Z_=fF+-A=t—-RHZ

AYEGFENEE
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-ZE-=F
TZRA=t-
AZA¥E £ iy EZE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement &H M AFHi &

Investment properties REME

- Taiwan =y 3,901 - - 3,901

- The PRC —HE 1,344 - - 1,344

5,245 - - 5,245

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and REBEE-ZZE_NEFR-_T=-=
2023, there were no transfers between Level 1 F+=A :‘1’ HIEFE  $
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The —EHEFE_|E s HIEER
Group's policy is to recognise transfers between NEEAZF=-"EXEE=EE
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the il $%l2ﬂ(ﬁﬁﬁ’\\¥fi%,ﬁﬁ
reporting period in which they occur. NATAEE R 2 FHIRE R

HRBEMEER -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. EYE(E)

Fair value measurement of investment REMEZ N FEFTE(E)
properties (Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) XFEERGE)
The Group's investment properties as at 31 AEBZREMER-_ZT -
December 2024 and 2023 were revalued and the FRZEZ=FF+ZA=1+—
valuations were carried out by APAC. APAC are HEETEM HEHRDIANE
independent qualified professional valuers with T - DARAYE LS EDEMR
recent experience in the location and category of AN ARBAELSR 2
property being valued. The Group's directors have BAERGER - E5@F
discussed with APAC on the valuation assumptions HRFERE ARETEER
and valuation results when the valuation is $El%$aiﬁiﬁﬁ7&§ﬁﬁfﬁfﬁ
performed at each interim and annual reporting R KB4
date.
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (il BEBEFEF=ELFHEITE
measurements BEH
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
EERRE TUREHAE &R
2024 2023
“E-mE “T-CE
Freehold land - Taiwan Direct comparison approach  Property-specific adjusting rate (1.6%) to 20% (0.5%) to 25%
KARELH -2 B EREBE MEETHEX (1.6%)E20%  (0.5%)%25%
Land and buildings - The PRC Direct comparison approach Property-specific adjusting rate (5%) to 10% (7%) to 10%
T REF-TH ERLBA MERTHEX (5%)Z10% (7%) % 10%
The fair value of investment properties is REWMEZAFEDNFERERE
determined by using direct comparison approach B EETE E2EAHER
with reference to the market price of comparable MEITE  UHDEZFRE
properties and adjusted for location and size of R ERELFAE - A FEE
the properties. The fair value measurement is EHARYFRELEERA -
positively correlated to the property-specific RAFE @ [HERITTESES -

adjusting rate. There has been no change on the
valuation technique during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

7. BREE

Computer
Trademark system Total
[:F ERE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTT ARBTT
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ_=%—H—H 19 4,416 4,435
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 8 B - 58 58
At 31 December 2023 RZTB_=F
+—-_A=+—H 19 4,474 4,493
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-_WE—H—H 19 4,474 4,493
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 38 B - (35) (35)
At 31 December 2024 R-_F_WF
+=-—A=+—H 19 4,439 4,458
Accumulated amortisation 2 5t &4
At 1 January 2023 R—E-_=F—H—H 17 3,260 3,277
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 B - 58 58
Charge for the year FE R - 866 866
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%
+=-A=+—H 17 4,184 4,201
At 1 January 2024 RZZFEZWE—H—H 17 4,184 4,201
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 B - (35) (35)
Charge for the year F kR - 290 290
At 31 December 2024 R-ZF-_WF
+=ZA=+—8 17 4,439 4,456
Carrying value IREE
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME
+Z-A=+—H 2 - 2
At 31 December 2023 R-ZTB_=F
+=-—A=+—8 2 290 292
Trademark and computer system have finite useful life REREKAEGEBRACHASE -
and are amortised on a straight-line basis basic over its IT&E%&%/E’ BB E 5 AT 62 A
estimated useful life of 2 to 10 years respectively. FH2E10F#4H -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18. R—EEBEATMER

2024 2023
—FIWNE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARET T

Cost of investment in an associate & & R — B & 2 &) A K A - -
Share of loss from an associate E(h—EB & QREIE - -

The following list contains the particulars of an
associate, which is an unlisted corporate entity whose
quoted market price is not available:

TRIHERIFLTARNERAEYLE
MISHRE 2 —FHERRNFIS

Form of business  Place of Registered Paid-up
Name structure establishment  capital capital Group's effective interest  Principal activities
E1: EBRERL MBI HBEF BREX SEERER TEEH
2024 2023
—¥-ME -—T-=F
Foshan Zhougong Intelligent Established PRC RMB6,000,000 Nil (note (i)) 29.21% 29.21%  Not yet commenced
Technology Co., Ltd. (note (ii) ii)) (2023: RMB6,000,000)  (2023: Nil (note (i))) business
("Foshan Zhougong")
BUTEIEREMRERLRA BRI Gk AR ¥6,000,0007C (W) 2921% 29.21% HARKRES
(P &RG) ~ i) (T ILET)) (Z%z=f% (z%==
AR %6,000,0007T) E\Wu‘f(l)))
Notes: B 5

(i) Registered capital of the entity was not paid-up at the
end of the reporting period.

(ii) Zhongke Zhenhui (Guangdong) Medical Technology
Company Limited* (FARIZE2(BR)ERRKEBRAF)
("Zhongke Zhenhui”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company with effective interest of
71.25%, holds 41% equity interest of Foshan Zhougong
directly.

(iiiy ~ For identification purpose only.

The above associate is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

i) ERENIMEARBEHRER
B -

(i) ARAMEEFRZEHBAAFRE
ZE(ER)EEZREEGRAA(H
BZEZ2 BHEERER71.25%)
BHESABIUE T Z41 %M %E-

(i)  EHBH -

AL ERRAERERNEE
BRARK -

E
55



hkﬁestothe(DOHSOMXHGdlﬁnanc@JSHﬂen&%ﬂs

NN B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

19. MAFEFAERTEZ

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED FVTPL

MEBEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —EFE=F
RMB’000 RMB 000
ARETR AR®ET T
Mutual funds/unit trusts established R&ER I 2 HEHES
in Taiwan (note (i)) B {7 {3 5E (P 3EG)) 31,657 33,963
Listed outside Hong Kong for REBBINETIEEERS
trading purpose (note (ii)) (B 7EGi))
— Equity securities — AR E 7,519 12,448
— Exchange traded funds —RHGMEBES 197 2,084
39,373 48,495

Notes:

(i)

According to the Mortuary Service Administration Act (7&
ZEEIEIEH) in Taiwan, which was first promulgated on
17 July 2002 and further amended on 1 July 2003 and 4
July 2007, the Group has to deposit 75% of the gross
receipt of each funeral services deed entered into after
31 July 2003 in financial institutions in Taiwan as trust
monies.

The trust monies have been invested, in mutual funds
and unit trusts in Taiwan, which were managed by fund
managers of these financial institutions in Taiwan. The
mutual funds and unit trusts comprise a basket of
financial assets including local and foreign currencies
bank deposits, bonds and equity securities listed in
Taiwan and other foreign stock markets. The Group has
the right to decide which financial assets shall be realised
or invested in the mutual funds or unit trusts.

The financial assets above offer the Group the
opportunity for return through fair value gain. They have
no fixed maturity and coupon rate.

The fair value of the above financial assets is based on
their current bid prices in an active market.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the equity securities
and the exchange traded funds listed outside Hong Kong
for trading purpose were stated at fair value, determined
by reference to bid prices quoted in an active market.

i -

(i)

BER-_ZTE-_F+A++tHH
REMIN_—_ETZE=F+tH—H
NZZTL+F+AMNBE—FE
FIZAEBEEEEGH  A&EE
ﬁﬁm_223¢{ﬁ3+—5
BAI 2 EEBEREZAORN
‘“‘imfﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁl%)\ﬁ@%ZB%
VE% cuu%i °

EREERENRBENEEES
RENER HAEBZ%FS
MEBESEEAEE - BE8E
CHEMEEH ETHHEE
MK BRAMEIINEEERT
R EREBRAEMIERT L
mMZEFEEARS AEEE
BRAREEREHINUBEELRE
REBESKEMEEES -

P BEERASEIRMEE
NFEREERD R R - &
SHBEELEBEINHERE
[ER AR

LL%F%FW FEDERE
REBMENEREABEME -

AN _NEFERBZ=ZF+=
ﬂ:+ H - REBEIN EWIE
EE%LZM$ FRRX5FFE

SEATFEINE: HE2E
Fé%m%%ﬁ%aA1ﬁE°

H

hEEREBEARARN —T-_NFFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED FVTPL 19. RAFEHFABRFAEZ
(Continued) MIBEEE)

HREEEBERAR —FHREFZE
BHAEE LM EE B L
MBEEESBRRBEE -

The above financial assets are classified as current assets
as the management expects to realise these financial
assets within one year or its normal operating cycle.

EEES BUEXEINGEAR
EREXRIREXHIRNZI S
LEESEY Mo BAFER
ABERFAEZRTUMBEEZ A
RIREEHI AL -BE_T

4= — =

The movements of mutual funds/unit trusts are
presented within “operating activities” as part of
changes in working capital and the movements of the
remaining financial assets measured at FVTPL are
presented within “investing activities” in the
consolidated statement of cash flows. The Group —HME+Z A=+ —HLEFE K
recognised a net realised and unrealised gain (2023: SEERLHAR3,378,000T 2 E
loss) of approximately RMB3,378,000 for the year ended FEMKRERZFR I (T _ZF:

31 December 2024 (2023: RMB4,226,000). BR)(ZZ—=% : AR%4,226,000

JL) °
20. GOODWILL 20. &
2024 2023
—EF-NEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARET T
Cost &
At 1 January R—A—H 19,772 18,903
Exchange adjustments fE 5 % (519) 869
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 19,253 19,772
Accumulated impairment losses B itigi{EEE
At 1 January n—A—H 19,772 18,903
Exchange adjustments E & 32 (519) 869
At 31 December BR+=—A=+—8 19,253 19,772
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H = =

AEDNREAEEZBREIMER

ERHEEZLNABZARTHTE

Mi2100%1 HIRERNR A
BB ZIEFIRE -

Goodwill was arising from the Group obtained control
of BLL through the acquisition of 100% equity voting
interests in BLL which is engaged in provision of elderly
care and related consultancy services.

RBE2-_Z_=F+_-_A=+—H
EFEZA BEE TEHRE-

The goodwill was fully impaired prior to year ended 31
December 2023.
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21.

22.

NF

B B 15 R M et

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
DEVELOPMENT AND FORMATION COSTS 21. B 2% R B, 3L i &

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E_=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T
Burial plots under development REGFEREM
for sale 3,790 5,107

The development and formation costs represent
development costs incurred for burial plots construction
in a cemetery site which will be completed for sale by
burial plot and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. During the year ended 31 December

B R SRR A B S R — i E B A
ERFEEZEM 2 FABEKA - W
RRAESRFEMRSE T Z2HIE
EZIHR - BE_FT_MWF+=A
=+—RHIEFE REBEERRAR

2024, the Group recognised a write-down on )4 Iﬁfa RO 4 A R # 969,000
development and formation costs of approximately T(ZEZ=F: &) W AIHEHE
RMB969,000 (2023: Nil) and included in “cost of sales &Hﬁ‘%ﬁﬁj
and services rendered”.
INVENTORIES 22. &8
2024 2023
—E-MmE —E =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBFR AREET T
Merchandises for resale BEER 209 202
Completed burial plots B LEM 734 997
943 1,199
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net Téﬁf)ﬂﬁiﬁi—fmfﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%@ Y
realisable value. During the year ended 31 December BEEINR -BHEZT-_mE+=
2024, the Group recognised a write-down on inventories A=+—HIEFE - ZF EE®RE
of approximately RMB188,000 (2023: Nil) and included in B AR #188,000L( = &
“cost of sales and services rendered”. —=FE) UEATHEHERRD
A o

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ES RHWMWEWKZIERE

DEPOSITS PAID fHizs
2024 2023
—TE-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBETT AR T T
Trade receivables from contracts RABEFAHZ
with customers g 5 E WA 1,692 1,107
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERG
(Note 35(a)) (Fff 52 35(a)) (1,165) (612)
Trade receivables from contracts KERPEHNZES
with customers, net JEW FRIE - F R
(notes (c) and (d)) (Bft 5%(c) Ba(d)) 527 495
Prepayments (note (e)) 815 2E (K 5% (e)) 26,717 30,104
Deposits paid (note (e)) B e (M 5Ee)) 1,171 1,204
Other receivables (note (e)) Uk 33 (M 5E(e)) 3,213 2,858
Amounts due from security brokers & UK #& % 48 42 2 FRIE (M 5E£())
(note (f)) 12,695 -
44,323 34,661
Representing: -
Non-current assets FERBEE
— other receivables and deposits paid — E i EWRIB LB HiE 4 378 466
— deposits for hire of funeral parlous — 8 B 78 & 88 & 78 & AR 7%
and funeral services centres W2 EE 929 927
Current assets MEEE
— trade and other receivables and - B REMERFRELE
deposits paid & 43,016 33,268
44,323 34,661

216 Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ES5 RHWMEWKZRIERDE
DEPOSITS PAID (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contract
with customers net of allowance for credit losses
amounted to approximately RMB708,000.

All of the current portion of trade and other receivables
and deposits paid are expected to be recovered within
one year and prepayments are expected to be recognised
as expense within one year or in its normal operating
cycle.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
deposits paid approximate to their fair values.

Trade receivables with the following aging analysis by
age presented based on the invoice date, net of
allowance, as at the end of the reporting period:

& (&)

B AE

(a)

RZE-_=F—A—H kBX
FEHZESRBFEGIKREE
BB E)HN B AR 708,000 °

AR S REAMERKEARE M
RemBHBsBER —FRK
m - MEMNRERAR - FAK
REFEEBRNERR/FAX -

EHRhEMERRARENEZES
ZEREEEERAFERE

AT AR & HRE 5 WROE (3
BERREEAHSH I ERS
1

2024 2023

—E-UE —T_=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTR ARBF T

0 to 180 days 0% 180H 527 495

The average credit period granted to non-funeral services
deed customers under funeral arrangement services is 45
days (2023: 45 days).

There is no credit period granted to customers for the
other service rendered by the Group.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB1,692,000 (2023: RMB923,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, approximately RMB1,352,000 (2023:
RMB568,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

MEELZHRY  RERERS
A2 BERHZFEHEERA
45 (ZF==% :45H) ¢

A5 B 4 E AT R M 2 A AR A
REFRHEES-

AEBUWERZELE
ﬁ ?ﬁ A °

ERRtT A EMA

RZE-_NFEF+=ZRA=+—8 "
AEEMNE 5 ERFIBEBEER
HESBEAH/AREK1,692,0007m(=
T = = : AR %923,0005%) RN
HEBHDBHAERER - R
B HEMEREET - 4 ARKE1,352,000
T(ZE==%F : AR¥568,00070)
BMHEOKRKEREM - W B KW
REBEHN AEBTERZETE
BRIFAEMER R o

PEASEEERAT —S-MEFR

217



218

hkﬁestothe(DOHSOMXHGdlﬁnanc@JSHﬂen&%ﬁs

AR e RS Rk I Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ES5 RHWMWEWKZIERE

DEPOSITS PAID (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e) Included in prepayments, deposits paid and other
receivables are deposits paid for funeral parlours and
funeral services centre and the respective consulting
services of approximately RMB929,000 (2023:
RMB927,000), prepaid hire charge of funeral parlours
and funeral services centres of approximately
RMB9,030,000 (2023: RMB9,012,000), prepayment for
purchase of biotechnical machineries and other
electronics products of approximately RMB1,953,000
(2023: RMB4,777,000), prepayment for purchase of raw
materials of approximately RMB12,939,000 (2023:
RMB13,410,000) and prepaid agency commission for
funeral services of approximately RMB2,446,000 (2023:
RMB2,585,000).

(f) Amounts due from security brokers are required to be
settled on the settlement date determined under the
relevant market practices or exchange rules. The full
amount was subsequently refunded.

Details of the Group's credit policy and impairment
assessment of trade receivables and other receivables
and deposits paid as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
set out in Note 35(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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iz s (&)
B : ()

() FAEMNFZFE -BENZEREM
EWRIEASD B M EEERERE
RGO REBRFEARSE
ZIEEH ARM929,000L(=F
—=F: AR#927,000m) " &
EELBEREPLZEMSHES
#NER#9,030,0007c(—BE=-=4:
AER#9,012,0007T) BEAYWE
REEREMETERZEMNK
B4 AR #1,953,000t( — &
—=%F: AR%4,777,0007T) - &
ERMBZEAMNREBHOHARE
12,939,000T( =T =-=4F: AR
#13,410,0007C) R B A B &R
ZHEMREMAESHAR2,446,000
T(ZEZ=%F: AR¥ 2,585,000
JT) °

) RBREFSELZREAREAEED
SEMNERZARIRZERBIE
B-HREEZHBER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

2. IMERINESZEY
(a) BeRBELZEY

2024 2023
—EolE ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®ET T

Cash and cash equivalents in e BRI R K

the consolidated statement FEBHEMERAN

of financial position and ReERREEEY

consolidated statement

of cash flows

— Cash at banks and on hand —RITEFEES 100,077 115,186

— Cash at financial institutions — S RBEIRS 155 9,833

— Time deposits with original — R 3| B B A S B 3R

maturity not over three “EAAMNEHEFR
months 9,024 -
109,256 125,019

Cash and cash equivalents earns interest at ReERBEEEEMZIERESH
floating rates based on daily deposit rates. TR R E 2 FEF LGS ©
As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash RZZE-_WE+=—A=+—81
equivalents of approximately RMB10,094,000 ReRBSFEVHRARE
(2023: RMB27,269,000) were denominated in 10,094,00070( — & — = 4 :
RMB and placed with banks in the PRC. A R #27,269,0007T ) © A A

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents are denominated in the following
currencies:

REFHEL R+ B2 R1T »
AR 5 % 5N AR 4R & B 51
PE B RR AR DA R KA E - BEE R

&

AEBZReRES

EREET

FEMZ

FBREEN T E®EE:

2024 2023

—E-_ME —E_=%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR AR T T

us$ E T 9,133 7,822
HK$ 7T 4,199 3,397
RMB AR 12,075 27,919
New Taiwan dollars (“NTD") Hak(satl) 83,625 85,626
Vietnamese dong (“VND") wEE(MEE] 224 255
109,256 125,019

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 24. IR RIS ZEY(E)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEZTBFFESEEHER
financing activities

Amount due
Lease liabilities Bank borrowings to a shareholder Convertible bonds
HEEH RITHEE Eft-EREZHE THERS
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

—§CME -—T--F ZB-ME -—T--F ZB-ME -—T--F ZF-ME -—T-=%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETr ARETR AR%Tr AREFR ARETR

At 1 January R-A-8 19,358 23,114 3,759 4,788 13,023 12,655 14,313 B

Changes from financing HERERED

cash flows
Repayment of principal of BEREEEALHS

lease liabilities (5.518) (4,928) - - - - = =
Repayment of bank borrowings zﬂm [ - = (1,235) (1,221) = = = =
Payment of interest IEGE (1,233) (1,518) (72) (96) = = = =
Total changes from financing ~ BAREREHEE

cash flows (6,751) (6,446) (1,307) (1,317) - - - -
Finance costs BEAKA 1,233 1,518 n 96 - - 168 67
Changesinamountduetoa  REEHETEM -2

shareholder under RRZFEED

operating activities - - - - 155 = = =
Change in fair value recognised iR B ER 2 ATEEE

profit or loss - - - - - - (2,035) (3,519)
Change in fair value REA Amﬁlm&f”z‘*

attributable to change in credit  EEBEHEH 7 AT

risk recognised in other &%

comprehensive income - - - - - - 31 27
Addition of right-of-use assets  FEFBREEE 1,362 1,155 = - - - - -
Lease modification REBY (696) - - - - - - -
Interest accrued and included in - JB4T Rzt A K A e 3008

other payables ZHE - - - - = = (168) (67)
Acquisition of non-controlling B —FHBAR 2 H#

interest of a subsidiary RS (M 29k 42a)

(Notes 29 and 42(a)) - - - - - - - 18,099
Exchange adjustments ER#R 1 17 (104) 192 447 368 445 (294)
At 31 December W+=A=t+-A 14,507 19,358 2,420 3,759 13,625 13,023 12,754 14,313
Details of the Group's credit policy and impairment RZEZOMFRZZT=F
assessment of bank balances and time deposits as T A=+ —HAREBEMIRTT
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in RBRREHREFERNEERE R
Note 35(a) to the consolidated financial REF G 2 FBHREE VB
statements. ¥ & MY FE35(a) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 25. ES5 RHWMEFZIERDE

DEPOSITS RECEIVED

W% &

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTR AREET T
Trade payables (note (c)) Z 5 A~ A (Mt 7)) 2,256 1,941
Other payables and accruals H fih FE {5 FRIE X FE 5T ROIE 10,249 9,562
Deposits received B iR E 338 571
12,843 12,074
Less: deposits received B WiE e (338) (571)
Financial liabilities measured at REENAGTEZ
amortised cost (Note 35(b)) B 7% & & (Kt 52 35(b)) 12,505 11,503
Representing: 1
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
— other payables and —H b N RIE R
deposits received BIE S 590 257
Current liabilities mEAE
— trade and other payables and — B9 REMEMNKIER
deposits received B Wiz 12,253 11,817
12,843 12,074

Notes:

B =

All of the current portion of trade and other payables
and deposits received are expected to be settled within
one year or are repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and
deposits received approximate to their fair values.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables,
based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting
period:

MEBRSREMENFERE K
BREORBBOEHHR —FA
BERERE -

BH5hEMEBNRARE KRS
ZHREEEEATFEBES -

ITNAERBRERRE S RN KA
BREZAHZRED

2024 2023

—E-ME —E -

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AR®EFT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 1,283 1,196
31 days to 90 days 31HZ90H 51 130
Over 90 days 908 A 922 615
2,256 1,941

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30
days (2023: 30 days). The Group has financial risk
management polices in policies to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

BEmmMTFHEEHA308(=
T_=F:30R) - AEBEEFTE
ERREERE  UWERATA

BNFBEEEHRANGE -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

26. BT

2024 2023
—ET-mE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARET T
Funeral services deeds (note (a)) & 3 IR 75 22 49 (B 3E(a) 77,069 81,948
Burial plots under development and [ %% 1 2 i & 2 18 (K 3£ (b))
tombstones (note (b)) 2,652 2,794
Biotechnical and other businesses E R R E A E TS
(note (0)) (Bt 5%E(c)) 2,793 6,946
82,514 91,688
Analysed as: DR
Current liabilities mE AR 81,937 91,096
Non-current liabilities EmBaE 577 592
82,514 91,688

Notes:

Bau Shan and Sino-Life (Hong Kong) Limited (“Sino-Life
(HK)"), subsidiaries of the Company, sold funeral services
deeds to customers (the “Deed Holders"). The funeral
services deeds are prepaid funeral services packages
which mainly comprise particular types of funeral services
at the choice of the customers to be arranged in future.
The Deed Holders can elect to make payment on a lump
sum basis or settle the outstanding amount of the
funeral services deeds by mutual agreed instalments. The
Group determines the pricing of the funeral services
deeds by adding a margin to the estimated costs of
delivering these services, after having taking into account
of major factors including the timing of the instruction
of the Deed Holders. Amounts received from funeral
services deeds sold are recorded as contract liabilities.
When the Deed Holders have defaulted payment for two
months and do not pay back the defaulted amounts
after the Group's not less than 30-day’'s demand notice,
the funeral services deeds would be regarded as lapsed
and a minimum of 20% of the total sum of the funeral
services deeds or the instalments paid, whichever is
lower, will be forfeited as income. The Deed Holders can
request for funeral services or terminate the funeral
services deeds at any time after the funeral services
deeds are sold. Accordingly, contract liabilities is
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

26. SRR ER)

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

According to the Mortuary Service Administration Act
(BZEE &) in Taiwan, the Group has to deposit
75% of the gross receipt of each funeral services deed
entered into after 31 July 2003 in financial institutions in
Taiwan as trust monies. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group has invested trust monies in mutual funds and
unit trusts in Taiwan at a carrying amount of
approximately RMB31,657,000 (2023: RMB33,963,000).
Details are disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

It is principally arising from the sales of burial plots and
tombstones under instalment plans and such amount will
be recognised as revenue when the relevant revenue
recognition criteria are met.

Contract liabilities of biotechnical and other business are
arising from the receipt in advances from customers and
such amount will be recognised as revenue when the
relevant revenue recognition criteria are met.

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract

B AE

(a)

(&)
(%)

m%ﬁmg EEBKL  ANEHE

ABRR=_ZEE=FtA=+—
ElféuT_LZ%@?ﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
WER IR AN B 58 2 75%F R & &
ZeRBBEAGEIEE - R2Z
—mME+=—RA=+—H8 &xKH
EREETERAENEEES
FEBEAMAEL FEHENAARK
31,657,000 (Z T =% : AR
#533,963,0007T) ° FIE R4 E B
ERERM 1918 EE ©

ZHRBITEZELEA D BN KEE
THEBREREE MZAE
B 1T A A B8 kAR R AR AR B
R R

EMBEREMEBHEOEE
EERXEFPFMNBERRE MZES
RS 1E 5 & 48 B N == R AR IR 1 B
R AR -

FAFAA LA B R WS

liabilities at the beginning of the year are summarised as M
follows:

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E_=%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBET T
Funeral services deeds BERERZLD 2,213 2,084
Biotechnical and other business E YRR & H M R 4,297 2,726
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As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB90,116,000. Contract liabilities, that
are not expected to be settled within the Group’s
normal operating cycles are classified as current and
non-current based on the Group's earliest obligation to
transfer goods or services to the customers.

Contract liabilities relating to service contracts are
balances due to customers under service contracts.
These arise if a particular milestone payment exceeds
the revenue recognised to date, and such amount will
be recognised as revenue when the relevant revenue
recognition criteria are met. The change in contract
liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 was mainly due to the change in advances received
from customers on respective businesses.

There was no revenue recognised during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior
years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

E 15. (nﬁ

RZE-_=ZF—A—H AHEaEFE
4 B N R #90,116,000 7T ° & 7 &
SERVRNEFPFEZEERIRBED
EE B T2EAEBERELE
BHANGEENSNEEIEARY
NIETRED o

HRBAENEBzANAEEARE
RBEHNERNEEZEH -ZEE
NEERETERBRNRBRES
ERRBUAREE EHESBEBER
RFEHBRARRZERER AR
A REBEE-_ZE-_NFR_FT - =
F+-_A=+— EIJJ:iEZ:MUE
EZEJJI%%EEF\XQ%:}EZ@F‘%
BB BBEE B -

BE-F -_NER-—B-=F+-
B=+—B1FE  fEERnm
1 45 [V B 1O TR0 8 AF 7 R 0 M
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HEGR
2024 2023
—FE-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T
Lease liabilities payable: ARUATHESZNSZ
HEAE:
Within one year —F K 5,821 5,399
Within a period of more than one B — FET B @M F
year but not more than two years 6,024 5,656
Within a period of more than two ~ HBEMFETBBAF
years but not more than five years 2,662 8,303
14,507 19,358
Less: Amounts due for settlement  J& : ¢ A B BRE Y
within one year classified as RBE(DEARBAE)
current liabilities (5,821) (5,399)
Amounts due for settlement after ~ — £ 14 B i (& 5 /9 Z I8
one year classified as (PERIIERBAE)
non-current liabilities 8,686 13,959
Details of maturity of lease liabilities are set out in Note HEBGBEZINHMFRENGE S B

35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

¥R 2% M 3£ 35(b) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. SRITIEE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, bank borrowings RZE_NFRZZT=_=F+=A
were due for repayment, which are based on the =+—8 RITEEERTIEM
scheduled repayment dates as stipulated in the (HREBERBH W Ffr 3T B &Y
respective loan agreements, as follows: BEEEANGFHE)EE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFT
Within one year —F R 1,271 1,275
Within a period of more than one R —F % B F W &) 2R
year but not more than two years 1,004 1,305
Within a period of more than two R F A BN A F A K B/
years but not more than five years 145 1,179
1,149 2,484
2,420 3,759
Less: Amounts due for settlement  J&t @ 5 — F A F B E (F &
within one year classified as FEOERTBER)
current liabilities (1,271) (1,275)
Amounts due for settlement after R —F & 2| B E B KB
one year classified as non-current (PBRRIERBEE)
liabilities 1,149 2,484
All of the bank borrowings are carried at amortised cost. FREIRITEERBEHEKATE -
Details of the Group’s liquidity risk are set out in Note AEERHELRROFBHNE
35(b) to the consolidated financial statements. & B % 2k Mt 51 35(b)
None of the bank borrowings due for repayment after R—FRIBAEENRTEENSE
one year contain a repayment on demand clause and HAEREREEGKY Bt 2%
hence these balances are not expected to be settled EREHR—FABRES LD
within one year and are classified as a non-current BRIERBEE-

liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the effective
interest rates of the bank borrowings were as follows:

28.

MITHEE (&)

RZZE_NERZTE-_=F+2_A
=+—B RITEEZERF XM
™

2024 2023
—EC-HmF —E-=F

2B FI%

Variable-rate

2.12%-2.92% 1.86%-2.79%

Bank borrowings of approximately RMB 1,840,000 (2023:
RMB2,731,000) denominated in NTD were secured by
the freehold land and buildings in Taiwan with carrying
amount of approximately RMB26,192,000 (2023:
RMB24,377,000) (Note 14(d)). The remaining bank
borrowings of approximately RMB580,000 (2023:
RMB1,028,000) (Note 36(c)(iv)) is guaranteed by Mr. Liu.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As detailed in Note 42(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company issued the convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$18,160,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds”) to Nanyue CB or its nominee(s)
under the Specific Mandate | (defined in Note 42(a)).
The Convertible Bonds were denominated in HK$ which
entitled the holder of the Convertible Bonds to convert
them in ordinary shares of the Company at any time
commencing from the date of issue of the Convertible
Bonds up the sixth anniversary of the date of issue of
the Convertible Bonds (the “Maturity Date”), at a
conversion price of HK$0.126 per Convertible Bond
(subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).

Upon the completion of the share consolidation on 14
October 2024 (Note 32(b)), the conversion price was
adjusted from HK$0.126 to HK$1.26 per Convertible
Bond, and the number of shares to be issued upon full
conversion of Convertible Bonds was adjusted from
144,126,984 to 14,412,698.

29.

IRITEE 4 AR #1,840,0007T( =
T-=%F: AR®2,731,0007T) A F
BEIE LA B KA ERE LI
FEFEBREDNARE26192,000
T(ZZEZ=F: AR%24,377,000
J0) (BEFE14(d) fEH R - 82 T aR1T 18
B4 AR®580,000c(ZF = =4
A K #1,028,0007T ) (Fff 5% 36(c)(iv))
RS EER -

o R iR & %

BANER A B FS AR MY st 42(a) P EEal
AARBREERERE —(E&LEK
d42@) MERAKBESERB AR
177K & %8 /518,160,000 7T &) 7] #
BEHFTATBREES]) - TREE
HFABTEIE T BRBRESEA A
EREEABRRESFBITREHRER
BRESFZETBHESENEBSE
BUTESAD I LHEERZSDA
AR (E50.1267 7T 2 B IR & (7] 1
EREFAZ)BJHRBESER
BARRR)LER -

RZFE-WFE+ A+WEHEZEKKD
&0 (K E32(b) - MR E B TR
Al ¥ % (& %5 0.12678 JT 8 B £1.26
BIL R AR E 5 B B E IR IE
FETH D EE B 144,126,984 %
FHEEZE 14,412,698 % °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 29. TR ESF(E)

The Convertible Bonds carry interests at 1% per annum
and payable in arrears on the Maturity Date. The
issuance of the Convertible Bonds was completed on 11
August 2023.

The holder of the Convertible Bonds had the right at any
time during the conversion period to convert the whole
or part of the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds registered in its name into conversion
shares provided further that any conversion shall be
made in amounts of not less than a whole multiple of
HK$1,000,000 on each conversion save that if at any
time the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds is less than HK$1,000,000, the whole
(but not part only) of the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds may be converted.

The holder of the Convertible Bonds may require the
Company to redeem all or part of the Convertible Bonds
in the multiples of HK$1,000,000 by given a notice of
redemption at any time before the Maturity Date only in
event that any holder of the Convertible Bonds had
given a notice in respect of the occurrence of an event
of default at the redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of all or part of the Convertible Bonds
to be redeemed.

The Company may also voluntarily redeem all or any
part of the Convertible Bonds at any time following the
first anniversary of the date of issue of the Convertible
Bonds and prior to the Maturity Date by repaying the
holder(s) of the Convertible Bonds at the redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of all or
part of the Convertible Bonds to be redeemed as may be
determined by the Company together with the accrued
interest after serving at least one-month prior notice.

Upon issuance of the Convertible Bonds, the Convertible
Bonds were designated as at financial liabilities at FVTPL,
and the fair value of approximately HK$19,550,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB18,099,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Z2EHABLARBEERASCHER A
B  WERERANS E
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REH 2 REBEERSERE IR
1000000;@73 BlafmikRES 22
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ARBESFE AERE R AT 82
EFEFBEARBLEENSHBRL B
Mz ERT - o] AEIHA B AT o] B
MEHBERBN BERARQA MU
1,000,000/ 7T 2 & & B 2 2B 5k 31
DABMKRES BELDEESRET
Boza2RBralEFAS
%H,2100% °

ARARAIRAIREHFBEITAEPS
*ﬂié&ﬂ%ﬂ%&ﬂ%ﬁ &
BRUHBRESFEBEAER B
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BEE)EREEHE -
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BEF ERFEH19,550,0007% 7T (48
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no convertible bonds were converted by the holder of
Convertible Bonds, and the Company did not redeem
any part of the Convertible Bonds.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, interest on
Convertible Bonds of approximately RMB168,000 (2023:
RMB67,000) was recognised in the profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding principal of
the Convertible Bonds was HK$18,160,000 (or
equivalent to approximately RMB17,130,000) (2023:
HK$18,160,000 or equivalent to approximately
RMB16,566,000).

The inputs used in the binomial option pricing model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair value of the Convertible Bonds are
as follows:

At 31 December

29. TRz 1R SF(E)

REE-_ZT_NOFR-_FT_=
T-A=1t—HLEEFE AA#KE
SRAABESRITBKES &
N IR RS @ AT AR (B 55 2 (R RE D

REZ_ZE_mWF+=-A=+—H
IEFE ABRBRESFZABEHOAR
168,000 (T -_=F: AR
67,000 7T) RIB = NFER ©

RZZE-_NMFE+_A=+—H [
IR EH 2 RIEE XRS5 418,160,000
%fc(ﬂa* A #) AR #17,130,0007T)
—E =4 18,160,000 T A E
R4 A R ¥ 16,566,000 7C) °

BUBXRMGLEMREETRKRES

ZAFEREMz —BXAHEEE
BXPTR@EAZENT :

At 31 December

2024 2023 At issue date
R-ZFB-ME %:%:_i

+=A=+—H8 +=ZA=+-— R E17 A B

Share price of KRaRE(ET)
the Company (HK$) 0.465 0.085 0.126
Dividend yield I 8= 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility T8 B 18 85% 70% 73%
Risk-free rate f [2 f ) &R 3% 3% 4%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The movements of the Convertible Bonds are set out

29. TRk EH (&)

ARBEFZEHHINWT

below:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T
At 1 January Rn—H—H 14,313
Issue of convertible bonds ?éﬁﬂ?@%ﬁ% - 18,099
Change in fair value recognised REZERZAFEEY
in profit or loss (2,035) (3,519)
Change in fair value attributable to  F E 4th 2 @ U 5 E
change in credit risk recognised FEERREHE @ZZ
in other comprehensive income N EED 31 27
Interest on convertible bonds A]ERES 2 FE
(Note 6(a)) (B 5E 6(a)) 168 67
Interest accrued and included FEST R FH A B M FE < BOIBR
in other payables Z X B (168) (67)
Exchange adjustments PE X 3% 445 (294)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—8H 12,754 14,313
Classified as: DR
— Current liabilities (note) —mE B EE) 12,754 14,313

Note: Upon the application of the 2020 Amendments
retrospectively in the current year, the Group reclassified
the carrying amount of Convertible Bonds of
approximately RMB14,313,000 as at 31 December 2023
from non-current liabilities to current liabilities.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

M RAFEEHER_-_ZS_ZF&
ARG AEBBABREESD
—E_=F+ZA=1+—HHNEK
m1E QA R14,313,0007T &1 3F
RBBREENOBEERPAE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 30.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a)

financial position represents:

ﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬂkﬁ%l’qzmﬁ

e MBI R A 2 BN HI R IR
15 -

2024 2023
—T-lmE —T_=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®ET T
At 1 January ®R—H—H 3,758 5,042
Provision for the year FEEE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —HEPERED
(Note 7) (M5£7) 2,206 1,211
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBNEH
(Note 7) (MH5E7) 123 139
Under-provision in prior years BEFEBRETE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FEREMFT
(Note 7) (M5E7) 611 793
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBENEFH(MEE7)

(Note 7) 8 -
Income tax paid X zmEH (1,717) (3,429)
Income tax refunded AR [ P S A = 2
Exchange adjustments bE X 8 & 19 =
At 31 December R+-ZA=+—8”H 5,008 3,758
Representing: Bl

— Income tax liabilities —FrEHMAaE 5,008 3,758
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (b) AR ELEHBEE
Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of PRC, BEARBECERGEHE 8=
withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared ZENFE— R g B
in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries A AR 2 % F B R 2 IR B

from January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of the retained profits
of approximately RMB9,227,000 (2023:
RMB18,712,000) as the Group controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that these
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

WTEHE R o MR AN & B 4E § 7%
EMBRARZREREK  IE
B ZE RN ARATRER A R
P T G 2 N AY S =N
WMEMDIRRBEFEET X
HFZzZEERBHARE
9,227,000L(Z T = =ZF : A
R # 18,712,000 70 ) 1E i B ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
(Continued)

In Taiwan, under Article 42 of the Income Tax Act
of Republic of China, the net dividend or net
surplus earning received by a profit-seeking
enterprise organised as a company from its
investment in another domestic profit-seeking
enterprise shall not be included in its taxable
income. Such exemption is not applicable for
investment in foreign profit-seeking enterprise,
which is subject to income tax at the rate of 17%.

As one of the Group’s subsidiaries, being a foreign
profit-seeking enterprise, is directly and wholly
owned by a subsidiary incorporated in Taiwan, a
rate of 17% is applicable to the calculation of the
income tax. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of the retained profits
of approximately RMB38,320,000 (2023:
RMB38,328,000) as the Group controls the
dividend policy of this subsidiary and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

In Taiwan, under Article 4 of Standards of
Withholding Rates for Various Incomes issued by
Ministry of Finance of Republic of China, the net
dividends or profit distributed to a profit seeking
enterprise having its head office outside the
territory of the Republic of China from investment
in an enterprise within the territory of the Republic
of China shall be withheld at a rate of 20% of the
amount distributed.
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REBA - BRI TEA
RENEEFGENRE  Z
ERENMERUMREL17% °

MAAEEEFR —FEHERQF
RINEENDEE - Y —BE
BEEMAZANE QA ER

2EHE FTEMEHMNER
HEAE17% o B RS 5 B IZHl

ZMBARZKREBE X E
T&%EZ#@%UT?&T EER A R

RIS - I R E B
HRAD KRB EMEART X

HzEBEEHEBHARE
38,320,000t( = & = = & :
A R #38,328,000 7T ) £ H #
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

30. ZFEMBURRRAZHF

30.

/\\/T\

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b)

()

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
(Continued)

As one of the Group’s subsidiaries operates within
the territory of Taiwan having its head office
outside the territory of Taiwan, a rate of 20% is
applicable to the calculation of this withholding
tax. Deferred taxation has not been provided for
in the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as this
subsidiary has no retained profit that can be
distributed.

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB40,951,000 (2023:
RMB31,395,000) available for offset against future
profits. Pursuant to the relevant rules and
regulations in the PRC, Vietnam and Taiwan, tax
losses of approximately RMB28,248,000 (2023:
RMB20,235,000) would be expiring from 5 years to
10 years. The remaining tax losses of approximately
RMB12,703,000 (2023: RMB11,160,000) at the
end of the reporting period can be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

Bi (&)
(b) RAEHDIELBEEEGE)
ph 18 74 5 B L R — R 2
AEBENEZERNERR
RABHIN - S ERERMB

()

RERBER20% - HREZE
CECIMERF=F1+=
A=+—BLEE WEBRQF
WEA D IRAIRSE &AW
WARREFE I mR IR IER
AELBE -

AREBRELEREBEEE
R_ZT_mW&E+—_A=+—8 -
AEBZABABBEEEOA
R #40,951,000c( =& = =
F: AR #¥31,395,0007T ) 7]
FLARSE AR AR A o IRIEARET -
M R AERFERER A RRG
FRIE & 1B 4 A R ¥ 28,248,000
T(ZDE=Z=F: ARK
20,235,0007T ) # MR5Z= 104
Bl -RBMEBER B THE
Fﬂ%i’w\&ﬁ%u 703,0007(=
T =%: AR% 11,160,000
E)Tﬁﬂﬁﬁ;@mﬁ#o B R 2R
i Al 2 HOR S A] TR - A 4
REEEEMEREEREE
Eo
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

31.

PROVISIONS 31. &
2024 2023
—E-lE —T_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ET T
Provision for future costs of REBERBZ
delivering funeral services IR AR A B AR
At 1 January ®n—A—AH 520 1,380
Written back of provision for cost AR 7 AX 7~ 8 {5 =] (K 5E5)
of services (Note 5) (20) (904)
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 B (14) 44
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 486 520

The Group determines the pricing of the funeral services
deeds by adding a margin to the estimated cost of
delivering funeral services in future, after taking into
account of major factors including the timing of the
instruction of the Deed Holders.

This estimate is based on the sub-contracting fee
payable to the sub-contractor for each funeral service
deed performed, the current market conditions and the
price of deeds. Management reassesses these estimates
at the end of each reporting period to estimate if the
contract liabilities for funeral service deeds can cover the
estimated future costs of delivering funeral services and
determine the need of making a provision in the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. Ig&
Number of
shares Amount
& 8B &8
RMB'000
AREBFTT
Authorised - ordinary shares: EE-HERK:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R-_ZE-_=F—HF—H *
and 1 January 2024 of HK$0.1each —ZE-=%+-F=+—H
R_ZT_MF—-HA—H
EREEIETT 10,000,000,000 881,541
Share consolidation (note b) i 1p & 6 (B Eb) (9,000,000,000) =
At 31 December 2024 of HK$1 each R-ZT-MWE+=-F=+—H
BREE1ET 1,000,000,000 881,541
Issued and fully paid - ordinary EERTRAE-LER
shares
At 1 January 2023 of HK$0.1 each RZEZ=%F—H—H
BREE1ET 742,500,000 69,218
Issue of shares (Note 42(b)) AT (B =E42(b)) 142,500,000 12,723
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+=A=+—H
1 January 2024 of HK$0.1 each kKZZT-_mFE—-—H—H
BREE1ET 885,000,000 81,941
Placing of shares (note a) fid & A& 17 (P 7%a) 60,000,000 5,548
Share consolidation (note b) i1 & 6 (B Eb) (850,500,000) =
At 31 December 2024 of HK$1 each R-_ZT-_WHF+_-A=+—H
BREE1ET 94,500,000 87,489
Notes: B SE
a) On 14 June 2024, the Company placed 60,000,000 new a) RZZEZ_MEASA+TMEA AA
shares to not less than six placees at the placing price of AINEEEERESRH0.1ET
HK$0.1 per placing share with total gross proceeds of m A~ DR N B ER AR R
approximately RMB5,548,000 and the related issue 60,000,000 fi& %71 i& 15 + F7 15 X 1B
expenses were approximately RMB201,000. RS H B ARKS5,548,0007T
EHEHBETRIAAOARE
201,0007T °
b) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the b) BEARARANRZZTZMEFT AN
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 9 HETHWRRENARAE EABK
October 2024, every ten issued and unissued shares of T@AZER S TREREEOI
HK$0.1 each were consolidated into one consolidated BITZBEITRREITRMD G O
share of the Company of HK$1 each. The changes took RBREREEIE T ZAA A
effect on 14 October 2024. GEHBM ZZFEEHR_T -
F+HB+mMAER-
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive LTEREEAEBERBIBIKEEIRZ

dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the
Company’s residual assets.

BREREERNARBRRAE L3
BERE-—FRETRR - AELTAK
RARBZHBTEEMSHERR
S -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
33. RESERVES 33. fitfk

(@) The reconciliation between the opening and (d) AEEGFEETZZEH FA
closing balances of each component of the HERGEHRIERHANGEEE
Group's consolidated equity is set out in the mEYHR AR ARESE S
consolidated statement of changes in equity. ZEVERFR BB FEHT
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual wmR
components of equity between the beginning and
the end of the year are set out below:

Foreign
currency  Share-based
Share translation  compensation Convertible  Accumulated

premium reserve reserve  bonds reserve losses Total

UEHEBEE  TRERHES
&t i B Bt ZHERE 1] iR )

(Note 33(b)(i)) ~ (Note 33(b)(vi))  Note 33(b)(vii))  (Note 33(b)(ix)

(H3E330)0)  (HEE33(0)v)  (MEE33(b)wi) (B EE33(0)(ix)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 W-2-=f-A-H 220,633 (16,041) 1,900 - (225,242) (18,750)
Loss for the year rEEBR - - - = (4,960) (4,960)

Fair value gain on convertible  EEERZHEHETA

bonds designated at FVTPL RATEFABR

attributable to change Z—H’*Hx =5

in credit risk NFERS - - = @7 = @7
Exchange differences on RENBRREELZ

translation of financial ERZR

statements = 1,385 - = - 1,385
Total comprehensive income/  2EMA/(F%) B2E

(expense) - 1,385 - (27) - 1,358
Total comprehensive income/  AFFE2AKA/(BX)

(expense) for the year @ - 1,385 - (272 ______ (4_15_36_02 ______ (%90_22 )
Issue of shares (Notes 32 & 41(b)) % F32R40b) 2,277 - - - - 2,277
Lapse of share options (Note 43) B B 4 5 2 (ff £ 43) - - (483) - 483 -
At 31 December 2023 i ——3

+-A=t-8 222,910 (14,656) 1417 27) (229,719) (20,075)
At 1 January 2024 WZE-ME-A-AH 222,910 (14,656) 1417 (27) (229,719) (20,075)
Profit for the year REERT - - - - 44,522 44,522
Fair value gain on convertible  EEEREZBHEHET A

bonds designated at FVTPL RAT@EGABS

attributable to change Z—Wﬂx =5

in credit risk NFERS - - - (31) = (31
Exchange differences on RENBRREEZ

translation of financial ERZER

statements - 1,017 - - - 1,017
Other comprehensive income/  Ef2EKA /(B %)

(expense) - 1,017 - (31) - 986
Total comprehensive income/ ~ AFEZEKA/

(expense) for the year Gk - 1,017 - B) M5 45508
Waiver of current accounts with S i B2 AR R R

subsidiaries - - - - (49,115) (49,115)
Transaction costs on issue of BORHHZHRA

shares (Note 32(b)) (Fi&E32(b)) (201) - - - - (201)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE

=A==k 222,709 (13,639) 1,417 (58) (234,312) (23,883)

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
33. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the
shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve arose from the business
combination under common control in
relation to the acquisition of Bau Shan
during the group reorganisation in 2007.
The merger reserve of the Group represents
the difference between aggregate net asset
value of Bau Shan acquired and the
consideration paid for the acquisition of Bau
Shan pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

According to the applicable laws and
regulations in Taiwan, the Group's Taiwan
subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of
their net profits after taxation, as determined
under the relevant accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to companies
established in Taiwan, to a non-distributable
reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches
the registered capital of the respective
enterprises. The transfer to this reserve must
be made before the distribution of a dividend
to owners but after offset the previous years’
losses, if any.

33. & (8)

(b) EEMEERAE
() BRHEE
RBERSBESEQFE "
KARZIEMDEEES
B2 DK TRE" K
ZREERIKNKRE B S
BARANRIBBRE NIRE
BHEHEAREKBES
RS NEREE-

(i) EOHFE
AGHREEIR 2B £
FgTEBESHABHER
Yo B B 1L A BE St R4
HET22BA0mE
Ho REBEMA O E
EHRUWB2ELEE
FEHANEAREEES
AR EBELENRE
TEE-

EERE

BEAENEREZR
A AEBZEER
% M&@%FEA
%ﬁ%&%%ﬁi'%
BEBRMELEFZ210%
EMA o RFHHES B
EREEBEERBAD
X¥2aAMEARABIL -8
It % 8 1E 2 o R 0L R
REEE A DR SR -
BRI IEEFE EE (0
BIBED -

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

33. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv) Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations, PRC
subsidiaries in the Group are required to
appropriate at least 10% of their profit after
tax, as determined under the relevant
accounting principles and financial regulations
applicable to companies established in the
PRC, to a non-distributable reserve fund until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the respective enterprises. The
transfer to this reserve must be made before
the distribution of dividends to owners. The
non-distributable reserve fund can be used to
offset the previous years' losses, if any, expand
the existing operations or convert into
additional capital of the subsidiaries, provided
that the balance after such issue is not less
than 25% of its registered capital. The non-
distributable reserve fund is non-distributable
other than upon liquidation.

According to the Vietnam Enterprise Law,
Vietnam subsidiaries in the Group can set
their reserve fund according to the
respective Charter. Under the Charter of the
Vietnam subsidiaries, they are required to
transfer 5% to 15% of profit after tax to set
up the reserve fund until such reserve
reaches 10% of the registered capital of the
respective enterprises.

(v) Properties revaluation reserve
The properties revaluation reserve has been
set up and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies adopted for freehold
land and buildings held for own use in Note
3(j) and is not distributable.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
33. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of non-PRC operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(e).

Share-based compensation reserve

The share—-based compensation reserve
comprises the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to eligible participants of
the Group recognised in accordance with
accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in Note 3(h).

(viii) Other reserves

(ix)

Other reserves mainly arose from (i) partial
disposal of interests in subsidiaries without
losing control as equity transactions and the
difference between the carrying amount of
the non-controlling interests and the
consideration received, after re-attribution
of relevant reserves; and (ii) the adjustment
made to the amount of non-controlling
interests arising from the acquisition of
additional interest of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary by the Group.

Convertible bonds reserve

Convertible bonds reserve represents the
cumulative fair value change on convertible
bonds designated at FVTPL attributable to
change in credit risk.

33. & (8)

(b) REEMHEERARGE)
(vi) EZFE
EHFEBEEMB AR
H I B X B TS Wk
FMEAZELZR %
E TR 3(e)FT
J EQ+IE& FE'EED

LR BEEZFHE
1# e

PARAD 7 BT 2 78 18 8
1 B AR 5 BT 5 3(h) Bt A Bk
MRERZNREHZ
EHABKRAERZERT
AEEEERZHEEZ
ERIGEAHRTERER
BHAAFEAX-

(vii)

(viii) B ftt 1 5
HifFEEEERANE
HERK B QAR ZED
Mt EREUZS
NAElZEH AR B
XX H AR EEE
HEBEETREB®ER
BEXZEAEES K
REzZZ8: kAKX
EEKRBEETENBE R
Y F R E T
R EENZHE-

Al 12 R 18 5 1 1
ABMBRESHEEREEE
RBREHEHRZEER

(ix)

AT R AR
MBS R ATE
28 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
33. RESERVES (Continued)

(o)

Capital Management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to owners, return capital to owners, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with other companies in the industry,
the Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio which is total liabilities divided by
total assets. The Group aims to maintain the
gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The gearing
ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as
follows:

(o)

33. & (8)

EXrER

AEBEEEAZEIERER

RAR AL B AL AT 1t

ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁAﬁX@%&ﬁ
H i ¥ 25 B P & W KA &

HIFIBRE AL

A

%Mﬁ9§$

BERIABRELRERE K&
Aﬁﬁm%ﬁAiﬁzw
tRE REEATHEA A %
THBROIEEEENRDE

I8 o

MEMRE QA —

o AEH

NEERBLEXRREREAN
EE-BERBHLERBAR

BABEEFE - AEBEEHE
BEEABLREFRAEK
FoR_BE-_NMER T - =

F+_RA=+—RZEE&EE

ELEMT
2024 2023
—F-lE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Total liabilities mE R 147,092 163,174
Total assets WEE 250,626 271,707
Gearing ratio BEEBELX 58.69% 60.06%

There were no changes in the Group's approach
to capital management compared with previous
years. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed
capital requirements.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 34. #iER S 2HMEIT A

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARE T T
Financial assets MBEEE
Financial assets measured at FVTPL  #ZAFE ABRFEZ
B 7% B E
— Mutual funds/unit trusts —-REeEKkTzEEREES/
established in Taiwan BRI 31,657 33,963
— Equity securities/exchange traded —REBHEIN ETIEE EH
funds listed outside Hong Kong ~ #$HIRAE 5/ X 5 R
for trading purpose BEEES 7,716 14,532
39,373 48,495
Amortised cost B8R 125,244 127,905
Financial liabilities MBEE
Amortised cost B8R 45,992 52,324
Financial liabilities designated BEREBEAFEFAERZ
at FVTPL M ek
— Convertible bonds —A] # I fE 55 12,754 14,313
58,746 66,637

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. A EREBE RMEIT A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has exposure to the credit risk, liquidity risk,
interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price risk
arising from financial instruments. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies
and practices used by the Group to manage these risk
are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits paid and cash and
cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposure to this credit risk is
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and other items under ECL model.
Besides, the Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from refundable rental deposits is considered to
be low, taking into account (i) the landlords’ credit
rating and (ii) the remaining lease term and the
period covered by the rental deposits. Information
about the Group's credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions
with a minimum credit rating of B2 (2023: B3) as
at 31 December 2024, which the Group considers
to be low credit risk.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35 MBEBEERMBIA

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. In respect of trade receivables
from funeral services, the Group generally offer
credit period of 45 days to customers, whereas no
credit period is granted to customers for other
services rendered by the Group. Normally, the Group
does not hold any collateral over trade receivables.
As at 31 December 2024, the ECLs for trade
receivable were measured and loss allowance of
approximately RMB1,165,000 (2023: RMB612,000)
was provided.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk in industries or countries in which the
customers operate. The maximum exposure to
credit risk without taking account of any collateral
held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any
guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. The
Group segments its trade receivables based on
geographic regions, due to different loss patterns
experienced in the different regions.

ZAFEE)

(a)

FEERK (&)
BEZSEKE
AEEEHEEERREEK
R -BUEMEFTZHBBE—T
CHENEENRPYEETHE
AEEFME - B EEF TG
EEBEEEDNHKENL S
FERMERE D TEEE
BEEEEBHUNLEE K&
EMEERE RBEEREZ
ZBoORKHKEMS  AKBE—
BEEPIRMHEISEZEEH
Bt AN & B IR 2 H A R A5 T
BRYFEFEEH - —KMs
AEEWEREZ S EWRER
ﬁfffj%fﬁﬁauu"b_/\fzfmg
+-—A=+—H B E8
EWRIE 2 BHREEBEEYR
REBEBEHARY1,165,000
T(ZEBEZ=F: AR
612,0007T) °

AEEREFLEMBITER
ERZTEEAEERRE
oo i N E AL AR A 2 K
m Al A MBI R B
BEENRSEERR SR
ERRERFRNERE K~
B ER AR AR EA
REERBROER-

a =

AEBEREFARE2HEHER
BRZEHEFTEE SR KR
ZEBEBRE HNERBRER
METFHE AR TRBEZ
EREATRE AEEREM
BREE N HE S EWRE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  35. A EGEE RMBE I A

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFEE)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) ﬁféﬂlzﬁ( &)

Trade receivables (Continued) EBEZEK IE (#&)
T%?E{/\ﬁﬁgzﬁilﬁﬁﬁﬁ%m

The following table provides information about
the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for EERBKEE S EKFIAZE

244

trade receivables: HEEBRB 28R
2024
—F-HlFE
Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EyEEE RmE&E BHEEE
% RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Bk ARETR ARETR

PRC & B
Current (not past due) BN ER (K A7) - - =
1-30 days past due #HI1-30H 7% 114 8
31-90 days past due # HB931-90 H 7% 161 11
More than 90 days past due % B§ #3890 H 97% 676 659
951 678

Hong Kong &k
Current (not past due) BV ER (o %61 B9 ) - - =
1-30 days past due #HI1-30H 6% 16 1
31-90 days past due #1H§31-90 H 8% 49 4
More than 90 days past due  #EHif2iB90 H 64% 534 340
599 345

Vietnam i
Current (not past due) BNEA (R #1 8F) - - -
1-30 days past due #H1-30 B = = =
31-90 days past due #HI31-90 H = = =
More than 90 days past due  # HI#B /90 H 100% 142 142
142 142

Total gt
Current (not past due) BN EA (oK 7 A7) - - =
1-30 days past due BHI1-30H 7% 130 9
31-90 days past due # Hi31-90 H 7% 210 15
More than 90 days past due % #§ #3890 H 84% 1,352 1,141
1,692 1,165

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35 MBEBEERMBIA

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFEE)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) f"gﬂlgﬁ &)
Trade receivables (Continued) B Z B E (&)
The following table provides information about TREGEEEAREEFEEED
the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for EERKRKE S EWKIAZE
trade receivables: (Continued) H{z ﬁﬁéﬁ BZER: (8
2023
—E-=F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
78 B B 1B =K RAERE (SRR
% RMB'000 RMB'000
Bk AR®TT ARETT
PRC hE
Current (not past due) BOER (R # Hf) 7% 184 14
1-30 days past due #HI1-30 A 7% 59 4
31-90 days past due #HI31-90 H 36% 168 61
More than 90 days past due % Bf #3890 H 100% 287 287
698 366
Hong Kong &
Current (not past due) B BF (oK %81 B9 ) - - -
1-30 days past due #HI1-30 A 7% 31 2
31-90 days past due #HE31-90 B 7% 97 7
More than 90 days past due @ HifB:iB90 H 60% 108 64
236 73
Vietnam % Fg
Current (not past due) BN AR (R A3) - = =
1-30 days past due i1 #5 1-30 H = = =
31-90 days past due #HE31-90 B = = =
More than 90 days past due  #HIFEiE90 H 100% 173 173
173 173
Total st
Current (not past due) BNHEA (K #0 E) 7% 184 14
1-30 days past due #HI1-30 A 7% 90 6
31-90 days past due #HI31-90 H 25% 265 68
More than 90 days past due #1833 90 H 92% 568 524
1,107 612
FEEGEEERAT —EMFEFIR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  35. A EGEE RMBE I A

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFE(E)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) 1:. & ke (E)
Trade receivables (Continued) 5/751/52 15 (#&)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss TEHEEEARNBEI2EA
experience over the past 12 months. These rates MERBELR ZEMNEH
are adjusted to reflect differences between ﬁﬁkl//k&ﬂ%}?ﬁ*igﬂﬁuﬁliﬁﬂfﬁ
economic conditions during the period over which BB AR S - B RO IA R
the historic data has been collected, current SEHERRIBBERSGHL
conditions and the Group's view of economic BERANBEZENEZSR -
conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect BHE-_Z_HOFER=-Z= ¢
of trade receivables during the years ended 31 TZA=T—HIEFE-
December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: JE U5 /TAIEZJEETETﬁf%EE“@JZZD
T
PRC  Hong Kong Vietnam Total
i E it g @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTRT ARETRE ARETR

At 1 January 2023 RZFE=-=%—H—H 700 148 244 1,092
Impairment losses recognised & FE 52, B &5 18 311 73 5 389
Impairment losses reversed EEEREEE (645) (151) (100) (896)
(334) (78) (95) (507)
Exchange adjustments KRB - 3 24 27
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%
+ZRA=+—H 366 73 173 612
At 1 January 2024 RZFE-ME—F—A 366 73 173 612
Impairment losses recognised & iR B &5 18 517 308 - 825
Impairment losses reversed EEERESE (205) (44) (20) (269)
312 264 (20) 556
Exchange adjustments KB - 8 (11) 3)
At 31 December 2024 RZTZm4F
+ZR=+—H 678 345 142 1,165
The origination of new trade receivables net of EEHEZERREAGIRE
those settled resulted in an increase (2023: a HEBZRERFE)EHER
decrease) in loss allowance of approximately BEENZZ==F: )
RMB556,000 (2023: RMB507,000). # AN R #556,000c(ZFE ==

£ : AR#507,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35 MBEBEERMBIA

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits paid

For other receivables and deposits paid, the
directors of the Company make periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits paid based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. Except for other receivable of
approximately RMB3,176,000, the directors of the
Company believe that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of the residual balances of
other receivables and deposits paid since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group made a prepayment of approximately
RMB3,506,000 to a non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary of the Company for the procurement
of certain vending machines. Subsequently,
substantial part of the procurement contracts were
dishonored. The Group initiated negotiations for
the refund of the dishonoured sum of approximately
RMB3,176,000 from the non-controlling shareholder
of the subsidiary and reclassified this balance as
other receivables as of 31 December 2024. The
directors of the Company considered that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk on this
balance since initial recognition, and thus the
Group recognised lifetime ECL on the balance,
resulting in a credit loss allowance of approximately
RMB3,176,000 being recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Subsequent to the year-
end date, the Group initiated legal action against
the respective non-controlling shareholders of the
subsidiary. Up to the date of the approval for
issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, the aforementioned legal action is still
in progress, and the Group will make every effort
to recover this amount through continuous legal
actions.

ZAFEE)

(a)

FEERK (&)

HEMEKRZBERENEE
REMEBEWRRBEBREMIEE M
EARREBSREBELE
i BASRUARTEE
ER(AEERBEEIIFD
BIEEMER)  EHEHME
WRIE R E &£ /9 AT U =
1T E B RE A o BR H th J& UK
IH 4 A R ¥3,176,000 7T 9b
KRB ESZRAEMEWRIE
MENESHESKRRIENEE
[B. % B 9] 25 7 2R LA 2R I 4 K i@
ReEEBArSEREI12EA E

HEEEBRFRRIE -
BE_ZT_ME+_-_A= +—

HEFE AEBEBRARD
ﬁW%“TM#%hh%ﬁﬁ
# N R #3,506,0007C © A B
BETEHREM - Hg - K
BAANELMERD RIFETT °
$E@E@ﬁ%ﬁ E A )
N A ) IEFE IR R R B R K
U%KM¢%¥&W&%0E
YR E_WF+=—_A=+—
BZEBRET DA AHME
WHIB - A RBEERBELE

FREEE R B 1) 2 R IAR
RIRIE 0 - Bk A 5 B 3t 3% 45
HERHNEREEEER &

HEE_ZT_DIOFE+ A
=+ HIEFERREEEE
B4 A R ¥3,176,000 7T °
REZLEBR  AEBERZWEB
AR BB IE IR AR AR R IR B A 2
Fik e HEAKEBLRE M IER
REMAETIE 2B LR
FRMEETF  AEBKE
BRENEETEEDKEZ
EF /O

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. A EREBE RMEIT A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits paid

(Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of other receivables and deposits paid during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as

follows:

ZAaFEER)

(a)

=E Ak (&)
HtEURFERENEZ
(&)
BE_T_MFR_FT_=F
T-A=+t—BLFE"  Eff
FEWRIA R B MRS 2 BB &
wREFHMT

2024 2023
—E-MUE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTR ARET T

At 1 January n—H—H 1,157 3,461

Impairment losses recognised BRI B E 18 4,269 284
Impairment losses reversed B o R E & 18 (675) (2,618)
3,594 (2,334)

Exchange adjustments ME X 58 B 45 30

At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 4,796 1,157
The origination of new other receivables and deposits TG E M ESCRIERE MRS
paid net of those settled resulted in an increase (2023: (HBREHEEE)E ﬁl Eﬁ BEE
a decrease) in loss allowance of approximately BIN(ZEZ=F: PO A

RMB3,594,000 (2023: RMB2,334,000).

Eﬁ%3,594,000ﬁ(:§:5¢ :
AR #2,334,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35 MBEBEERMBIA

NF

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by
the parent company’s board when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserve of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on current rates at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

ZAFEE)

(b)

AEEETENEEEREER

HAGHNRESEEES  BF
NIRE BBETRERE N
MEEEFBREREFERK
IE“‘%%’REHj%F%E?EE%
RBKFERERSETARNEES
ZHLAE o ZK%.TXHXZBZ%?%

EHERARPESHT KR
BTRERREZBER  BIARE

1%%?’&%»%ﬂzfii1ﬁﬁf%&—f

%’i\v‘f‘m&%ﬂi ZE%’AD\ZJ%.:E
EERE UWENEHEREH

THRBHEINBRERREE
BETEMBREZH TR
HE - BENFTEMBAR
TIRBEAEHOARRBARAERE(R
BAAEONERFEZF 5\m
A W AFEER AR AR

HHXZEG%'JW)M&ZKE
ANRZEFHBFE -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity analysis for the bank borrowings is
prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates

35. M BEREERMBIA
Z’\IHE(&E)

(b) /Jlbib Eﬁﬂ@ (n\
RITEENDE B 27 TR
MERBHERENHEENEER

as stipulated in the respective loan agreements. HERE -
2024
k- e |2
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
SHEABRRER
Weighted More than ~ More than Total
average 1 year but 2years  contractual
interest Within less than  but less than  undiscounted Carrying
rate Ondemand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount

Ba-£ BEARE GHRER

g BHR BOR ReiRE
T BEX R-%h ME iE g REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AREFR AREFR AREFT ARETR
Non-derivative financial iabilities ~ F£74 B & &

Financial liabilties included in FAESREMERTESN
trade and other payables BHBEE - 11,915 - 590 - 12,505 12,505
Lease liabilities REAE 5.95% - 6,685 6,450 2,115 15,850 14,507
Bank borrowings BIAEE 2.00% - 1,315 1,019 145 2479 2,420
Convertible bonds ThkES 1% 17,130 - - - 17,130 12,754
Amounts due to directors EREZIHE - 2,935 - - - 2,935 2,935
Amount due to a shareholder ER—2RE27E - 11,146 - 2,479 - 13,625 13,625
43,126 8,000 10,538 2,860 64,524 58,746
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RE ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ZAFEE)

HHEREERMBIR

(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) RBESREMR(E)
2023
ZEZZF
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ANRERRERE
Weighted More than More than Total
average 1 year but 2 years contractual
interest Within lessthan  but less than  undiscounted Carrying
ratt Ondemand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
BB—F BRAME AOKMER
i BAR BHR Beng
THf= REX R—%7R kS i3 8% KHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTRT ARBTT AREBTT AREBTRT ARET:R
Non-derivative financial liabilities 17451 KB &
Financial liabilities included in HABSREMERTES
trade and other payables BRaRE = 10913 590 = = 11,503 11,503
Lease liabilities HEAE 6.26% - 6,607 6,462 8,731 21,800 19,358
Bank horrowings REE 2.00% = 1,348 1,348 1,193 3,889 3,759
Convertible bonds (note) Rk ER (K 1% 16,566 = = = 16,566 14,313
Amounts due to directors EHEZZHE - 4,681 - - - 4,681 4,681
Amount due to a shareholder  EF —ARE 2 51E - 10,625 2398 - - 13,023 13,023
42,785 10,943 7,810 9,924 71,462 66,637

Note: Upon the application of the 2020 Amendments

retrospectively in the current year, the Group TEBFIAR  NEEKA]
BREFR =
+=ZA=+—H®HEKEE
HIETDAEBEFTLESR
/mEE\ g ° ﬂ?ﬁ’%ﬂxﬁ%ﬂ’hm

reclassified the carrying amount of Convertible
Bonds from non-current liabilities to current
liabilities as at 31 December 2023. The liquidity
risk in respect of the Convertible Bonds was

restated accordingly.

ME - RNAFEERER _—_FT—

T =F

PHRBREHEST -

PEEBEBERAF

—E-IFEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. AR EE RMHEITH
Z’\JZ{E(&E)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ from those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank borrowings at variable
rates. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate time
deposits with original maturity not over three
months, lease liabilities and convertible bonds. The
Group did not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge its debt obligations. The Group aims at
keeping borrowings at variable rate. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and
outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating
rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

Bank balances are carried at low interest rates and
the interest income thereon is not significant.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

(b)

(9]

REE < E R (E)

fitf 7 8 S R BR|E KRB E
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EMBREIEIAMAZE
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REBEBEAZBERNZLSRITE
BEzHemEMNERR A%
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HBiE=EANEEEBHEFER
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BF =R R o 74 & B I &5 A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk portfolio
The following table, as reported to the
management of the Group, details the
interest rate risk profile of the Group's
assets/(liabilities) at the end of the reporting

35 MBEBEERMBIA
ZAFEE)

(o) FI=RmE k(&)
(i) FEREHES
#n R A & B E R B A
HBE TRFHAKHE
RBEPRNEE (B
(EORAIR:N3: VL =P

period.
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=E
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
RMB’000 (%) RMB'000 (%)
ARETRT EBRHE%) ARBTIL  BEBRHE%)
Fixed-rate B
Time deposits with REARER LB
original maturity A
not over three months & HifF 3¢ 9,024  4.50%-4.55% = -
Lease liabilities HEAR (14,507) 6.87%-14.00% (19,358) 6.87%-13.00%
Convertible bonds R ES (12,754) 1% (14,313) 1%
(18,237) (33,671)
Variable-rate EE
Bank borrowings BRITEE (2,420)  2.12%-2.92% (3,759) 1.86%-2.79%
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (i) BBE 7
The directors of the Company performed RNATBEZEEZARE FF

sensitivity analysis with estimation of a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points.

T F& 10016 & i 2 4 &
EITHREDM -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. i EMEERHE I A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, it is estimated that
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points (2023: 100 basis points) in interest
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings, with
all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's loss after
tax and the Group’s accumulated losses by
approximately RMB20,000 (2023: RMB31,000).
Other components of consolidated equity
would not change in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's loss
after tax (and accumulated loss) and other
components of consolidated equity that
would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s loss after
tax (and accumulated loss) and other
components of consolidated equity is
estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense or income of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed
on the same basis as 2023.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the directors of
the Company monitor the Group's foreign
currency exposures and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposures should the
need arises.

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through trade and other receivables,
bank deposit and trade and other payables
denominated in a foreign currency that is a
currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are Euro
("EUR"), NTD, US$, RMB and HK$. The
Group's policy is to ensure that its net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by
buying or selling foreign currencies at spot
values when necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

The following table details the Group's
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in RMB, translated using the spot
rate at the respective year end dates.

35 MBEBEERMBIA
ZAFEGEE)

ER AR
ARERE B FI SN BN EUR o
A ARBEFEREARE

(d)

ZHOERE  XERNBERER
ZREERNWINE R 1F L 8
ks

(i) FriE ¥z & ¥ g pe
RNEEFKTHEERR
FERE UAINE (BB B
EBMF RN EE
LN EE)GTENE S
N E fth jE U ZRE - R AT
ﬁﬁu&?%&ﬁ@ﬁ
318 - B Bt 1B A B
MEEASBIT(BIT])
ek . Zx ARK
RETL - AEBREE
HEBHAXERZBERA
BRI EEREFINE
LA RE R 5 B B 0F (B 4 3%
A EFHKE -

TRANAKEBER RS
HAREAEEE %Iﬂéﬁ
BEBANZEEFTEZ
EHRIAEEXREME
AEZE®RAR- %2R
mE- ARESETAA
REBIR EDERE
FREEBZEHAEXRZE

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)

FEHZMERRUARETIR)
2024 2023
~¥-mE —TC_=fF
EUR us$ RMB EUR US$ RMB
Bx %xn AR%® EBx X1 AR¥
'000 ‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
fx Fx Fx Fr FTr Frx
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H 1 fE Ik
and deposits paid FEREMES - - 450 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents ~ HE&REEZEY - 21 1,981 - 18 649
Trade and other payables and & 5 K H i fE
deposits received FEREWEZE S (311) = = = = =
Net exposure arising from MAREEMESE Z
recognised assets B 3 8 (311) 21 2,431 = 18 649
FEEGEEERAT —EMFEFIR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. i EMEERMEIT A
ZAFEEE)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) f’l’%ﬂl‘ﬁ (%)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (i) BBRE DI

The following table indicates the TRIEERSEBHARE
instantaneous change in the Group’s loss REBBEAFEZE
after tax and accumulated losses that would ERZB LRSI R
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the EREPTA E AR &

Group has significant exposure at the end of HHE/FITEZ2BERT
the reporting period had changed at that AEBEZHBRREEERER
date, assuming all other risk variables EitEBiEBeESE 2B
remained constant. In this respect, it is KREH -ptms B
assumed that the pegged rate between the BEABTHETHEE
HK$ and the US$ would be materially ExEgIreRETHLHE
unaffected by any changes in movement in fth & # 2 (E 135 (ER=))

value of the US$ against other currencies. m¥%EERTE
2024 2023
k- - Ik S

Increase/ Decrease/ Decrease/ Increase/ Decrease/ Decrease/
(decrease) (increase)  (increase) in (decrease) (increase) (increase) in
in foreign inloss  accumulated in foreign inloss  accumulated
exchange rates after tax losses  exchange rates after tax losses
Ex RHEFR RitBA EX BRGESR 2itEH
L#/(FH) EL/(EM) BY/Em) ER/(FR) BL/8m) ES/Em)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETT  ARETR
Us$ 0 10% 2 2 10% 2 2
(10%) @ @ (10%) 2) 2)
EUR R 10% (26) (26) 10% - -
(10%) 26 26 (10%) - -
Results of the analysis as presented in the EREVNZHWERIE

above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the group
entities’ profit/(loss) after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end
of the reporting period, including payables
and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations
into the Group's presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for
2023.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from financial assets measured at FVTPL
and convertible bonds designated at FVTPL.

The Group's mutual funds and unit trusts are
established in Taiwan, which principal assets
consist of local and foreign currencies bank
deposits, bonds and equity securities listed in
Taiwan and other foreign stock markets.

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in listed equity securities, debt
instruments and exchange traded funds as
disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements. Decisions to buy or sell listed equity
securities, debt instruments and exchange traded
funds are based on daily monitoring of the
performance of individual equity securities, debt
instruments and exchange traded funds compared
to that of the index and other industry indicators,
as well as the Group's liquidity need.

35 MBEBEERMBIA
ZAFEE)

(d) E¥E b (&)

(i) BBE 7 H (E)
BRRE DT RREKE
BERERAREHTGER
SEBEFTFA IR RS
RAE A K EE RN R
BHE/mIT A BFEAN
SBEARNUNERASER

AR BB UIINN E
B ST E A JE T 3IE B
WHRIE - ZAa M TR
158 N 3 75 K B 75 R R
BEABAEEZYEH
FMEAMNERE N_ZF
:EETJ@E?@*E@%@

HEATDH o

(e) EZEKREMR
REBEAZ 2 EGEREHE
RXRBRAFEFABGZAE
ZEM‘%%E&%%Z%TEQ?@
AFABEZ AT RBRES

AEBZEREE REMUER
TTREeERY EXTB2EER
BEREeEBREMINERSTS
ZEMBIINERITER  EF
NIEZRES -

AN AR A B 7% R R MY R 19 AT
WE AEERERETRA
B EWIE&Q%%EE
EomitEEBRESERERR
BEELTRAZES E%Iﬂ
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  35. A EGEE RMBE I A

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFEE)

(Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued) (e) HEZBEXEAM(E)
The Group is also exposed to equity price risk NE TR E$ AAREZ
arising from changes in the Company’s own share BaITEAREAREEAHRKR
price to the extent that the Company’s own equity BEHE2AFENGEAN K&
instruments underline the fair values of the ENEARNAARNS 2 REZ
convertible bonds of the Group at the end of i TE e A 2 (B AR B B o

reporting period.

Sensitivity analysis BRETH

The following tables detail the sensitivity of the TRDAIFFILAEBEHO)ZEA
Group to a 10% (2023: 10%) increase and FTEFABRTECVEEE
decrease in (i) the prices of the financial assets ZEREMERPI10%(Z=F
measured at FVTPL; (ii) share price of the Z=F10%) (A A A &
Company; and (iii) the volatility of the share price BEMERDI0%(ZE==
of the Company respectively. F:10%) 0 KiyA 2 & k&

KB BRE »

Prices of the financial assets measured at FVTPL

BRAFESANARGBZMBARZER

Increased by 10% Decreased by 10%
#m10% HP10%
2024 2023 2024 2023
“¥-mE -—T-o-F Z¥FWE —T-o=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFRE ARBTT ARNMFR ARBTR

(Decrease)increase in: AT RIE 2 (F4),/HEm :
— Loss after tax -BREER (772) (1,453) 772 1,453

- Accumulated losses  — 2 &8 (772) (1,453) 772 1,453

Share price of the Company

XATRE
Increased by 10% Decreased by 10%
B 10% HP10%
2024 2023 2024 2023
—¥-mE -—T-o=F CZ¥-ME -"T-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

AR®FTRE AR®BTn ARWFTR AR%Tx

Increase/(decrease) in: WA & 21,/ i 4)
- Loss after tax -BRBEER 236 687 (254) (651)

- Accumulated losses  — 2t &8 236 687 (254) (651)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. I EREERMEITAH
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFEEE)
(Continued)

(e) HEZmERERE)
HBE D (&)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Volatility of share price of the Company

AATRERY
Increased by 10% Decreased by 10%
#m10% B 10%
2024 2023 2024 2023
“®E-mE -4 ZB-mE _"—T-_-F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBTn AR%FTR AR®Tx

Increase/(decrease) in: AT &IBZ M,/ Ci4)
— Loss after tax -BEEESR 105 219 (162) (240)

- Accumulated losses  — 2 E 105 219 (162) (240)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
loss and other components of consolidated equity
that would arise assuming that the changes in the
stock market index or other relevant risk variables had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the
Group’s equity investments would change in
accordance with the historical correlation with the
relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

BRERESFETR  BRERBME
BREMBERRESR I ED
RBEMRERL  YEEA
REFFEAKEMBHELRN
BERREAEEREESE
BRERcEMTA AEHZ
BRREEBEBRRFABERESR
Bm 2 Htao BELE 2B
HE) o I TRRAKER
AREZ R FERBEREMEH
BEMSGEE K ARARE

ZESHEBEEMES MAA
HthBEHERFITE - R_F
“ZFNEREREEETD
#T o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  35. A EGEE RMBE I A

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFEE)

(Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement () DAFEFTE

(i) Financial assets and liabilities () BAFEITEZHE

measured at fair value BEREE
Fair value hierarchy NEEE R
The following table presents the fair value of TR N HmE B RE
the Group's financial instruments measured BKEUHEEEFENEAE
at the end of the reporting period on a BB ITENRFE:
recurring basis, categorised into the three- GERBEBMBmEE
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS BIZE135E A FEFETE
13, Fair value measurement. The definitions EN=ZBLAFEER-
of Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 valuations are F—EB - F-ZBRE=
disclosed in Note 14(c)(i) to the consolidated fh 1B 8 E & B ERE
financial statements. & W B W& M 1400) °
The Group has a team headed by the finance $ EEE—BBHEVBL
manager performing valuations for the PEEME K BB
financial instruments. The team reports T AESTIHE - Z B K
directly to the directors of the Company and BEEMARQ ﬂ EEFENE
the audit committee. A valuation report with REZEgWmE - ZEK
analysis of changes in fair value measurement N R R E e E=
is prepared by the team at each interim and MEAEERSE ER
annual reporting date, and is reviewed and ANTEFEZSH 2
approved by the directors of the Company. BHEAQRAESERR
Discussion of the valuation process and HE-BFFERXRDF
results with the directors of the Company and EERERZZETHER
the audit committee is held bi-annually, to HEEFRER FE
coincide with the reporting dates. FhReHmERE-

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 35. I EREERMEITAH
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)

(i)

Fair value measurements

ZAFEE)

(f) DFEFEGE

(i) BAFETEZHHE
BEREEGE)
AFEE

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2024 categorised into
R-B-ME+ZA=+-HH

ATEAENER
Fair value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZF-WE
+-A=+-H
MATE E-IE $-E $ZE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Recurring fair value CEMATHETE
measurement
Asset BE
Financial assets measured 1% A FEF A B st
at FVTPL BYHBEE 39,373 39,373 - -
Liability Ef&
Convertible bonds Bk ES 12,754 S = 12,754

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35.

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

()

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)
Fair value measurements (Continued)

MHEEAREERMBIR
ZAaFEER)

() AFEFEGE)
(i) BAFETEZHE
BEEREEGA)
A EE(E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
RIBZ=F+-A=1—HH
A$@ﬁaﬂﬁﬁ

Fair value at
31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-_E-=%
+-A=t-A
MATE F- F- F=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETTL AREFT
Recurring fair value CEMATHETE
measurement
Asset BE
Financial assets measured & A FEiF ABR;T
at FvTPL EYMBEE 48,495 48,495 - -
Liability Bf&
Convertible bonds BRES 14,313 = = 14,313

During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out
of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting

period in which they occur.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

The Group's convertible bonds as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were revalued
and the valuations were carried out by
APAC. APAC are independent qualified
professional valuers with recent experience
in the relevant field of valuation. The
Group’s directors have discussed with APAC
on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at
each interim and annual reporting date.

The significant unobservable input (i.e.
volatility of the share price of the Company)
adopted in the valuation of convertible
bonds are disclosed in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The higher the volatility of the share price of
the Company, the higher the fair value of
the convertible bonds. Details of the
volatility of the share price of the Company
used in the fair value measurement are set
out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The sensitivity analysis on (i) the volatility of
share price of the Company; and (ii) the
share price of the Company, are set out in
Note 35(e) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Fair value of financial instruments
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's
financial instruments carried at amortised
cost were not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

35 MBEBEERMBIA
ZAFEE)

(f) AFEEGE)

(il BEEE=ZFE LN FHEG
BZEHN
RZETE_EOFERZZF
—=%+=-—RA=+—8"
AEBZAABMEBRESES
TEME HERENE
fTomADEEMER
HAEMHEBELR 2B
VEEREEMGER-
EEEPHBHRERFERSE
BEETHAER A&
l%%aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BERZEHES

AR ESFHERMZ
BEM A ERE AE(H
RARRERE) REZEE
B SRR M FE 29 85 -

NN AR E KRR K
AMBRES 2R FER
B BBAFEFEM
B A& ERR 2
BN SRR &)
£F29 °

HORARR K ERE &
(VAR AIRE Z SR E
PMBRGEYBRE
Bff 5 35(e) ©

IR FEIEZ
BBETAZNFHE

AN B R EK AT R
2B TAEZEmMER
ER-ZTE_MER=Z
—=f#+-_BR=+—8H
ZRAFETESERDF -

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. FAEFRX S
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BEGEMBERREMBOAMBEER
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the SREBRIN REBEILLAT &
Group entered into the following related party ARG :

transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration () FEEBAEME
Remuneration for key management personnel of AEEBXTZEEBEAEMEEX
the Group represents the amounts paid to the NTARRABESE Z KB (RE
Company's directors as disclosed in Note 8 to the BB mMRMESKE) -

consolidated financial statements.

(b) Remuneration for close family members (b) TEEBABABZHME
of key management personnel
Remuneration for close family members of key RAEBFEERABIE 2B
management personnel of the Group is as follows: W
2024 2023
—E-lE “BC=F
Short-term Post- Short-term Post-
employee  employment employee employment
benefits benefit Total benefits benefit Total
B EEE HEER @ ZHESEAN BEREMN @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR AREFT AREFT ARBTT
Mr. Liu Ting-Hsuan 984 - 984 1,127 - 1,127
AEHEE
Ms. Liu Ting Hsin 330 - 330 350 - 350
AET Rt
1,314 - 1,314 1,477 - 1,477
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see MeBBEA ATEINA] (R
Note 6(b)). BizE6(b)) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Other related parties transactions

(i)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
Bau Shan and Ms. Li Pi Hsia (“Ms. Li")
renewed a deed of trust which was entered
by Bau Shan and Ms. Li on 15 March 2013.
The original deed of trust and the renewed
deed of trust are collectively referred to as
the “Niao Song Deed”. Under the Niao Song
Deed, Bau Shan agreed that the land
property situated in Taiwan at No. 943 in
Section Linnei, Niao Song Township,
Kaohsiung County, Taiwan (the “Niao Song
Property”), which is owned by Bau Shan,
shall be registered under the name of and
held on trust by Ms. Li for Bau Shan for a
term of ten years commencing on 15 March
2013 and for a term of another ten years
commencing on 15 March 2023. Ms. Li has
agreed that she shall act in the interest of
Bau Shan in relation to the Niao Song
Property during the term of the Niao Song
Deed.

On 25 March 2016, a deed of trust (the
“Neimen Deed”) was entered into between
BLL and Mr. Liu in relation to a land property
situated in Taiwan at No.0300-00001 in
Section Laizikeng, Neimen District,
Kaohsiung County, Taiwan (the “Neimen
Property”). Under the Neimen Deed, BLL
agreed that the Neimen Property, which is
owned by BLL, shall be registered under the
name of and held on trust by Mr. Liu for
BLL. Mr. Liu has agreed that he shall act in
the interest of BLL in relation to the Neimen
Property.

36. BEF X 5 (F)

(c) HEMBEIZRS

() BHEZZE-_—_F+=_H
=t+—HLEEEBWL
HEBETH([ZFELL])
EE—MHBLEZLZL
R-ZE—=%F=ZA+1
BEIZWEER2E - R
CEHEREREEEER
BoaBAIRNRRZE]-
BESNEE  BIUE
ERELEAZMUR A
Rl = N A2
9435 2 T E (R
MYWENNBUNZTLEZ
LEGEM LHAEFTE
XABLUEE BHZZ
—=F=HAt+HH®5
BHI0FERBA =T ==
FE=F+HABLFTBIH
BT F-ZTRITRAE
REMRTEFHR W H
ERmENMENAELZ
FEmITE o

iy H"=—% — ~F=ZA
—t+HH TEMEZ
EERMR G &S %
A P9 [& % F 1 B2 0300~
00001 b 5% 2 £ ¥ %
(TAMBEDETZ—1®
SEREBE(TAMRIE]) -
BEAPIZE - T EMR
BEBRTEMNEESZA
FAMEBNB AL 2B
ZaMIEUELTERXA
NEMFTH - B ER
B3t AT E S E K
ZHEITE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Other related parties transactions (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

On 1 April 2016, BLL was granted by Mr. Liu
Ting-Hsuan, close family member of Mr. Liu,
on an exclusive basis a licence to use a
number of trademarks in connection with
the elderly care and related consultancy
services of BLL at a consideration of
HK$1,000 per year.

Guarantee for the Group’s bank borrowings
of approximately RMB580,000 (2023:
RMB1,028,000) (Note 28) is given by Mr. Liu
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

On 31 January 2019, Zhongke Guangju Cell
Therapy (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.* (FF Rl E
MpmEE(ER)BR A F) ("Zhongke
Guangju”), a company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability and is indirectly
held as to 30% equity interest by Mr. XU
and his associates through a controlled
company, and Zhongke Zhengi Biotechnology
(Hong Kong) Company Limited (“Zhongke
Zhengi”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an agency
agreement (the “Agency Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, Zhongke
Guangju has agreed to engage Zhongke
Zhengi as a tier 1 agent to represent its sales
and/or services of stem cells and
immunocytes in the PRC, Hong Kong and
Macau.

*  For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Other related parties transactions (Continued)

(v)

(Continued)

Zhongke Guangju, as service provider, will,
in addition to providing stem cells and
immunocytes products and/or services, be
responsible for complimentary advisory and
promotional materials. Zhongke Zhenqi, as
agent, will be responsible for market
development, market promotion and
providing market feedback to Zhongke
Guangju. The prices of the products and/or
services provided by Zhongke Guangju were
arrived at after arm’s length negotiations
between both parties and are consistent
with the prices provided by Zhongke
Guangju to existing agents. Zhongke
Guangju may determine at its own discretion
the sale prices of the relevant products and/
or services based on market conditions.

No such services were provided by Zhongke
Guangju during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

36. BEF X 5 (F)

() BEMBELSZ2XZ (&)
v (&)

hRLE R E S MR IR M
BoRREHRBARIER
RARER R/ LRH
S ERBERERE
AAREEME -
ZEERRER AR
MERE MHERR
AAMERRERETER
R PR EBRREMHRMNE
KRB AR T
BOTRAFHERRESR
BEAMERRERHETR
TREMNES -+
MEZATREMSER
BITRBEEECHEBE
X,/ SR E BAR

BE_ZT_NHWFER=F
Z=f+ZHA=+—H
EFEFE ARERY &
RHZER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Other related parties transactions (Continued)
(vij On 13 September 2021, Zhongke Xunda
Biotechnology (Shenzhen) Company Limited*
(P RAEEDRECRIN) AR 2 E)
("Zhongke Xunda”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a capital increase agreement (the
“Capital Increase Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Nanyue Crown Block Bio Intelligent
Equipment Investment Co., Ltd.* (YT
BRREEMS e EBIREBRAR]) (“"Nanyue
CB") to increase the registered capital of
Zhongke Zhenhui from RMB10,000,000 to
RMB80,000,000 on a pro-rata basis. Pursuant
to the Capital Increase Agreement, Zhongke
Xunda and Nanyue CB agreed to contribute,
by way of cash, RMB35,700,000 and
RMB34,300,000 into the registered capital of
Zhongke Zhenhui, respectively. Nanyue CB is
ultimately owned as to approximately
71.25% by Mr. Xu and his associates.

As disclosed in Note 42(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has acquired
the paid-up capital of Zhongke Zhenhui
amounting to RMB16,200,000, which is
equivalent to 20.25% equity interest in
Zhongke Zhenhui at a consideration of
RMB15,930,000 (equivalent to HK$18,160,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
Nanyue CB contributed the paid-up capital
of Zhongke Zhenhui of RMB610,000 (2023:
RMB100,000).

As at 31 December 2024, Nanyue CB
contributed RMB710,000 (2023: RMB100,000)
into the registered capital of Zhongke Zhenhui.

*  For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

Amounts due from/(to) other related
parties

Particular of amounts due from/(to) other related
parties, which are included in other receivables/
(other payables) are disclosed as follows:

36. BEF X 5 (F)

(d EWR (BN HMEER

/L]

FE U, (& 1) H 4t B8 & 77 3R IR
(5t AH ftb & W 3%

NP WFBEEENT

H,/(H e

2024 2023

“BC-WNE C—T-=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

Relationship M ARETRT ARETT

Ms. Chang Hui-lan ~ REZBZ L  Key management personnel FEEE A& 109 (42)
Mr. Liu Ting-Hsuan ~ 2I3E&F 5% £  Close family member TEEBAB

of key management il
personnel (242) (385)

Maximum amount outstanding during the years

HE_Z_NMFER_ZT_=F

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: +—_A=+—BLEFEHREERX
BESBFOAN :
2024 2023
—EC-E —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARB T T
Ms. Chang Hui-Lan REMAZ L 150 1,867
Mr. Liu Ting-Hsuan B pEF L& N/A N/A
~ER T iE A

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

TRAERN EBEENUREAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36. BHE 53 5 (48)
(e) Amounts due to directors (e) ENEEZ2RE

Particular of amounts due to directors are ENEERIENFBERENT ¢
disclosed as follows:

2024 2023
—E-_MmE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTR AR® T

Mr. Liu 2% £ 2,390 2,003
Mr. Xu P& 517 2,634
Dr. Yang HBiE L 14 14
Ms. Hu 2z + 14 30
2,935 4,681

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

CEAEER BEEUARAR

;c/\L & °

(f)  Amount due to a shareholder (f) B —BRRZFE
Particular of amount due to a shareholder is BN —BBREZRBEBNFER
disclosed as follows: R (N

2024 2023
—E-MUE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARET T

Hong Kong Gaogi Biological BB =R EMB
Technology Company Limited BRRA A 13,625 13,023

Analysed as: DITE

Current liabilities (note i) B & & (B &) 11,146 13,023
Non-current liabilities (note ii) I B B & (KT 5Eii) 2,479 =
13,625 13,023
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(f) Amount due to a shareholder (Continued)

Notes:

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to a
shareholder of approximately RMB11,146,000
(2023: RMB10,625,000) was unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. In addition, as at
31 December 2023, the amount due to a
shareholder of approximately RMB2,398,000
(2024: Nil) was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable after one year.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to a
shareholder of approximately RMB2,479,000
(2023: Nil) was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable after one year.

37. OPERATING LEASES

36. BEF X 5 (F)

f) EBN—BRERZFHEGE)
B 5

—mE+ =
H: EfF— %
R IELHAR!
11,146,000 . (= & =
F: AR ¥10,625,000
L) BEER . 2B KA

i)

—|—\|
IAH

1
l\lﬁﬁmlﬂﬂ

BREREE L R
ZTE2EZ=Z%+ = A
:+—EI FE A+ — & &
RZ2RBHARE

2,398,0007_@( —Z= -
i'ﬁ)i%ﬁﬁ#ﬁ % B
ER—FrBER-

iy MRZ-ZZT_-_MWFE+ A8
=t+t—B Ef—2K
HHREBLHARE

2,479,000 ( = & —
FE)BEERR &8
MEAR—FRBER-

37. EEHS

The Group as lessor AEBEREBEA
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had RZE_WERZZT_=%+=A4
contracted with tenants in respect of its investment =+—H AEEREEKEWEM
properties for the following future minimum lease BHEPFAZARKEEENKE
payments: L N
2024 2023
—E-NE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T T
Within 1 year —F K 237 245
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRLKAF - 245
237 490

Operating lease receivables represent rentals receivable
by the Group for its investment properties. Leases are
negotiated for terms of 3 years (2023: 3 years). None of
the lease includes contingent rentals.

EREEMERBETD /A EE R E
REMERKNEE HHKER
ERIF(ZT_=F:3F) UK
HHBRxAEE-

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

38.

39.

40.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EAKIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 L= ﬁﬂ‘%iﬁ?\% NARBEH 2N Z
and 2023 not provided for in the consolidated financial “HERZ =+ H= ‘1’*
statements are as follows: HHAKET Zﬁﬁﬁ@%‘ﬁﬂ—r :
2024 2023
—F-mE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®T T
Capital expenditure contracted EENEREREZ
but not provided for: BRAX :
— Interest in an associate — & —MBE QA 2,460 2,460
- Financial assets measured —BAFEFABRTE
at FVTPL 2B EE 2,000 -
— Intangible assets —-EBREE 225 225
4,685 2,685
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 39. HWEE

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of the Group
were secured by land and buildings with carrying
amount of approximately RMB26,192,000 (2023:
RMB24,377,000) (Notes 14(d) and 28).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Up to the date of the approval for issuance of the
Group's consolidated financial statements, the Group
has the following event relevant to the Group:

In March 2025, the Group discovered that certain
subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC were involved in
a litigation, which is publicly recorded. As of the date of
the approval for issuance of the Group's consolidated
financial statements, the Group has not received any
documents regarding this litigation and is therefore
unable to assess its potential impact. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the potential financial
effect that will be brought by the litigation cannot be
reliably measured. The Group will continue to monitor
the situation and provide further updates as needed.

Except for the above and disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group does not
have other significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024

40.

RZZE-_WME+-_A=+—H" K
EENRTEEUNEREOAAR
#26,192,000t(ZE=—=F : AR
# 24,377,000 7T ) (Pt 5% 14(d) 2 28) &Y
T RAEFERME -

HARR

BEAKERAM B RREALET
HEH AKEEBLETIEANEE
BRzEM:

RZZTE_AF=F AEFERHVAK
NRAETHENBARIEY —HE
PHARENFLR BEAEBEKAE
B mEREMETERE A5 H
im] A U R B B8 5% 5F FA B9 (/] ST

AhtEETHEEEFE - XA
EERE ZHFRABEEENE

BT EELAETE AEEH
EEERTERRIES ZREHE

E—THEFH-

Bk EMBRRE MBS
BREEN AEEAR_FT_HFR
—E_=FFT_A=t—BYEH
MEBRIXAREE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HIEFE

41. BIBAT

41. SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

4=

WD

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, which are @ RZE_NFRER_ZFT_=%F
private companies or, if established/incorporated +=ZA=+—H XxQRZH
outside Hong Kong, have substantially the same BAR(AFARAH(HRE
characteristic as a Hong Kong private company, as BIEINKRIY EMKRIL)IAER
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: HEBLARBKNBERZH
)2 HEMT
Authorised ordinary Issued and fully paid-up
Place and date of share capital/ ordinary share or Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/establishment registered capital registered capital Proportion of ownership interest place of operation
EETRAREER
HELEEE HRAL/RIHRES ke EERS/HRES gERER it TERR/BERY
Group's
effective Held by Held by
interest  the Company subsidiaries
3 1) BExAT B E
RRER i) ATHE
Directly held
EERE
Bau Shan Taiwan NTD70,452,000 NTD70,452,000 60% 60% - Provision of funeral services, sale
29 December 1998 (2023: NTD70,452,000) (2023: NTD70,452,000) (2023: 60%) (2023: 60%) of funeral services deeds and
investment holding/Taiwan
{1 =) 70,452,003 &% 70452000%? (CB-zf: (ZBocf RUBERY HERERE
-ARNEZAZTAB (z3z=z%: (zZ==%: 60%) 60%) FORRELR/ A8
70,452,000% &%) 70,452,000% &%)
Full Spread (China) Limited Hong Kong NA HKS1 100% 100% - Investment holding/Hong Kong
5 October 2007 (2023: N/A) (2023: HK$1) (2023: 100%) (2023:100%)
AH(HE)ERAT Bk TER g (ZBz=F: (ZBzzZ% REER/FE
ZERLEHARA (ZB==%:TER) (CR-Z%:1%7) 100%) 100%)
Allied Smart Development Limited ~ Hong Kong NA HK$1 100% 100% - Investment holding/Hong Kong
1 April 2010 (2023: N/A) (2023: HK$1) (2023: 100%) (2023: 100%)
SRERARAA Bk TR 1#r  (ZFZZF: (23Z=F RERR/ B
“2-2£MA-A (C2-Z%:748R) (CR=Z%:1%7) 100%) 100%)
Sino-Life (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong /A HKS1 100% 100% - Provision of funeral services and
9 August 2010 (2023: NiA) (2023: HK$1) (2023: 100%) (2023: 100%) sale of funeral services deeds/
Hong Kong
PRER(BE)ERAA Bk TER 1T (ZFzzF: (ZEo=E RERERFRECERRH
“E-ZE)\ANA (Z22=%:T§R) (Z2=%: 187 100%) 100%) 24/%%
Dayrise Enterprises Limited BV US$50,000 Uss$1 100% 100% - Investment holding/BVI
13 September 2010 (2023: US$50,000) (2023: US§1) (2023: 100%) (2023: 100%)
ARGEERAA RERRES 50,000%7T 1% (ZFzZ%F: (CB2Zf RERR/KBRAES
ZE-ZEAATER (ZFZ=5:50,000% ) (ZF==fF1%7) 100%) 100%)
Jing Run Limited BVI US§1,000,000 1S§1,000,000 55% 55% - Inactive/BVI
12 February 2010 (2023: US$1,000,000) (2023: US$1,000,000) (2023: 55%) (2023: 55%)
RAERATA ABRARE 1,000,000% 7 100000057 (ZB==%: (ZF==F TER/RBRRES
Z2-TF-A1CH (ZRZZF:100000%7)  (ZFZ=%:1,000,000%7) 55%) 55%)
Timeless Surplus (Hong Kong) Hong Kong NA NA NA NA - Inactive/Hong Kong
Limited (note (i)) 17 April 2012 (2023: N/A) (2023: HK$1) (2023: 100%) (2023: 100%)
EEESERADME)) % TER TER il iR TER/BE
“E-ZERATLR (ZBZ=%: TH#R) (ZBz=ZF18n)  (ZB-=%: (ZBz=f
100%) 100%)
Zhongke Zhengi Biotechnology The PRC RMB10,000,000 Nil 100% 100% - Research and testing development/
(Guangdong) Co., Ltd. 29 November 2018 (2023: RMB10,000,000) (2023: Nil) (2023: 100%) (2023:100%) The PRC
(notes (i), (iv),(v))
PHEEEDHR(ER) HE AR 10,000,000 (Z2zz&: (Z2z=ZF: REAHRAE/HE
BRAF (M (i) )0) 2 NEt-A-tAR (-B==%: 100%) 100%)
A #10,000,0007)
Zhongke Zhengi Hong Kong 9 April 2019 NA HK$1,000,000 100% 100% - Sales of biotechnical machineries/
(2023: N/A) (2023: HK$1,000,000) (2023: 100%) (2023: 100%) Hong Kong
hHER B ki 10000008% (ZB==fF: (ZF==f: ENHREEHE/BR
“2-AFBANA (CRoZE: @A) (STZZF:1,000000E7) 100%) 100%)
FEHEEGEEERAT —ZT-IFEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-WNF+-_/=+—HILFE

41. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Authorised ordinary

41.

Issued and fully paid-up

Fft /8 22 5] (48)

(@ (i

&)

Place and date of share capital/ ordinary share or Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/establishment registered capital registered capital Proportion of ownership interest place of operation
ERTRYREER
KEARER HREL/BIBERAY ErbdRy/EREx gEREs ikt {3:04:) TERE/ LY
Group's
effective Held by Held by
interest  the Company subsidiaries
50 LV HHE
EREL % AERE
Indirectly held
R&#HE
Chongging Xibao (notes (i), (1))~ The PRC US$4,000,000 US$4,000,000 100% - 100% Provision of funeral services and
19 March 2007 (2023: US$4,000,000) (2023: US$4,000,000) (2023:100%) (2023:100%)  investment holding/The PRC
B GERU) il 400000057 400000%7  (ZFZZ%: (Z222%: RERGRBRRALR/TE
ZTELE=ATAR (ZBZZE:4000000%7)  (ZEZ=5:4000000%7) 100%) 100%)
Chongging Xizhou Funeral Service  The PRC RMB300,000 RMB300,000 100% = 100% Provision of funeral services/
Company Limited (notes (ii),()) 25 October 2006 (2023: RMB300,000) (2023: RMB300,000)  (2023: 100%) (2023:100%)  The PRC
ERGRBERAARAA il AE%300,0007 ARE30000T  (ZFZ=F: (ZR22%: RERRRE/E
(B3 (v) ZEEAETACTER (CEZZE: AR%300000%) (ZF==%: ARE300,0007) 100%) 100%)
Sino-Life Eternities Limited (note (i)) BVI N/A N/A N/A - N/A' Investment holding/BVI
(2023: US$50,000) (2023: US$10,0000 ~ (2023:78.75%) (2023: 78.75%)
@R @R TER TR RERR/ARRLES
(CEZZE:50000 %) (CEZZE0000%7m)  (CRo=F: (Z3==%:
78.75%) 78.75%)
Sino-Life Eternities Services Limited Hong Kong NA NA NA - N/A Not yet commenced business/
(note (i) 20 April 2010 (2023: NA) (2023:HK$1)  (2023:78.75%) (2023:78.75%)  Hong Kong
HERERRBARDA(NR) B8 1 i TER TR AREE/ER
ZZ-TEMACTE (Z3==% THR) (c2z=%:1%7) (ZF=zF: (CFzzF
7875%) 78.75%)
Jinhao Enterprises Limited BYI US$50,000 Us§1 100% = 100% Investment holding/BVI
13 September 2010 (2023: US$50,000) (2023: US§1)  (2023:100%) (2023: 100%)
EFLEERAT ERRLES 50,000% 7 1%T (ZRIZE: (ZZ-ZE: RERR/HERTER
(Z2Z=%:50000%7T) (CF-=f:11%7) 100%) 100%)
Sino-Departures Limited (note (i) Hong Kong N/A N/A N/A - /A Not yet commenced business/
5 December 2011 (2023: NiA) (2023: HK$5)  (2023: 100%) (2023:100%)  Hong Kong
HERGEERDAMNGH)  ER &R &R TER TR nRRE/BR
“2--%t-AEA (CR==%: TER) (CB-=f:5km)  (CBocE: (Z5z=%
100%) 100%)
Bao Son Life Vietnam US$200,000 US$200,000 80% - 80% Investment holding/Vietnam
20 June 2012 (2023: US$200,000) (2023: US$200,000) (2023 80%) (2023:80%)
BlEs 43 200000£7C 00057 (ZF==%F: (ZR2ZF: RABK/EF
ZF-Z/AZ1H (ZFZ=%:200,000%7) Z=5:200000%7) 80%) 80%)
Ban Shan Consulting Limited Samoa U5$50,000 Us$1 60% - 100% [Inactive/Taiwan
14 November 2013 (2023: US$50,000) (2023: US$1) (2023 60%) (2023:100%)
EET 50,0007 151 (Z32=%: (C2-=fF: TEE/AE
ZE-ZE+-ATREA (ZBZZE:50000%7) (ZFz=%11%7) 60%) 100%)
HLY Duc Hoa (Note 41(b)) Vietnam VND50,000,000,000 VND39,750,000,000 - - - Sale of burial plots and provision
22 June 2012 (2023  VND50,000,000,000) (2023: YND39,750,000,000) (2023:4) (2023:-)  of cemetery maintenance
services/Vietnam
HLV Duc Hoa (B 41(6)) i) 50,000,000,000 47 & 3075000000088E (ZF==%F: ToCE: BEENRRUEREERE/
“E-—£5XA-1-A (ZB-=%: (ZFz=F: =) -) H#A
50,000,000,000# ) 39,750,000,0008 % &)
=3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_WF+-_A=+—HIEFE

41. MIE2E (&)

41.

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Authorised ordinary

(@ (&)

Issued and fully paid-up

Place and date of share capital/ ordinary share or Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/establishment registered capital registered capital Proportion of ownership interest place of operation
EERYREER
KEATER AL/ RISEREH EEtERE/HRES gifEs Pt o TERN/BERE
Group's
effective Held by Held by
interest  the Company subsidiaries
) BALE HHE
1541 % ATHE
BLL Taiwan NTD15,000,000 NTD15,000,000 60% - 100% Provision of elderly care and
12 October 2015 (2023: NTD15,000,000) (2023: NTD15,000,000) (2023: 60%) (2023:100%)  related consultancy
services/Taiwan
REH A 15,000,005 & & 1500000057 4%  (ZZZ=%: (C222%: REEZREBABRE/ B
ZE-RETATIR (ZEIZE:150000004%) (ZRZZF 150000005 4%) 60%) 100%)
Chongging Shouen Elderly Care The PRC RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 100% - 100% Not yet commenced business/
Services Limited (notes (i), (v)) 27 September 2016 (2023: RMB1,000,000) (2023: RMB1,000,000) (2023: 100%) (2023:100%)  The PRC
ERRERZRHARLT ﬂtﬂ@ AR%1,0000007T A,\%oooom (z3z=%: (CR-Z%: HARE/HE
(K&K - “FAEAACTEA (Z2-=%: 3 100%) 100%)
AR 1,000,0007) /\E‘?‘ 1,000, GOOT‘
Zhongke Life Holding Co., Limited ~ Hong Kong NA HK$1,000,000 100% - 100% Investment holding/Hong Kong
22 July 2019 (2023: N/A) (2023: HK$1,000,000) (2023: 100%) (2023 100%)
hREGERERAR B FER 10000007 (ZF==%: =F: REER/FE
“R-NELAZTZR (ZBZZE:7ER)  (ZBZZF:1,000000%7) 100%) 100%)
Zhongke Xunda (notes (ii), {iv), (v)) ~ The PRC RMB40,000,000 RMB1,812,890 100% - 100% Not yet commenced business/
17 September 2019 (2023: RMBA40,000,000) (2023: RMB1,812,890) (2023: 100%) (2023:100%)  The PRC
R (W)~ () () ile] Aﬁmooooooofu ARB1812807  (ZB-=%: (CZ=ZF: WARE/2E
“2-AFAATER (z%= (z2==%: 100%) 100%)
AR¥40,000,0007) AR%1,812,8907)
Zhongke Zhenhui (notes (ii), (i), (v)) The PRC RMB80,000,000 RMB18,643,900 71.25% - 71.25% Biomedical technology research/
19 May 2020 (2023: RMBB80,000,000) (2023: RMB18,033,900)  (2023: 71.25%) (2023:71.25%)  The PRC
RREE (W) () ) ke A 80,000,007 AE%1863000T  (ZZZ=F: (CR-Z%: ENERERZ/4E
“3-RERATAR (Z3z=%: (z22=%: 71.25%) 71.25%)
AR %80,000,0007) AR 18,643,9007)
Guangdong Zhenyuan Investment ~ The PRC RMB70,000,000 RMB31,160,000 62.14% - 78.57% Investment activities and corporate
Company Limited (* Guangdong 20 December 2021 (2023: RMB70,000,000) (2023:31,160,000)  (2023: 62.14%) (2023:78.57%)  management
Zhenyuan”) (notes (i) (iv).(v)) consultation/ The PRC
ERBERAARALAA ilz /&%700000001 ARM 600007 (z3z=%: (CR-%: RERBROREERY/9A
(ERER) (MG () =B=-F+=A=1R ( ( : 62.14%) 7857%)
/\RWO,DOO,GOO/:E‘,‘ AR31,160,0007)
Guangdong Huashi Technology ~ The PRC RMB6,660,000 RMB4,000,000 55.93% - 90% Not yet commenced business/
Limited (notes (i), (iv), (v}, (vi) 9 May 2024 (2023: NIA) (2023: NIA) (2023: NIA) (2023: N/A) ~ The PRC
EREEANRARAA il B 6,660,000 ARB4000007  (ZB==%: (C2-ZF: WARE/HE
(B B () 1) () Z3-mERAAR (ZB==%: TH#R) (ZBZZ%:THR) TER) TER)
Fusha Weilai (Guangdong) Aviation ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 RMB412,000 31.69% - 51% Not yet commenced business/
Technology Limited 4 June 2024 (2023: NIA) (2023: NIA) (2023: NIA) (2023:N/A) ~ The PRC
(notes (i), (i), (v) i)
EARR(BRMEHRERAR HE AE%10,000,0007 AE®41200%  (ZZZZF: (CR-Z%: HARE/HE
(RRERECG) () > () () “3-mEAARA (Z2Z=Z%:T@R) ZRCZF:TER) TER) TER)
Chongqing Renyizhixin Funeral ~ The PRC RMB30,000 RMB30,000 100% - 100% Not yet commenced business/
Services Limited 7 October 2024 (2023: N/A) (2023: N/A) (2023: N/A) (2023:N/A)  The PRC
(notes (i), (iv),(v),(vi))
EEL4RERERBARAR 1A AE%OOOM AE%OUOM 100% 100% AREEH/2E
(B B () > 1) () ZE-RETALE : (z3z=f%
TER)
FEHEEGEEERAT —ZT-IFEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

41. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@) (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The entity is dissolved/struck of during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

(i)  The entity is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

(iii)  The entity is a wholly-domestic-owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

(iv)  The registered capital of the entity was not paid-
up as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(v) The English name of the entity is for identification
purpose only.

(vi)  The entity is established during the year ended 31
December 2024.

(b)  The Group does not hold any ownership interests
in the entity, HLV Duc Hoa. However, based on
the terms of the contract under which HLV Duc
Hoa was established and controlled by the Group,
the Group receives substantially all of the variable
returns related to the involvement in HLV Duc
Hoa's operations and net assets and has the ability
to direct HLV Duc Hoa's activities that most
significantly affect those returns.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

41. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(c)

The table below shows details of non-wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Group that have

material NCI:

Place of incorporation/

41. BB 25 (8])
© TRINAREHBEAEE
B IE D A B A R RS -

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights

Name of subsidiary establishment held by NCI
FiERESRAZHAERR
ftBAE &M & M AR 3T A% 3L 3 B R EELL B
2024 2023
—EolmE —EZ=F
Bau Shan Taiwan 40% 40%
g1l =)
Bao Son Life Vietnam 20% 20%
ISy HE
Zhongke Zhenhui PRC 28.75% 28.75%
hRIEE § B

Summarised consolidated financial information in
respect of Bau Shan and its subsidiaries (“Bau
Shan Group”), Bao Son Life and its subsidiary
("Bao Son Life Group”) and Zhongke Zhenhui and
its subsidiary (“Zhongke Zhenhui Group”) that has
material NCI is set out below. The summarised
consolidated financial information below
represents amounts before intra-company

eliminations.

FRBBEARERERCE
W R EMERR(TEILEE])
BlAmRENBELR(EL
EwmEEDAERPHESRE
MEBAR(HRMEZEE])Z
FAMBENBEHIMT -
UTHEMBERBRERA
DEFEEIE A

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

41. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. B AT (4)
(c) (Continued) () (%)
2024 2023
—E-MmE —TC-ZF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFRT ARETT
Bao Son Zhongke Bao Son Zhongke
Bau Shan Life Zhenhui Bau Shan Life Zhenhui
Group Group Group Group Group Group
L L 21 Cop

HUKE +£4%E BERE DUEE  £0fE 5550
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETRE ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Financial information of consolidated & &R R BEER

statement of financial position

Current assets mEEE 158,467 5,410 22,638 184,023 16,276 25,366
Non-current assets ERBEE 32,660 318 1,180 31,376 180 958
Current liabilities ok BN (173,238) (2,811) (1,097)  (213443)  (54,166) (1,121)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,149) (577) - (2,741) (592) =
Less: Non-controlling interests B R RER - - (10,991) - - (12,302)
Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners AR FEH AR

of the company E%/ (B4) 16,740 2,340 11,730 (785 (38,302) 12,901
Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners ~ U TATEIEARAEE A

of the company, attributable to: Efh /(B4 :

- owners of the Company -ARAEBA 15,360 10,040 13,008 (471) (30,641) 14,277

-NCI ~HFEREE 1,380 (7,700) (1,278) (314) (7,661) (1,376)

16,740 2,340 11,730 (785 (38,302) 12,901

Financial information of consolidated Z&EEREMEZAKERM
statement of profit or loss and MBER
other comprehensive income

Revenue g 2,188 401 - 2,014 560 -
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable o~ AR R EA ARGEFERF]/
owners of the company (E#8) 790 (2,835) (1,620) 10,082 (957) (4,043)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AT AT EEADEEE A
owners of the company, attributable to: & £ & % |/ (B 18)

— owners of the Company ~ERAHEEA 474 (2,268) (1,154) 6,049 (766) (2,768)
-NCI —FERES 316 (567) (466) 4,033 (191) (1,275)
790 (2,835) (1,620) 10,082 (957) (4,043)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) ARl G AL 2E NS/
attributable to owners of the company ~ (F1%) % % 4,234 (265) (1,620) 10,324 (4,430) (4,043)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) LA N A LEEARAAHEAE A
attributable to owners of the company, FE{5 2 E K&/ (F%) 4%

attributable to:

~ owners of the Company ~-ARAEBA 2,540 (212) (1,154) 6,194 (3,544) (2,768)

-NCI —FEREE 1,694 (53) (466) 4,130 (886) (1,275)

4,234 (265) (1,620) 10,324 (4,430) (4,043)

Financial information of consolidated FAREFERNUBEEH

statement of cash flows
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from s /E‘ BRE(RL)/ A

operating activities (1,063) 160 (5,790) (130) 235 (6,841)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from

investing activities 2,081 - (3,925) 612 (60) 11,475
Net cash (outflows)inflows from 2 ﬁé@]fﬁﬁ (R )/ RA

financing activities Fi8 (1,236) (147) 157 (1,221) (72) 713
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RS
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

42. ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING 42. WS FEI=RHERS
INTERESTS

/\\/T\

During the year ended 31 December 2023

(a)

On 26 April 2023 (after trading hours), the
Company and Zhongke Xunda, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA 1”) with
Nanyue CB. Pursuant to the SPA I, Zhongke Xunda
has conditionally agreed to acquire from Nanyue
CB the paid-up capital of Zhongke Zhenhui
amounting to RMB16,200,000 which is
contributed by Nanyue CB and is equivalent to
20.25% equity interest in Zhongke Zhenhui, at a
consideration of RMB15,930,000 (equivalent to
HK$18,160,000). The aforesaid consideration shall
be satisfied by way of issue of the Convertible
Bonds to Nanyue CB or its nominee(s) under the
specific mandate (the “Specific Mandate 1”). The
Specific Mandate | was granted by the
independent shareholders of the Company to the
board of the directors at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 12 July 2023.

On 11 August 2023, the Convertible Bonds were
issued. Details and the particulars of the
Convertible Bonds were disclosed in Note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

S
Jl=:3

—

a

)

—=ft=-A=+-—H
E
E/Q\: —=FMA=ZFNHEHIR

SEEE®%) ARQA k&R
E(ARRZEBEEZENBAR)
HERAEIVEERZ(E
Bz —)) - REEEHZ —
PRI ED B G HF R E W mE &
AEWEEFRABEHEZHE
ZEHGRERA(EARE
16,200,000 7T © A& R &l =
2 22025% %) REAA
R #15,930,0007c( #H & ®
18,160,000/ jT ) £ @t X B
15 475 18 AR 15 R B 9% 4 ([ 4 BI) %
E—DRmBRRERERBA

BOABMRES 2 TN EN -
%%h% ERN/NCIE RV
R-EBE—_=FtA+=-_HHET
ZBREFIRE LRTESS -

REESFR_TE=_=F/\ A
+ HeEfT - AIBBRESZF

EREBABRRES T ERE
MfsE29 K 85 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

42. ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING 42. WEEFEI=RRHEZS (&8)
INTERESTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 BEZ-—ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

(Continued) HEFEE(E)

(b) On 26 April 2023 (after trading hours), the (b) RZEZ=FWMA=+A(X
Company and Zhongke Xunda entered into a sale SHERIE) ARE RHP B
and purchase agreement (the “SPA I1”) with EERYMEERHEREERR
Shenzhen Huaxin Times Investment Co., Ltd.* (& REITRINEE DI LB E W
NmEEFEFERKREEBR L F) (“Shenzhen w(EEmzE_] REE=R
Huaxin"”). Pursuant to the SPA I, Zhongke Xunda Wk = RERIFNERZE @FEI
agreed to acquire from Shenzhen Huaxin the paid- EFRBRNEFLHEZER
up capital of Guangdong Zhenyuan amounting to ZEEHEREA(CHNARSE
RMB15,000,000 which is contributed by Shenzhen 15,000,0007T * fHE RERE
Huaxin and is equivalent to approximately 21.43% RHA21.43%E) REAA
of the equity interest in Guangdong Zhenyuan, at R #15,000,0007C( #§ & »
a consideration of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to 17,100,000 jT ) o £t X &
HK$17,100,000). The aforesaid consideration shall 15 335 18 AR U5 5 Bl A (T4 Bl %
be satisfied by way of the issue of 142,500,000 B_DmARIEFEHERE A
ordinary shares of the Company (the %% 17142,500,000 J& &K A &) &
“Consideration Shares”) to Shenzhen Huaxin or its AR(TRERD ] 2FNER -
nominee(s) under the specific mandate (the FRARE_BAQABIRR
“Specific Mandate 11”). The Specific Mandate |l R-E-_=F+A+_-_BHE1T
was granted by the independent shareholders of ZRRENAE I ETEEE -

the Company to the board of the directors at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 12 July

2023.
On 11 August 2023, the Consideration Shares REBRODR=_ZE=_=F/\AH
were allotted and issued. +— B RET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RS
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 43. UIBHEEZERMABEH 2
TRANSACTIONS X5

NF

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company dated 21 April 2021, a share option
scheme (“2021 Share Option Scheme”) was approved
and adopted. The major terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme are summaries as follows:

(a)

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is
to attract and retain the best available personnel,
to provide additional incentive to eligible
participants and to promote the success of the
business of the Group.

The eligible participants include any director,
employee, advisor, consultant, supplier, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the
Company or any subsidiary of the Company, who,
in the absolute discretion of the board of the
directors of the Company, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group so as to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

The exercise price of a share option under the
2021 Share Option Scheme shall be determined at
the absolute discretion of the board of directors of
the Company but in any event will not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
offer date of the particular option, which must be
a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as shown in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five consecutive business days immediately
preceding the offer date of that particular option;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the offer
date of the particular option.

BREBEARBKRRR
Tt HWERRZER

—E-—FmA
— I8 B8 AR

WA (=2 = — F W B
B R - = = — F MR
MBI = B AR T

(a)

—E - FEREEZAN
TRBIIEEEZERASR
REERZ2RERHBINER
REHAEEEBZRY -

ARRIEFE2RBBERA
RERZ2EE(BEARARX
ARABERMERR 2 (EME
F RBE BERA #BHAA#
EE -RE -FF GEBH
KEELCEBEHIERAKHE
%ﬁﬁ%szﬁﬁE% LA
HEBARBER 2K

—E - ERERESSIATE
BEZTEEBARAESEE

RBBEET HEERNATE
BERRTRSE: WRFEB

BENEZHAMBAREER)
BRORBRAEHERER LR
R PTE U T E ¢ (D&
¢‘$h%%%%ﬁ%%ﬂ@

BEAXARMRBEXMEAR
ﬁﬁ%t@m%?ﬁ%ﬁ%?

Rk R EBREZD
BHMmEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 43. UIBHEZERMAEEE 2
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all share options to be
granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue,
unless the grant of options, beyond the limit of
10% but not exceeding 30% of the shares in
issue, is specifically approved by the shareholders
of the Company in an annual general meeting.

Unless approved by the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted pursuant to the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

An offer shall be made to a eligible participant in
writing in such form as the Company’s directors
may from time to time determine and shall remain
open for acceptance by the eligible participant
concerned for a period of 10 days from the date
upon which it is made provided that no such offer
shall be open for acceptance after the 10th
anniversary of the adoption date of the 2021
Share Option Scheme or the termination of the
2021 Share Option Scheme. An offer shall be
deemed to have been accepted by the eligible
participant to whom the offer is made when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the eligible participant, together
with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant thereof is received by the Company
within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 10 days from, and
inclusive of, the date of the offer), or within such
time as may be determined by the board of
directors of the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 43. UIBHEEZERMABEH 2
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

An option may be exercised at any time during the
period to be determined and identified by the
board of directors of the Company to each
grantee at the time of making an offer for the
grant of an option, but in any event no later than
10 years from the date of offer.

An option shall be exercisable in whole or in part
in the circumstances by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of shares in respect of
which it is so exercised. Each such notice must be
accompanied by a remittance for the full amount
of the subscription price for shares in respect of
which the notice is given.

The terms and conditions of the options granted

X5 (&)

(99 BEEARARAEFTSER
HELBREZOERRE R
A & AR A 18 TE B B A BE B
TR HE—BERTAFER
EHBHERFTI05F -

(hy HEBRAERBAAFZELEER
BAMNBEALTNE2HMRIDITE
R ZBAZATHERE
BT R AT R BB AR T
FHBROHEBE  -SBEBBANE
RETESR  SEAZE LB
FETS R BEERGOBIEE -

(i) BRLEBEREZ G & GG

are as follows: e
Number of shares
issuable under Contractual
options granted Exercisable period life of options
Ltidild: 14
RTROHE THEY BRESHES
Options granted on 19 May 2022:
RZE-ZFRATHNARHZBERE:
Options granted to directors:
RYEEBRE:
- Dr. Xu (note) 3,712,000 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 10 years
—fRE T (fE) ZTZZFRATNEE 106
“E-_FRA+NH
- Mr. Sun (note) 3,712,000 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 10 years
— R (B EE) ZZZZERATHAEE 106
ZE=-fhnA+N\AH
Options granted to an employee: 3,700,000 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 10 years
BYT—%EEZERE ZTZZERATNEE 106
“E=_FRA+NH
Options granted to business partners: 14,832,000 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 10 years
KTEBAEBH BRE: TR ATNEE 106
ZE=-FhaA+N\H
Total share options 25,956,000

BRESH

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

283



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e RS Rk I Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

3. UREEERHAEREZ
X 5 (&)

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

Note: Dr. Xu and Mr. Sun resigned as directors of the
Company on 31 August 2023 and 3 April 2023
respectively. Their share options were lapsed
accordingly

The method of settlement for the options granted
is by equity. The closing price of the Company’s
shares on 19 May 2022, the date on which the
options were granted, was HK$0.137.

(). The particulars of outstanding options at the end
of the reporting period as follows:

—~
=

(#&)

M BB LRELED IR =
Z-_=ZFNA=Z+—"H8BK
=W A=HEME
RAARESE - HEMBBKRE
B S 3K ©

B ZEREDNERAESEE
FReARARONR ===
F R A+ N A (BDEE R & & &
M2 BE) 2 W mER0.137%

TEO

B R 2 R 1T G R R
HEWT :

2024 2023
—¥-mE —F_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average shares issuable average  shares issuable
exercise  under options exercise under options
price granted price granted
HEHZ SR
MEFEY BRETEST METY  BREAEST
TEE k& E I E - EnE-¢=!
Outstanding at the FMEKTHE HK$0.137 18,532,000 HK$0.137 25,956,000
beginning of the year 0.137#T 0.137% 7T
Lapsed during the year ~ FRE kM - = HK$0.137 (7,424,000)
013787
Effect of share ROEHETE N/A (16,678,800) = =
consolidation (Ff 72 32(b)) TEH
(Note 32(b))
Outstanding at the end ~ F&H KT HK$1.37 1,853,200 HK$0.137 18,532,000
of the year 1378 T 0.1375 7T
Exercisable attheend ~ F A F17 HK$1.37 1,853,200 HK$0.137 18,532,000
of the year 137%& T 0.137% 7T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 43.
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

)

(Continued)

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Adjusted number

DUIRESERRGABERZ
X 5 ()
IC)

SES R A B N ER DS S
TTEBRERARET

of shares issuable Adjusted
under options exercise price
31 December 2024 granted (note) Vesting period Exercisable period (note)
MR 2R E
ARITHERE CHETER
—F-mE+-A=+-H RBHE (M) HBH T8 (B 5E)
Options granted on 19 May 2022:
RZFZZFRATNARGZERE :
Options granted to an employee: 370,000 N/A 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 HK$1.37
BT —ZEEZBRE @A “Z-Z-FHAAtHABZE 137387
ZZ=-FRATNR
Options granted to business partners: 1,483,200 N/A 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 HK$1.37
RT$BAEBHZBRE @A —Z__FRATHABEZE 13787
et WA=
Total share options outstanding 1,853,200
EESENEAE 5t
Number of shares
issuable under Exercise
31 December 2023 options granted  Vesting period  Exercisable period price
PR 2 AR
“E-=f+tZA=t+—H ABRTRNHBE BEH 16E 5 TEE
Options granted on 19 May 2022:
RZBZZFRATNARGZERE :
Options granted to an employee: 3,700,000 N/A 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 HK$0.137
BT —%EEZBRE: TE A “Z-_FRATNAEE 0.137% T
—Z=-FRATNRA
Options granted to business partners: 14,832,000 N/A 19 May 2022 to 18 May 2032 HK$0.137
RTSBAEBHZBRE TEA “Z--FRAtABZE 0137587
ZZ=-FRATNR
Total share options outstanding 18,532,000
fed AN 17 {50 8 AR 7 42 2
Note: Upon the completion of the share consolidation M - R=_FT-_MNE+HA+HEH

on 14 October 2024 (Note 32(b)), the exercise
price of the share options was adjusted from
HK$0.137 to HK$1.37 per share option, and the
number of shares issuable under share options
granted was adjusted from 18,532,000 to

1,853,200.

nzﬁlhf‘”\mfé(muz

b)) + B AR #E & 7T (F (B |
tﬂﬁh%my&mﬂﬁ
EN378 T BREEHRLE
B% % T Al F B 1T A9 B 1D X
B 18,532,000/ # & &=

1,853,200 % ©

hEEREBEARARN —T-_NFFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 43. UIBHEZERMAEEE 2
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) X5 (8E)
()  (Continued) 0 (&)

The share options outstanding at 31 December
2024 had exercise price of HK$1.37 (2023:
HK$0.137) and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 7.38 years (2023: 8.38 years).

The options granted on 19 May 2022 shall expire
ten years from the date of grant. As at 31
December 2024, 1,853,200 options (2023:
18,532,000 options) were exercisable at any time
during a period of 10 years from the date of grant.

The number of share options available for grant
under the 2021 Share Option Scheme as at 31
December 2024 was 4,829,400 (2023:
48,294,000) representing 5.11% (2023: 5.46%)
of the total issued shares of the Company as at
the date of this annual report.

The total number of shares that may be issued in
respect of share options granted under the 2021
Share Option Scheme of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue for the year was 2.02% (2023: 2.32%).
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RZE-_WNF+-_A=+—H
MATHECEREZTEEAR
1378 (T - =4:0.137
BIL) c MEEHFEBENF
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&) o

WER-_ZE-_—_FHA+NH
RO zBEERESE D B R

10F#%Em N _T _MF
+=-A=+—H"1,853,200
hERREZZE = = F:

18,532,00017 B8 B% 4% ) ] i %
HEHHEFI0FERA Z M
B 1T(E o

RZEBE-_NFEF+=—A=+—H -
BE_ZT - —FHREFTS A
M IS AR #E 2 E 4,829,400
(= T = = 4 : 48,294,000
B) HERAFEFREBFAR
AIEEITRMHBEMNS 1% (=
T = :546%) °
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RS
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

43. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 43. UIBHEEZERMABEH 2
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(k)

NF

Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is measured
based on the Polynomial Model. The contractual
life of the share option is used as an input into
this model.

X5 (&)

(k)

BREZAXFERRR
AEBERER D BRERER 2
RBEZATFEDZERERER
BZRAVEFE BEBRE
ZEEt A PERZRAEAG
E-BREZANFHALR
AZ—BBAZH-

On the grant date
iy Jeell =it

Fair value of share options

R EEMBREZ

at measurement date granted to: NS
— directors —E=F HK$0.07617
0.07617 /& 7T
— employee —Eg HK$0.06424
0.06424 7% 7T
— business partners —XEBRH HK$0.09594
0.09594 % 7T
Share price fi% B HK$0.137
0.137 8 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.137
0.1378 T

Expected volatility (expressed as weighted 8 8 )% 18 (LA Z 1 =X, 59.96%
average volatility used in the modelling R AR A8
under the Polynomial Model) N R 18)

Option life (expressed as weighted average BERXHEFEHI (A Z B R 10 years
life used in the modelling under = AR A9 0 10 £
the Polynomial Model) SEHEH)

Expected dividends yield TE\E?EJHQ g A = 0%

Risk-free interest rate i | 2 2.79%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighted
average remaining life of the share options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends yield are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

The Group recognised the total expense of
approximately RMB1,900,000 during the year of
grant in relation to share options granted by the
Company.

T8 HR R 08 T AR 4R E SR R (JA
R8RSR 2 DA T 15 I #R F HA AT
ﬁﬁ“kﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
WE,%Q$XE%&%Z
BIELAE - RHKRE WS
DIRBEBEREEE %%%
IﬁF“Z%@T%Q F&
BEELEBEATE

REBELEE AEEREARA
BRI BRERRASEL
A E#1,900,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44. XA SIMBEIKRA T

THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T ARETT ARET T
(Restated)
(&)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RmEEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RBMKRE 40 12,254 12,310
Intangible assets ERAE 2 2
12,256 12,312
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Other receivables H g W 5R0R 13 14
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JEU BB & T 2 FIE 107,673 106,663
Cash and cash equivalents REeLkBEESEEY 2,958 2,858
110,644 109,535
CURRENT LIABILITIES MENE &
Other payables H th B 5B 5,110 4,763
Amounts due to subsidiaries JETBT B A A 2 3A 29,751 29,283
Amounts due to directors JEEE 2B 533 997
Amount due to a shareholder B —& Hﬁ%Zm 11,146 10,625
Convertible bonds Al 2 % 15 5 29 12,754 14,313
59,294 59,981
NET CURRENT ASSETS BREEE 51,350 49,554
NET ASSETS BEE 63,606 61,866
EQUITY i
Share capital % 7R 32 87,489 81,941
Reserves 1 33(a) (23,883) (20,075)
TOTAL EQUITY HEmEE 63,606 61,866
Note: Upon the application of the 2020 Amendments M RAEEEPEA T _ZTFE

retrospectively in the current year, the Group reclassified
the carrying amount of Convertible Bonds of
approximately RMB14,313,000 as at 31 December 2023
from non-current liabilities to current liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE
45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgement:

(i)

Consolidation of an entity in which
the Group does not hold any equity
interests

The Group conducts a portion of the
business through HLV Duc Hoa in Vietnam
due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign
ownership. The Group does not have any
equity interest in HLV Duc Hoa. The directors
of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over HLV Duc Hoa by
assessing whether it has power over HLV
Duc Hoa, has the rights to variable returns
from its involvement with HLV Duc Hoa and
has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over HLV Duc Hoa. After
assessment, the directors of the Company
concluded that the Group has control over
HLV Duc Hoa as a result of the contractual
arrangements and accordingly the financial
position and the operating results of HLV
Duc Hoa are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements throughout
the years presented. Nevertheless, the
contractual arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in
providing the Group with direct control over
HLV Duc Hoa and uncertainties presented by
the Vietnam legal system could impede the
Group's beneficiary rights of the results,
assets and liabilities of HLV Duc Hoa. The
directors of the Company, based on the
advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
contractual arrangements with HLV Duc Hoa
and their equity shareholders are in
compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations in Vietnam and are legally
enforceable. Changes in market conditions or
interpretation of the Vietnam law and
regulations in future may have a material
impact on the assessment of control over HLV
Duc Hoa.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

=T FIE & 5 ()

45, ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 45.
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Fair values of freehold land and
buildings held for own use and
investment properties
The freehold land and buildings held for own
use and investment properties of the Group
were revalued at each reporting date during
the year based on the appraised market value
provided by independent qualified
professional valuers. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, the Group considers information
from current prices in an active market for
similar properties and uses assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions
existing at each reporting date.

(ii) Fair value of convertible bonds

The directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique for financial instruments
not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market
practitioners are applied. For the convertible
bonds issued by the Company, assumptions
are made based on quoted market rates
adjusted for specific features of the
instrument. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of convertible bonds
classifying as current liabilities is
approximately RMB12,754,000 (2023
(restated): current liabilities of approximately
RMB14,313,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  45. & &t 3B & {51 (&)
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) FEFFHBREREZZEER
(Continued) R (48)

(iii) FRIBEERNBEE

(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets

(including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets, interest in an
associate, goodwill and deposits)

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for all non-financial
assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or CGU and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 45. & 5t I i & {51 (&8)
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EEFFAHBAEEZETER
(Continued) i (,.a)

(iv) Provision of ECLs for trade receivables (iv) EZ EIWzEZHAL

EEEEREE

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate AEBEABRBEEBE

ECLs for the trade receivables. The provision HE 5 WA 2 T8 5

rates are based on internal credit ratings as fa E B BEXRTIR

groupings of various debtors that have similar BHEBEUBERR

loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on WTAREBEBAZDHERN

the Group's historical default rates taking into NEEETRGTE &

consideration forward-looking information HEBDRERNEE®

that is reasonable and supportable available BREENE ¥TEgERE

without undue costs or effort. At every EERBEXRKEBEEREZAR

reporting date, the historical observed default BEAMBERKASNE S

rates are reassessed and changes in the il B 45 1 B B 14 & K} o

forward-looking information are considered. In REEHRESAH BT

addition, trade receivables with credit-impaired FER 338 %) R AL E 5T AT

are assessed for ECLs individually. - wEEREMELESE

BZEB o B R
ALY L
BB SRR -

(v) Provision of ECLs for other receivables (v BEMEKFERET
and deposits paid BEWAEAHESEEE
BE
The measurement of impairment losses EREVBREHENE9
under HKFRS 9 across all categories of TR E RN EE
financial assets requires judgement, in ENBREBEFTEHE
particular, the estimation of the amount and KUEH A B R R
timing of future cash flows and collateral EETREEBBERTHE
values when determining impairment losses ERBMNBEELARS
and the assessment of a significant increase KRB RELRER D
in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a EEMEELEREOMG
number of factors, changes in which can oS HMEtBHZER
result in different levels of allowances. Zolf - MEZ]E
BMTREERRME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BT FIER & &5t (&)

45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 45.

NF

(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(v)

Provision of ECLs for other receivables
and deposits paid (Continued)

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of
complex models with a number of underlying
assumptions regarding the choice of variable
inputs and their interdependencies. Elements
of the ECL models that are considered
accounting judgements and estimates
include:

- The Group’s internal credit grading
model, which assigns probabilities of
default to the individual grades;

- The Group's criteria for assessing if
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on
a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative
assessment;

- The segmentation of financial assets
based on risk characteristics of the
customers and by product types when
their ECL is assessed on a collective
basis;

- Development of ECL models, including
the various formulas and the choice of
inputs over determination of the
period over which the entity is exposed
to credit risk based on the behavioural
life of the credit exposures, loss given
default and collateral recovery of the
credit exposures;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

=T FIE & 5 ()

45, ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 45.
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(v) Provision of ECLs for other receivables
and deposits paid (Continued)

- Determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and,
economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at
default and losses given default; and

- Selection of forward-looking
macroeconomic scenarios and their
probability weightings, to derive the
economic inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group's policy to regularly
review its models in the context of actual
loss experience and adjust when necessary.

(vi) Net realisable value of inventories
and development and formation
costs of burial plots
Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less estimated cost of completion
and estimated cost to make the sale. These
estimates are based on the current market
conditions and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in
customer preferences and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at
the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  45. & &t 3B & {51 (&)
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) FEFFHBREREZZEER
(Continued) R (48)
(vi) Net realisable value of inventories (i) FEREMBFIZER K

and development and formation VBB Al &R FE
costs of burial plots (Continued) (#&)
The Group writes down development and AEBENGHEMWRFZE R

formation costs of graves to net realisable
value based on assessment of the realisability
of the development and formation costs of
burial plots which takes into account costs to
completion based on management’s
experience and net sales value based on
prevailing market conditions. If there is an
increase in cost to completion or a decrease
in net sales value, the net realisable value will
decrease which may result in writing down
development and formation costs of burial
plots to net realisable value. Write-downs are
recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be realised. The identification of write-
downs requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value
of development and formation costs of burial
plots is adjusted in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised write-down of (i) inventories;
and (ii) development and formation costs of
approximately RMB188,000 (2023: Nil) and
RMB969,000 (2023: Nil) respectively,
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE

45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 45. & 5t I i & {51 (&8)
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EEFFAHBAEEZETER
(Continued) R (4E)
(vii) Depreciation and amortisation (vii) ITER #55
The management reviews the estimated EREETHEMNEEDN
useful lives of the assets regularly in order to HEr AR FHURE
determine the amount of depreciation and FENESHERIEHERASE -
amortisation charge for the year.

This estimate is based on the historical ZmEtTER |$'%-§)§Uj]
experience of the actual useful lives of assets BTN EENER

of similar nature and functions and taking FRAFHNBE i%%ﬁ 2
into account anticipated technological jim%)%ﬁ?r B B 17 8%

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject
to income taxes in Hong Kong, the PRC,
Vietnam and Taiwan. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the
current tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is
made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE ISR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  45. & &t 3B & {51 (&)
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) FEFFHBREREZZEER
(Continued) R (48)
(ix) Provision on funeral services deeds (ix) B1ERBERL 2 %5

The Group determines the pricing of the
funeral services deeds by adding a margin to
the estimated cost of delivering funeral
services in future, after taking into account
of major factors including the timing of the
instruction of the Deed Holders.

This estimate is based on the sub-contracting
fee payable to the sub-contractor for each
funeral service deed performed, the current
market conditions and the price of deeds
from sub-contractors. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of
each reporting period to estimate if the
receipts in advance for funeral service deeds
can cover the estimated future costs of
delivering funeral services and determine the
need of making a provision in the
consolidated financial statements.

AEBER2EZRREZY
B AELERZE#
EXTZRRR BBHE
AR EERS 2
FERCAR SRR 2 53
BERERSE (ER-

ZEGMALDERENSE
BERBTEERGRAY
DEBAZDBEREA B
BRhmERARDBEZ
RONBERET - BEEE
RERSHREHFGE
ZEMF ANFEZE
BERGZHERRE

B R X 7R &R
ZAREKMGEKA A B
EEBBARKEEMBR

RPEHBE -

PEEGEEERAR —E-MFFR

297



298

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA=A A =
AR A B 1S ok MY T
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-—ZT-_WNF+-_F=+—HILFE
45. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  45. &5t FI B & & 5t (&)

(Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) At FABEBPAEZERZETER
(Continued) R (4E)
(x) Estimation of incremental borrowing (x) /f::"ﬁ TEBEFE([1Z

rate (“IBR") EEFIZE])
The Group cannot readily determine the 1‘5’% reeE el
interest rate implicit in a lease, and EASZHNE B
therefore, it uses an IBR to measure lease AEBEFERABEEEF
liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that RXRFEHNEEF -
the Group would have to pay to borrow over EEEMNERHEEEM
a similar term, and with a similar security, CREBRET  KEHE
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a RERBEFTRAEEEER
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a ENHEBEZEE I
similar economic environment. The IBR REUERIBREEAR
therefore reflects what the Group “would HUERZ GG TmE
have to pay”, which requires estimation AFFEEEZ2HE-
when no observable rates are available (such It - EEEE R XX B
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into TAREE[HHFEZN]
financing transactions) or when it needs to Z2HE BEXRABENA
be adjusted to reflect the terms and Z Al B R (A - Bt
conditions of the lease (for example, when BRAEIRBETRERS)
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional SFEZETHAEARE
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using HE 1%?&(&1%1—'*#5%(15%@
observable inputs (such as market interest EHEWIENK B R
rates) when available and is required to 2 ﬁﬁiéﬁ%‘*ﬂﬁ) ﬁﬁ@
make certain entity-specific estimates (such FEFETHE - A&
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating). AR A ZA R

ABE(F BT =R) G
%igfﬁgflj‘? 3=
Eﬁ{I%JfHEZ/TEF%

EEE(HImMEARZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZT_F+_A=+—HIEFE

46. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following significant
event occurred after the end of the reporting period:

On 29 July 2024, the Company and Zhongke Xunda, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity
Transfer Agreement”) with Shenzhen Nanyue Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (“Nanyue AM"). As at that date,
Nanyue AM is controlled to approximately 71.25% by
Mr. Xu (together with his associates), and therefore a
connected person to the Group. Pursuant to the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the Company and Zhongke Xunda
conditionally agreed to acquire 19.46% paid-up capital
of Guangdong Yinwei Decoding Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
(“Guangdong Yinwei”) from Nanyue AM at a maximum
consideration of RMB10.8 million (the “Acquisition”).
The consideration shall be satisfied by way of issue of
the convertible bonds to Nanyue AM or its nominee(s)
under the specific mandate of the Company.

On 6 January 2025, the Company announced that the
completion of the Acquisition did not take place on 31
December 2024 (being the long stop date of the Equity
Transfer Agreement) as the conditions precedent to the
Equity Transfer Agreement were not fulfilled, and the
Equity Transfer Agreement was lapsed.

Further details of the Acquisition were set out in (i) the
Company’s announcements dated 29 July 2024 and 9
October 2024; and (ii) the Company’s circular dated 16
September 2024.

46.
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Five Years Financial Summary

I F 8 E PR

A summary of results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out as follows:

ERBENREHINNT

AEERBELEMRERE2EE &

Results 4
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_MmE —_T-_=F —T-__ —E--F Z—E-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETI ARETT ARBTRT ARETR
Revenue Yz 74,943 72,570 77,969 72,864 68,340
Gross profit E7 32,283 33,481 39,800 37,977 29,167
(Loss)/profit for the year — F & (E518) /1% 7 (10,402) (10,086) 626 (17,675) (1,942)
Loss attributable to owners A B H B A 1L
of the Company BB (8,699) (7,173) (847) (9,872) (2,974)
Basic loss per share BREAER
(RMB cents) (ARE )
(restated)(note) (&E5) (M) (9.48) (8.99) (1.14) (13.27) (4.01)

Note: The basic loss per share has been restated to reflect the effect

of the share consolidation with effect from 14 October 2024 as

if they happen on 1 January 2020.

Assets and liabilities

M SREABERELEED  ArRBBE =%

“WE+ A+ 0B RERERS A GFO8
MER-_Z-_ZTFE-F-HEL)NTE -

EERERE

As at 31 December

®+=ZB=+-—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-WmE -—T-=F —T-— —E-—% —ZE-ZF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTRE ARBTI ARBTR AR®TRT AR®TR

(Restated)

(=51)
Non-current assets ERBEE 54,248 58,619 63,711 70,880 70,393
Current assets MEEE 196,378 213,088 221,077 192,974 207,221
Current liabilities MEBEE 133,611 145,882 128,103 130,177 130,732
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 13,481 17,292 25,868 28,089 35,156
Net assets EEFE 103,534 108,533 130,817 105,588 111,726
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